
 

 
 
 

 
Wednesday, 19 July 2017 

 
TO: COUNCILLORS 
 

G DOWLING, A YATES, I ASHCROFT, MRS P BAYBUTT, 
C COOPER, T DEVINE, D EVANS, C MARSHALL, D MCKAY, 
M MILLS, D O'TOOLE, R PENDLETON, E POPE, A PRITCHARD 
AND MRS M WESTLEY 
 

Dear Councillor, 
 
A meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE will be held in the COUNCIL CHAMBER - 52 
DERBY STREET, ORMSKIRK, L39 2DF, ORMSKIRK, L39 2DF on THURSDAY, 27 
JULY 2017 at 7.30 PM at which your attendance is requested. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 

 
 
Kim Webber 
Chief Executive 
 

AGENDA 
(Open to the Public) 

 
 
1.   APOLOGIES   

 
 

2.   MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMITTEE  
 
To be apprised of any changes to the membership of the Committee in 
accordance with Council Procedure Rule 4.  
 

 

3.   URGENT BUSINESS, IF ANY INTRODUCED BY THE CHAIRMAN  
 
Note: No other business is permitted unless, by reason of special 
circumstances, which shall be specified at the meeting, the Chairman 

 

Kim Webber B.Sc. M.Sc. 
Chief Executive 
 

52 Derby Street 
Ormskirk 
West Lancashire 
L39 2DF 
 



 

is of the opinion that the item(s) should be considered as a matter of 
urgency. 
 

4.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
If a member requires advice on Declarations of Interest, he/she is 
advised to contact the Borough Solicitor in advance of the meeting. 
(For the assistance of members a checklist for use in considering their 
position on any particular item is included at the end of this agenda 
sheet.) 
 

563 - 
564 

5.   DECLARATIONS OF PARTY WHIP  
 
Party Whips are not to be used by this Committee in respect of its 
functions concerning the determination of applications, approval of 
consents, the taking of enforcement action and the exercise of powers 
and duties with regard to highways, hedgerows, the preservation of 
trees and high hedge complaints. When considering any other matter 
which relates to a decision of the Cabinet or the performance of any 
member of the Cabinet, in accordance with Regulatory Committee 
Procedure 9, Members must declare the existence of any party whip, 
and the nature of it. 
 

 

6.   MINUTES  
 
To receive as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on the 

22 June 2017.                                           .  
 

565 - 
568 

7.   PLANNING APPLICATIONS  
 
To consider the report of the Director of Development and 
Regeneration.  
 

569 - 
782 

 
We can provide this document, upon request, on audiotape, in large print, in Braille 
and in other languages.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
FIRE EVACUATION PROCEDURE: Please see attached sheet. 
MOBILE PHONES: These should be switched off or to ‘silent’ at all meetings. 
 
For further information, please contact:- 
Jill Ryan on 01695 585017 
Or email jill.ryan@westlancs.gov.uk 



 

FIRE EVACUATION PROCEDURE FOR: 
COUNCIL MEETINGS WHERE OFFICERS ARE PRESENT  

(52 DERBY STREET, ORMSKIRK) 
 

PERSON IN CHARGE:  Most Senior Officer Present 
ZONE WARDEN:   Member Services Officer / Lawyer 
DOOR WARDEN(S)  Usher / Caretaker 

 
IF YOU DISCOVER A FIRE 

 
1.  Operate the nearest FIRE CALL POINT by breaking the glass. 
2.  Attack the fire with the extinguishers provided only if you have been trained and it is 

safe to do so. Do not take risks. 
 

ON HEARING THE FIRE ALARM 
 

1.  Leave the building via the NEAREST SAFE EXIT. Do not stop to collect personal 
belongings. 

2.  Proceed to the ASSEMBLY POINT on the car park and report your presence to the 
PERSON IN CHARGE. 

3.  Do NOT return to the premises until authorised to do so by the PERSON IN 
CHARGE. 

 
NOTES: 
Officers are required to direct all visitors regarding these procedures i.e. exit routes and 
place of assembly. 
The only persons not required to report to the Assembly Point are the Door Wardens. 
 

CHECKLIST FOR PERSON IN CHARGE 
 

1.  Advise other interested parties present that you are the person in charge in the event 
of an evacuation. 

2. Make yourself familiar with the location of the fire escape routes and informed any 
interested parties of the escape routes. 

3.  Make yourself familiar with the location of the assembly point and informed any 
interested parties of that location. 

4.  Make yourself familiar with the location of the fire alarm and detection control panel. 
5.  Ensure that the zone warden and door wardens are aware of their roles and 

responsibilities. 
6.  Arrange for a register of attendance to be completed (if considered appropriate / 

practicable). 
 

IN THE EVENT OF A FIRE, OR THE FIRE ALARM BEING SOUNDED 
 

1.  Ensure that the room in which the meeting is being held is cleared of all persons. 
2.  Evacuate via the nearest safe Fire Exit and proceed to the ASSEMBLY POINT in the 

car park. 
3.  Delegate a person at the ASSEMBLY POINT who will proceed to HOME CARE LINK 

in order to ensure that a back-up call is made to the FIRE BRIGADE. 
4.  Delegate another person to ensure that DOOR WARDENS have been posted outside 

the relevant Fire Exit Doors. 



 

5.  Ensure that the ZONE WARDEN has reported to you on the results of his checks, i.e. 
that the rooms in use have been cleared of all persons. 

6.  If an Attendance Register has been taken, take a ROLL CALL. 
7.  Report the results of these checks to the Fire and Rescue Service on arrival and 

inform them of the location of the FIRE ALARM CONTROL PANEL. 
8.  Authorise return to the building only when it is cleared to do so by the FIRE AND 

RESCUE SERVICE OFFICER IN CHARGE. Inform the DOOR WARDENS to allow 
re-entry to the building. 

 
NOTE: 
The Fire Alarm system will automatically call the Fire Brigade. The purpose of the 999 
back-up call is to meet a requirement of the Fire Precautions Act to supplement the 
automatic call. 
 

CHECKLIST FOR ZONE WARDEN 
 

1.  Carry out a physical check of the rooms being used for the meeting, including 
adjacent toilets, kitchen. 

2.  Ensure that ALL PERSONS, both officers and members of the public are made 
aware of the FIRE ALERT. 

3.  Ensure that ALL PERSONS evacuate IMMEDIATELY, in accordance with the FIRE 
EVACUATION PROCEDURE. 

4.  Proceed to the ASSEMBLY POINT and report to the PERSON IN CHARGE that the 
rooms within your control have been cleared. 

5.  Assist the PERSON IN CHARGE to discharge their duties. 
 
It is desirable that the ZONE WARDEN should be an OFFICER who is normally based in 
this building and is familiar with the layout of the rooms to be checked. 
 

INSTRUCTIONS FOR DOOR WARDENS 
 

1.  Stand outside the FIRE EXIT DOOR(S) 
2.  Keep the FIRE EXIT DOOR SHUT. 
3.  Ensure that NO PERSON, whether staff or public enters the building until YOU are 

told by the PERSON IN CHARGE that it is safe to do so. 
4.  If anyone attempts to enter the premises, report this to the PERSON IN CHARGE. 
5.  Do not leave the door UNATTENDED. 
 
 



MEMBERS INTERESTS 2012 

A Member with a disclosable pecuniary interest in any matter considered at a meeting must disclose the interest to 
the meeting at which they are present, except where it has been entered on the Register. 
A Member with a non pecuniary or pecuniary interest in any business of the Council must disclose the existence and 
nature of that interest at commencement of consideration or when the interest becomes apparent. 
Where sensitive information relating to an interest is not registered in the register, you must indicate that you have an 
interest, but need not disclose the sensitive information. 

Please tick relevant boxes         Notes 

 General    

1. I have a disclosable pecuniary interest.  You cannot speak or vote and must 
withdraw unless you have also 
ticked 5 below 

2. I have a non-pecuniary interest.  You may speak and vote 

3. I have a pecuniary interest because 

it affects my financial position or the financial position of a 
connected person or, a body described in 10.1(1)(i) and (ii) 
and the interest is one which a member of the public with 
knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard as 
so significant that it is likely to prejudice my judgement of the 
public interest 

or 

it relates to the determining of any approval consent, 
licence, permission or registration in relation to me or a 
connected person or, a body described in 10.1(1)(i) and (ii) 
and the interest is one which a member of the public with 
knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard as 
so significant that it is likely to prejudice my judgement of the 
public interest 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

You cannot speak or vote and must 
withdraw unless you have also 
ticked 5 or 6 below 

 

 

 

You cannot speak or vote and must 
withdraw unless you have also 
ticked 5 or 6 below 

4. 

 

I have a disclosable pecuniary interest (Dispensation 
20/09/16) or a pecuniary interest but it relates to the 
functions of my Council in respect of: 

  

(i) Housing where I am a tenant of the Council, and those 
functions do not relate particularly to my tenancy or lease. 

 You may speak and vote 

(ii) school meals, or school transport and travelling expenses 
where I am a parent or guardian of a child in full time 
education, or are a parent governor of a school, and it does 
not relate particularly to the school which the child attends. 

 

 

 

You may speak and vote 

(iii) Statutory sick pay where I am in receipt or entitled to receipt 
of such pay.  

 You may speak and vote 

(iv) An allowance, payment or indemnity given to Members  You may speak and vote 

(v) Any ceremonial honour given to Members  You may speak and vote 

(vi) Setting Council tax or a precept under the LGFA 1992  You may speak and vote 

5. A Standards Committee dispensation applies (relevant lines 
in the budget – Dispensation 20/9/16-19/09/20) 

 See the terms of the dispensation 

6. I have a pecuniary interest in the business but I can attend 
to make representations, answer questions or give evidence 
as the public are also allowed to attend the meeting for the 
same purpose 

 You may speak but must leave the 
room once you have finished and 
cannot vote 

‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ (DPI) means an interest of a description specified below which is your 
interest, your spouse’s or civil partner’s or the interest of somebody who you are living with as a husband 
or wife, or as if you were civil partners and you are aware that that other person has the interest. 

Interest Prescribed description 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the relevant 
authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any expenses 
incurred by M in carrying out duties as a member, or towards the election expenses of 
M. Page 563

Agenda Item 4



 This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning 
of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a body in which the 
relevant person has a beneficial interest) and the relevant authority— 

 (a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and 

 (b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the relevant authority. 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the relevant 
authority for a month or longer. 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to M's knowledge)— 

 (a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and 

 (b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where— 

 (a) that body (to M's knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the 
relevant authority; and 

 (b) either— 

 (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that body; or 

 (ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value of 
the shares of any one class in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest 
exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 

“body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in which the relevant person is a partner or a body 

corporate of which the relevant person is a director, or in the securities of which the relevant person has a beneficial interest; 

“director” includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and provident society; 

“land” excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does not carry with it a right for the relevant 

person (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the land or to receive income; “M” means a member of a relevant authority; 

“member” includes a co-opted member; “relevant authority” means the authority of which M is a member; 

“relevant period” means the period of 12 months ending with the day on which M gives notice to the Monitoring Officer of a DPI; 

“relevant person” means M or M’s spouse or civil partner, a person with whom M is living as husband or wife or a person with 

whom M is living as if they were civil partners;  

 “securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective investment scheme within the 

meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited 

with a building society. 

‘non pecuniary interest’ means interests falling within the following descriptions: 
10.1(1)(i) Any body of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management and 

to which you are appointed or nominated by your authority; 
 (ii) Any body (a) exercising functions of a public nature; (b) directed to charitable purposes; or (c) 

one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 
(including any political party or trade union), of which you are a member or in a position of 
general control or management; 

 (iii) Any easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does not carry with it a right 
for you (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the land or to receive income. 

10.2(2) A decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting your well-
being or financial position or the well-being or financial position of a connected person to a 
greater extent than the majority of other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the 
ward, as the case may be, affected by the decision. 

‘a connected person’ means  
(a) a member of your family or any person with whom you have a close association, or 
(b) any person or body who employs or has appointed such persons, any firm in which they are a 

partner, or any company of which they are directors; 
(c) any person or body in whom such persons have a beneficial interest in a class of securities 

exceeding the nominal value of £25,000; or 
(d) any body of a type described in sub-paragraph 10.1(1)(i) or (ii). 
‘body exercising functions of a public nature’ means 
Regional and local development agencies, other government agencies, other Councils, public health 
bodies, council-owned companies exercising public functions, arms length management organisations 
carrying out housing functions on behalf of your authority, school governing bodies. 
A Member with a personal interest who has made an executive decision in relation to that matter must 
ensure any written statement of that decision records the existence and nature of that interest. 
NB  Section 21(13) of the LGA 2000 overrides any Code provisions to oblige an executive member to 
attend an overview and scrutiny meeting to answer questions. 

Page 564



 

PLANNING COMMITTEE HELD: Thursday, 22 June 2017 
 Start: 7.30 p.m. 
 Finish: 9.10 p.m. 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillor: G Dowling (Chairman)  
 A Yates (Vice-Chair)  
 
Councillors: I Ashcroft Mrs P Baybutt 
 C Cooper T Devine 
 D Evans C Marshall 
 D McKay D O'Toole 
 R Pendleton E Pope 
 A Pritchard Mrs M Westley 
 K Wright  
  

 
Officers:  Assistant Director of Development and Regeneration (Mr I Gill) 
   Head of Development Management (Mrs C Thomas) 
   Legal and Member Services Manager (Mr M Jones) 
   Principal Planning Officer (Miss E O Woollacott) 
   Member Services/Civic Support Officer (Mrs J A Ryan) 
 
 
In attendance: Councillor Cotterill (Bickerstaffe Ward) 
   Councillor Barron (North Meols Ward) 
   Councillor Blane (North Meols Ward) 
   Councillor J Hodson (Planning Portfolio Holder) 
 
 
9   APOLOGIES  

 
 There were no apologies for absence received. 

 
10   MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMITTEE  

 
 In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 4, the Committee noted the termination 

of Councillor Mills and the appointment of Councillor Wright for this meeting only, 
thereby giving effect to the wishes of the Political Groups. 
 

11   URGENT BUSINESS 
 

 There were no urgent items of business.  
 

12   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 There were no Declarations of Interest received.  
 
 
 
 

Page 565

Agenda Item 6



PLANNING COMMITTEE HELD: Thursday, 22 June 2017 
 

 

13   DECLARATIONS OF PARTY WHIP  
 

 There were no Declarations of Party Whip.  
 

14   MINUTES  
 

 RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on the 18 May 2017                             
be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman 
subject to noting that Councillor Blane was not in attendance at the 
previous meeting.     

 
15   PLANNING APPLICATIONS  

 
 The Director of Development and Regeneration submitted a report on planning 

applications (all prefixed 2016 unless otherwise stated) as contained on pages 203 
to 314 of the Book of Reports and on pages  329 to 346 of the Late Information. 
 
RESOLVED:   A   That the under-mentioned planning applications be approved 

subject to the conditions in the report:- 
 
 0962/FUL;         2017/0248/FUL 
 

B That in respect of 2017/0470/LBC, The Retreat, 4 Cobbs Brow, 
Newburgh that  Listed Building Consent be granted subject to 
the conditions contained in the report .  

 
 C That in respect of planning application 0706/ARM relating to 

the Site of Former Greaves Hall Hospital, Greaves Hall 
Avenue, Banks :- 

 
(i) That the decision to grant planning permission be 

delegated to the Director of Development and 
Regeneration in consultation with the Chairman or Vice-
Chairman of the Planning Committee subject to the 
applicant entering into a deed of variation (planning 
obligation) under S106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 to:- 
 
- remove the fourth schedule to require the Transport 

Contribution 
- remove the sixth schedule relating to the primary 

school contribution 
- require re-appraisal of the viability should the B1 

units not be implemented within 2 years 
 

(ii) That any planning permission granted by the Director of 
Development and Regeneration pursuant to 
recommendation (i) above be subject to the conditions 
as set down on pages 256 to 261 of the Book of Reports 
but with the amendment to Conditions 1, 4, 7 and 8 as 

Page 566



PLANNING COMMITTEE HELD: Thursday, 22 June 2017 
 

 

set out on pages 335 to 337 of the Late Information 
Report. 
 

D That in respect of planning application 1027/FUL relating to 
Land Rear of 153 to 167A Blaguegate Lane, Firswood Road, 
Lathom 

 
(i) That the decision to grant planning permission be 

delegated to the Director of Development and 
Regeneration in consultation with the Chairman or Vice-
Chairman of the Planning Committee subject to the 
applicant entering into a planning obligation under S106 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to secure: 

 
the payment of £50,000 towards the Ormskirk to 
Skelmersdale Linear Park; terms and conditions of the 
affordable housing units 
 

(ii) That any planning permission granted by the Director of 
Development and Regeneration pursuant to 
recommendation (i) above be subject to the conditions 
as set down on pages 299 to 307 of the Book of Reports 
but with the amendment to Condition 2 as set out on 
page 345 to 346 of the Late Information Report.  
 

E That  planning application 0973/FUL relating to Plot 7, Chapel 
Lane, Parbold, Lancashire be refused for the following reason:- 

  
 Due to its siting and prominent location when viewed from the 

canal bank, the proposed stable block would be harmful to both 
the openness and visual amenity of this part of the green belt, 
contrary to the NPPF and policies GN1 and GN3 of the West 
Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan 
Document.  

 
(Notes:- 
1. In accordance with the procedure for public speaking on planning applications 

on this Committee, a member of the public spoke in connection with application 
no. 0962/FUL relating to Plot 6, Chapel Lane, Parbold, Lancashire. 

2. Parish Clerk Mrs. L. Broad from Parbold Parish Council spoke in connection with 
planning application 0962/FUL relating to Plot 6, Chapel Lane, Parbold, 
Lancashire.  

3. Parish Clerk Mrs. L. Broad from Parbold Parish Council spoke in connection with 
planning application 0973/FUL relating to Plot 7, Chapel Lane, Parbold, 
Lancashire.   

4. Parish Clerk Mrs. I. Roberts from Aughton Parish Council spoke in connection 
with planning application 2017/0248/FUL relating to The Cockbeck Tavern, 58 
Town Green Lane, Aughton . 

5. In accordance with Regulatory Procedure Rule 7(b) Councillor Cotterill spoke in 
connection with planning application 1027/FUL relating to Land Rear of 153 to 

Page 567



PLANNING COMMITTEE HELD: Thursday, 22 June 2017 
 

 

167A Blaguegate Lane, Firswood Road, Lathom. 
6. In accordance with Regulatory Procedure Rule 7(b) Councillor Barron spoke in 

connection with planning application 0706/ARM relating to the Site of Former 
Greaves Hall Hospital, Greaves Hall Avenue, Banks. 

7. In accordance with Regulatory Procedure Rule 7(b) Councillor Blane also spoke 
in connection with planning application 0706/ARM relating to the Site of Former 
Greaves Hall Hospital, Greaves Hall Avenue, Banks. 

8. Councillor Cotterill left the meeting at the conclusion of planning application 
0706/ARM relating to Land Rear of 153 to 167A Blaguegate Lane, Firswood 
Road, Lathom and was not present for the remainder of the meeting. 

9. Councillors Barron and Blane left the meeting at the conclusion of planning 
application 0706/ARM relating to the Site of Former Greaves Hall Hospital, 
Greaves Hall Avenue, Banks and were not present for the remainder of the 
meeting.) 

 
 

16   DESIGNATION REGIME FOR LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITIES  
 

 Consideration was given to the report of the Director of Development and 
Regeneration  as set out on pages 323 to 327 of the Book of Reports the purpose of 
which was to inform Members that the Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government had laid a document before Parliament setting out the criteria that the 
Government intend to use for designating a Local Planning Authority as 
underperforming and the thresholds that Authorities will be assessed against in the 
next designation round in the first quarter of 2017. 
 
RESOLVED:   That the contents of the report be noted. 
 
 

 
 
 

……….……………………….. 
- CHAIRMAN - 

 

Page 568



1 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 
27 JULY 2017 

 
Report of:  Director of Development and Regeneration 
 
Contact: Mrs. C. Thomas (Extn.5134) 
  Email: catherine.thomas@westlancs.gov.uk 
 

 
SUBJECT:  PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 

 
 
Background Papers 
 
In accordance with Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 the background 
papers used in the compilation of reports relating to planning applications are listed 
within the text of each report and are available for inspection in the Planning Division, 
except for such documents as contain exempt or confidential information defined in 
Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 
 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 
There is no evidence from an initial assessment of an adverse impact on equality in 
relation to the equality target groups. 
 
 
Human Rights 
 
The relevant provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 and the European Convention on 
Human Rights have been taken into account in the preparation of this report, particularly 
the implications arising from Article 8 (the right to respect for private and family life, 
home and correspondence) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (the right of peaceful enjoyment 
of possessions and protection of property). 
 
 
  

Page 569

Agenda Item 7

mailto:catherine.thomas@westlancs.gov.uk


2 
 

 
CONTENT SHEET 
 

Report 
No 

Ward Appn  
No 

Site Location & 
Proposal 

Recommendation 

1 Bickerstaffe 2017/0161/FUL Beacon View  
Firswood Road Lathom 
Skelmersdale 
Lancashire WN8 8UT  
 
Renovation of existing 
'washroom', 
construction of timber 
framed garage and 
expansion of gravel 
area leading thereto 
(retrospective).  
Renovation of existing 
outbuilding. 

Planning 
permission be 
refused. 
 
Pages 9 - 16 
 
 

     

2 Burscough 
East 

2017/0416/FUL 5 Briars Lane 
Burscough Ormskirk 
Lancashire L40 5TQ   
 
Demolition of existing 
buildings on site and 
erection of 66 
residential dwellings 
with associated car 
parking, landscaping 
and vehicular and 
pedestrian access off 
Briars Lane. 

The decision to 
grant planning 
permission be 
delegated to the 
Director of 
Development and 
Regeneration in 
consultation with 
the Chairman or 
Vice Chairman of 
the Planning 
Committee 
subject to a 
planning 
obligation under 
Section 106 of 
the Town and 
Country Planning 
Act 1990 being 
entered into. 
 
Pages 17 - 37 

     

  

Page 570



3 
 

 

3 Burscough 
East 

2017/0475/FUL 2 Millstone Court 
Burscough Ormskirk 
Lancashire L40 5ST   
 
Conversion of the 
garage space to 
habitable 
accommodation. 

Planning 
permission be 
refused. 
 
Pages 38 - 43 
 

     

4 Burscough 
West 

2016/0516/FUL Land To The North Of 
Meadowbrook 
Burscough Lancashire 
 
Erection of 124 
dwellings, public open 
space, landscaping and 
associated 
infrastructure. 

The decision to 
grant planning 
permission be 
delegated to the 
Director of 
Development and 
Regeneration in 
consultation with 
the Chairman or 
Vice Chairman of 
the Planning 
Committee 
subject to a 
planning 
obligation under 
Section 106 of 
the Town and 
Country Planning 
Act 1990 being 
entered into. 
 
Pages 44 - 74 

     

5 Derby 2017/0403/WL3 10 Bath Springs Court 
Ormskirk Lancashire 
L39 2YG    
 
Conversion of previous 
3 bed wardens flat into 
2no 1 bed category 2 
sheltered flats within 
existing scheme. 

Planning 
permission be 
granted. 
 
Pages 75 - 78 
 

     

  

Page 571



4 
 

6 Derby 2017/0457/COU Brookfields Charity 
Lane  
Westhead Ormskirk 
Lancashire L40 6LG  
 
Conversion of existing 
brick built barn to a 
single residential 
dwelling. 

Planning 
permission be 
refused. 
 
Pages 79 - 87 
 
 

     

7 Halsall 2016/0126/FUL Fine Janes Farm Moss 
Road  
Halsall Southport 
Lancashire PR8 4JG  
 
Demolition of former 
egg production 
buildings and related 
infrastructure and 
erection of 57 dwellings 
and related 
development including 
improvement of existing 
access to site, internal 
access roads, amenity 
open space, 
landscaping, pumping 
station and boundary 
fencing 

The decision to 
grant planning 
permission be 
delegated to the 
Director of 
Development and 
Regeneration in 
consultation with 
the Chairman or 
Vice Chairman of 
the Planning 
Committee 
subject to a 
planning 
obligation under 
Section 106 of 
the Town and 
Country Planning 
Act 1990 being 
entered into. 
 
Pages 88 - 107 

     

8 Knowsley 2017/0493/FUL 132 Redgate Ormskirk 
Lancashire L39 3NY    
 
Change of use of 
dwelling to 5 bed 
student HMO. 

Planning 
permission be 
granted. 
 
Pages 108 - 114 
 

     

 
  

Page 572



5 
 

 

9 Moorside 2016/1023/FUL Former Sutches Farm 
Castlehey 
Skelmersdale 
Lancashire    
 
The development of 23 
social houses and 
supporting 
infrastructure. 

The decision to 
grant planning 
permission be 
delegated to the 
Director of 
Development and 
Regeneration in 
consultation with 
the Chairman or 
Vice Chairman of 
the Planning 
Committee 
subject to a 
planning 
obligation under 
Section 106 of 
the Town and 
Country Planning 
Act 1990 being 
entered into. 
 
Pages 115 - 127 

     

  

Page 573



6 
 

10 Newburgh 2017/0350/FUL Red Apple Nursery 
Cobbs Brow Lane 
Newburgh Wigan 
Lancashire WN8 7SF  
 
Phase 2 extension to 
the existing CAST 
facility. Creation of 1 
No. additional large 
fishing lake. Creation of 
a 31 space hard 
surfaced car park.  A 16 
x 30m indoor complex 
needs angling building. 
A timber clad 7.5m x 
10m community angling 
club house. Timber 
Storage Shed (located 
in phase 1), 2 No. log 
cabins to form respite 
holiday 
accommodation.  
Informal landscaped 
areas. Gardens/picnic/ 
animal area (sensory 
area). 

Planning 
permission be 
granted. 
 
Pages 128 - 150 
 

     

11 Scarisbrick 2017/0358/FUL Winrows Farm  
Barrison Green  
Scarisbrick Ormskirk 
Lancashire L40 8HX  
 
Erection of agricultural 
building (alteration to 
approved scheme 
2016/0031/FUL) and 
demolition of existing 
agricultural shed. 

Planning 
permission be 
granted. 
 
Pages 151 - 157 
 

     

 
  

Page 574



7 
 

 

12 Scarisbrick 2017/0395/FUL Land To The North Of 
Asmall Lane Scarisbrick 
Lancashire    
 
Variation of Condition 
No's. 5, 6, 7, 14 and 17 
imposed on planning 
permission 
2015/0477/FUL in 
accordance with the 
details provided in the 
supporting statement 
received on the 11th 
April 2017. 

Planning 
permission be 
refused. 
 
Pages 158 - 165 
 

     

13 Scarisbrick 2017/0491/FUL 104 Moorfield Lane 
Scarisbrick Ormskirk 
Lancashire L40 8JE   
 
Proposed ancillary 
accommodation. 

Planning 
permission be 
refused. 
 
Pages 166 - 171 
 

     

 
  

Page 575



8 
 

 

14 Tarleton 2017/0018/FUL Len Wrights Salads Ltd 
Hazeldene Taylors 
Meanygate Tarleton 
Preston Lancashire 
PR4 6XB 
 
Construction of a portal 
frame pack 
house/processing 
facility, additional car 
parking on existing 
hard-standing, hard-
standing for HGV 
movements and 
sustainable drainage 
system, for use in 
conjunction with 
existing mixed use of 
agriculture and 
processing and 
packaging of 
agricultural produce. 
Additional external 
works forming part of 
the development 
include an irrigation 
pond, detention basin 
and reed bed along with 
water pumps and septic 
tank. 

Planning 
permission be 
granted. 
 
Pages 172 - 189 
 

 
  

Page 576



9 
 

No.1 APPLICATION 
NO. 

2017/0161/FUL 

 LOCATION Beacon View Firswood Road Lathom Skelmersdale 
Lancashire WN8 8UT 
 

 PROPOSAL Renovation of existing 'washroom', construction of timber 
framed garage and expansion of gravel area leading 
thereto (retrospective).  Renovation of existing 
outbuilding. 

 APPLICANT Mrs J Wall & Mr A Heron 
 WARD Bickerstaffe 
 PARISH Lathom South 
 TARGET DATE 23rd May 2017 
 

 
1.0 REFERRAL 
 
1.1 This application was to be determined under the Council's delegation scheme 

however Councillor Cotterill has requested it be referred to Committee to 
consider the impact on the Green Belt 
 

2.0 PREVIOUS RELEVANT DECISIONS 
 
 Planning history 
 
2.1 2016/0771/FUL - Proposed orangery to side elevation - Refused 
 
2.2 2002/0964 - Two storey extension at side, single storey extension at rear, front 

and rear porches - Granted. (It is noted that the approved drawings received on 
27th November 2002, and as referred to in condition 3, omit the single storey 
extension at the rear and the rear porch however the description was not 
amended). 

 
 Enforcement history 
 
2.3 E/2017/0088/UBW - Without planning permission large rear extension. 

Outbuildings demolished. New building/annexe built - Pending consideration 
 
2.4 E/2016/0238/UBW - Construction of barn without planning permission - 

Investigation complete 
  

Page 577



10 
 

 
3.0 OBSERVATIONS OF CONSULTEES 
 
3.1 Lathom South Parish Council - (20/04/17) 
 
 No objections to the application. The Parish Council consider the development to 

be acceptable, that it has improved the appearance of the property and is not 
harmful to the Green Belt. 

 
3.2 Lathom South Parish Council - (03/07/17) 
 
 The Parish Council have nothing to add, on account of these slightly amended 

plans having been received. We stand by our original comments. 
 
4.0 OTHER REPRESENTATIONS 
 
4.1 None received 
 
5.0  SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
5.1 The application has been supported by the following documents: 
 
 Design and Access Statement 
 Green Belt Assessment 
 Ecological Survey Report 
 2 x historical aerial photographs 
 7 x photographs of local development  
 3 x neighbour statements 
 
6.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES 
 
6.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the West Lancashire Local 

Plan 2012-2027 DPD provide the policy framework against which the 
development proposals will be assessed. 

 
 The site is located within the Green Belt as designated in the West Lancashire 

Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD. 
 
 National Planning Policy Framework 
 Requiring good design 
  
 West Lancashire Local Plan Policies 
 GN1 - Settlement Boundaries 
 GN3 - Criteria for Sustainable Development 
 IF2 - Enhancing Sustainable Transport Choice 
  

Page 578



11 
 

 Supplementary Planning Document - Design Guide (January 2008) 
 
 Supplementary Planning Document, Development in the Green Belt (October 

2016) 
 
7.0 OBSERVATIONS OF DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 

Site description 
 
7.1 The site is located to the west of Firswood Road and comprises a semi-detached 

two-storey dwelling with gardens to the front, side and rear. The adjoining 
neighbour to the south is known as Brentmead. The nearest property to the north 
is situated more than 200m away.  

 
7.2 The existing dwelling has previously been extended with the addition of a two-

storey side extension and a front porch. There is also a single storey porch at the 
rear however I have been unable to find any planning approval for this 
development. Within the garden of the property several outbuildings have been 
erected. 

 
Proposal 

 
7.3 This application seeks retrospective planning permission for the following works: 
 

Construction of a three bay timber garage situated within the front garden of the 
dwelling. The main part of the garage is stated to be 4m high however the 
measurement scaled from the submitted plans is 4.25m high. There are lean-to 
elements, on the east and west sides of the building, which have a maximum 
height of 2.4m (as measured from the plan). The footprint of the building is 6.2m x 
11m (as stated and as scaled); 
Expansion of a gravelled area at the front of the property leading to the garage; 
Renovations and alterations to an existing building at the rear of the dwelling 
known as the „washroom‟. The roof of the building has been increased in size to 
create an open-sided covered area on the north of the building; 
 
Erection of an outbuilding at the rear of the washroom. The building has been 
erected on the footprint of a block/timber building formerly used as a kennel. The 
roof has been raised to 3.8m in height and the building has been constructed of a 
timber frame with reclaimed facing bricks. The roof of the building is joined to the 
washroom roof. 

 
7.4 The application has been submitted following enforcement investigations 

undertaken by the Council. Following the Council‟s initial contact with the 
applicants, pre-application advice was sought regarding the retention of the 
garage. Advice was also requested regarding an extension to the house and 
alterations to the washhouse and kennel building as separate buildings. The 

Page 579



12 
 

applicants were advised that the development would be harmful to the Green Belt 
and that an application was unlikely to be supported by officers. 

 
7.5 Development works have continued at the property. At the time of the case 

officer‟s visit in connection with the current application it was apparent that works 
to alter the kennel building were substantially complete. During the course of this 
application the plans and description of development have been amended to 
better reflect the works that have taken place and the retrospective nature of the 
application. 

 
Assessment 

 
7.6 The main considerations for this application are 
 

Principle of development - Green Belt 
Design/Visual amenity 
Impact on residential amenity 
Highway issues 

 
Principle of development - Green Belt 

 
7.7 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the West Lancashire Local 

Plan 2012-2027 DPD provide the policy framework against which the 
development proposals will be assessed. 

 
7.8 Paragraph 89 in the National Planning Policy Framework states that “A local 

planning authority should regard the construction of new buildings as 
inappropriate in Green Belt.” There are 6 exceptions to this rule including “the 
extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in 
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building.” 

 
7.9 The SPD - Development in the Green Belt states proposals for extensions to 

existing buildings in the Green Belt should satisfy the specified criteria which 
include: the total volume of the proposal together with any previous extensions 
should not exceed 40% of the volume of the original building and the design of 
the extension should be in keeping with the original form and appearance of the 
building and not materially harm the openness of the Green Belt. 

 
7.10 Policy GB4 of the SPD - Development in the Green Belt states “Outbuildings of 

permanent and substantial construction (i.e. generally not sheds or green 
houses) and other attached covered structures such as car ports or porches will 
be taken into account in determining whether a proposal complies or not with the 
requirements of criterion (b) in that the volume of any outbuilding or extension 
which does not form part of the „original building‟ will be taken into account in 
assessing whether or not the 40% threshold has been reached.” 

 

Page 580



13 
 

7.11 The site was formerly a small holding and I note the aerial photographs which 
have been submitted showing various buildings within the site and to the side of 
the dwelling. The photographs do not provide any evidence that these buildings 
had a domestic use. As a small holding it is considered those buildings were not 
used for domestic purposes but formed part of the agricultural use of the site. 
They do not form part of the „original building‟ for the purposes of assessment 
under policy GB4 of the SPD.  

 
7.12 In any case maps and aerial photographs held by the Council appear to show 

that these outbuildings have not been on site for many years. The Local Planning 
Authority can only assess the site at the time of application and when 
outbuildings have been removed it is not possible to take them into account when 
assessing the addition of new structures. 

 
7.13 Beacon View has already been increased by the addition of a large side 

extension and a rear porch which result in a volume increase of approx. 61% 
above the original building size. 

 
7.14 Cumulatively the volume of the garage, enlarged kennel building and wash house 

along with the existing extension, results in the original volume of the property 
being more than doubled. The amount of extension to the dwelling is already 
significantly over the Council‟s guideline figures set out within the SPD and this 
figure is further exceeded when the new outbuildings are included.  

 
7.15 Paragraph 79 of the NPPF states that the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is 

to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the essential 
characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their permanence. 
Paragraph 80 sets out the five purposes of the Green Belt; one of which is to 
assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment. 

 
7.16  The garage has been positioned in the side garden approx. 30m from the 

northern side of the dwelling. This siting results in the spread of development into 
an area of the site which was formerly undeveloped. It is my view that this 
encroachment into undeveloped areas of the Green Belt fails to comply with the 
purposes of the Green Belt set out in paragraph 80.  

 
7.17 It is acknowledged that there is mature hedging along some of the boundaries of 

the site however openness is the concept of freedom from development and is an 
absolute test and does not depend on whether it can be seen. The development 
is there or it is not. The NPPF at paragraph 88 states that: When considering any 
planning application, local planning authorities should ensure that substantial 
weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt. 

 
7.18 Due to its location, size and scale the garage is considered to have a significant 

adverse impact on the openness of the Green Belt. Furthermore the extensive 
area of hardstanding which has been created in order to provide access and 

Page 581



14 
 

turning areas for the garage intensify the impacts of the garage on the Green 
Belt. In addition the alterations to the outbuildings to the rear would substantially 
increase the mass and bulk of the building such that there would be a harmful 
impact on the openness of the Green Belt. 

 
7.19 Taken cumulatively with the previous extensions and outbuildings, the proposed 

extension and outbuildings would further result in disproportionate extensions to 
the dwelling such that there is a significant adverse impact on the openness of 
the Green Belt. The development is therefore considered to be inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt.  

 
7.20 Paragraph 87 of the NPPF states that ‟inappropriate development is, by 

definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very 
special circumstances‟. In my view no special circumstances have been put 
forward as part of this planning application which would outweigh the resultant 
harm to the Green Belt. On that basis it is considered the proposal does not 
comply with the requirements of the NPPF, policy GN1 of the Local Plan and 
Policy GB4 of the SPD - Development in the Green Belt.  

 
Design/Visual amenity 

 
7.21 Policy GN3 supported by the Council‟s SPD Design Guide requires that new 

development should be of a scale, mass and built form, which responds to the 
characteristics of the site and its surroundings. Care should be taken to ensure 
that buildings do not disrupt the visual amenities of the streetscene because of 
their height, scale or roofline. 

 
7.22 Paragraph 81 of the NPPF requires that LPAs should enhance the beneficial use 

of the Green Belt in several ways including by retaining and enhancing 
landscapes and visual amenity.  

 
7.23 The local area is characterised by well-spaced linear development of pairs of 

dwellings with outbuildings to the rear. Some of the dwellings have side 
extensions similar to Beacon View. 

 
7.24 The garage is a timber framed building with side-hung timber doors. Whilst I am 

satisfied that a timber garage is an appropriate style of outbuilding, the building 
which has been erected has a bulky appearance due to its size. It is my view that 
the siting of the garage within the front garden disrupts the pattern of 
development. The siting of the garage spreads built form into areas of the site 
which were formerly undeveloped and is contrary to the prevailing pattern of 
development in the area.   

 
7.25 It is acknowledged that, at present, there is mature hedging along the front and 

northern boundary however the Local Planning Authority is not able to ensure 
that this hedging would remain in perpetuity. If the hedging should die or be 

Page 582



15 
 

removed the impact of the garage in this location would cause significant harm to 
the character and appearance of the area.  

 
7.26 The kennel and washhouse have been connected and the size and height of the 

buildings have been increased. The appearance of the resultant building has 
been substantially altered from more modest outbuildings that were there before 
the development took place. It is my view the alterations result in the building no 
longer having an appearance or size which are considered to be subordinate to 
the main property. 

 
7.27 Furthermore, having regard to the size and scale of the washhouse/kennel and 

the garage, it is my view that cumulatively the outbuildings are not subordinate to 
the dwelling.  

 
7.28 Having regard to the above I consider the location, size and scale of the buildings 

do not comply with the requirements of policy GN3 of the Local Plan.  
 

Impact on residential amenity 
 
7.29 Paragraph 17 of the NPPF requires that planning should always seek to ensure a 

good standard of amenity for all existing and future residents. The application 
must also be assessed in terms of Policy GN3 of the West Lancashire Local Plan 
(2012-2027), which states that development should “retain or create reasonable 
levels of privacy, amenity and sufficient garden / outdoor spaces for occupiers of 
the neighbouring and proposed properties”. 

 
7.30 The washhouse/kennel building extends alongside the boundary with the 

neighbouring dwelling, Brentmead for approx. 17 metres. The building is higher 
than the previous building however the eaves height is only approx. 2m and the 
roof slopes away from the boundary. I am satisfied the building does not result in 
any significant overshadowing or loss of light to the neighbouring property. 

 
7.31 The siting of the garage is away from neighbouring properties and in my view 

does not have any harmful impact on neighbour amenity.  
 

Highways 
 
7.32 Policy GN3 requires that adequate parking provision is made in line with the 

standards set out in Local Plan Policy IF2 and Appendix F unless the local 
circumstances justify a deviation from the policy. Policy GN3 also requires that 
development incorporates suitable and safe access and road layout design.  

 
7.33 Adequate parking for a three bedroom property can be provided within the site in 

accordance with policy IF2.  
 

 

Page 583



16 
 

Biodiversity 
 
7.34 Policy EN2, Part 2, of the WLLP states that where there is reason to suspect that 

there may be a priority species, or their habitat, on or close to a proposed 
development site, planning applications should be accompanied by a survey 
assessing the presence of such species and, where appropriate, making 
provision for their needs. This allows the LPA to screen the project against the 
Habitats Regulations and relevant national and local policy. 

 
7.35 The application has been accompanied by a Protected Species Survey which 

concluded that there was no evidence of usage of any of the building on the site 
by bats or birds. No further surveys were recommended however in order to 
provide enhancement the ecologist recommended the erection of external bat 
and bird boxes. 

 
7.36 Having regard to the conclusion of the ecologist I am satisfied there would be no 

adverse impact on any protected species or their habitats subject to the 
imposition of a condition requiring details of ecological enhancement in the form 
of bat and bird boxes. 

 
Summary  

 
7.37 In my view the proposed outbuildings would, cumulatively with the previous 

extensions, be disproportionate to the original dwelling and would result in harm 
to the openness of the Green Belt. Furthermore, the development is considered 
to have a harmful impact on the character and visual amenity of the area. On that 
basis the proposal fails to comply with the requirements of the NPPF, Policies 
GN1 and GN3 in the Local Plan and the SPD - Development in the Green Belt. 

 
8.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
8.1 That planning permission be REFUSED for the following reasons: 
 
Reasons for Refusal 
 1. The proposed development conflicts with the NPPF and Policy GN1 in the West 

Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD in that the proposal constitutes 
inappropriate development resulting in harm to the openness of the Green Belt. 
Insufficient special circumstances have been demonstrated to outweigh this 
harm. 

 2. The proposed development conflicts with Paragraph 81 of the NPPF, Policy GN3 
of the West Lancashire Local Plan (2012-2027) DPD and supplementary 
planning document 'Design Guide' (Jan 2008) in that the proposed developments 
are not subordinate to the host property and their siting and design results in 
harm to the character and visual amenity of this part of the Green Belt.  

  

Page 584



17 
 

 
No.2 APPLICATION 

NO. 
2017/0416/FUL 

 LOCATION 5 Briars Lane Burscough Ormskirk Lancashire L40 5TQ  
 

 PROPOSAL Demolition of existing buildings on site and erection of 66 
residential dwellings with associated car parking, 
landscaping and vehicular and pedestrian access off 
Briars Lane. 

 APPLICANT Taylor Wimpey UK LTD 
 WARD Burscough East 
 PARISH Burscough 
 TARGET DATE 18th July 2017 
 

 
1.0 PREVIOUS RELEVANT DECISIONS 
 
1.1 None. 

 
2.0 OBSERVATIONS OF CONSULTEES 

 
2.1 Lancashire Constabulary (04.05.17) – No objections but suggest various security 

measures. 
 
2.2 Canal & River Trust (19.05.17 and 30.05.17) – The proposed close board fence 

to the canalside would not be appropriate to the setting of the conservation area.  
The boundary fence to the canal should be reconsidered.  The Trust would 
welcome the removal of the closed board fence and instead rely on the proposed 
hedge and native planting to provide screening/privacy to the development.  
Conditions recommended.  The principle of installing a 1.1m high ball top railing 
along the canal side boundary instead of closed board fencing would be 
acceptable.   
 

2.3  United Utilities (23.05.17) – No objection provided that conditions in respect of 
foul and surface water are attached to any approval granted.   

 
2.4 Lead Local Flood Authority (16.05.17 and 04.07.17) –Following discussions with 

the applicant who provided the model files of the current drainage system for 
review the allowable discharge rate has been agreed.  The LLFA consider the 
proposed development to be acceptable subject to the inclusion of suitable 
planning conditions.   

 
2.5  Environmental Protection – Contaminated Land (26.05.17 and 29.06.17) – The 

site may be contaminated by virtue of its past commercial/industrial use, 
therefore a condition in respect of contaminated land investigation should be 
imposed.  The submitted Phase I & II Site Investigation Report is acceptable.  

Page 585



18 
 

The department will need to see and agree the final remediation and enabling 
works strategy. 

 
2.6 Environmental Protection (28.06.17) No objection in principle.  Concern about the 

proximity of some of the houses to the industrial estate at 15 Briars Lane; no 
noise information has been provided about the current or likely noise from the 
industrial units.  The development should be designed so that it protects the 
houses and rear gardens from the likely noise anticipated from an industrial area.   

 
2.7  Highway Engineer (05.06.17) – No objections in principle.  Conditions 

recommended.  The traffic can be accommodated on the local highway network 
and will not have a severe impact on capacity.  The access junction proposed will 
be priority controlled, but improved to meet residential design standards.  The 
vision splays to be provided are commensurate with a 30mph speed limit in this 
location on Briars Lane.   

  
 There are good pedestrian/cycle and public transport options open to the new 

residents and subject to the provision of upgraded bus stop facilities close to the 
site (with associated tactile crossing upgrade) the site would comply with the 
NPPF in terms of the accessibility.   

 
All footways within the site must be 2m in width.  A swept path analysis 
demonstrates that a 3 axle refuse vehicle can access all required areas of the 
proposed development.  Some of the garages proposed do not meet specified 
space standards to constitute a parking space.   
 

3.0 OTHER REPRESENTATIONS 
 
3.1 A letter has been received from the owner of Lockwood, 7 Briars Lane, 

confirming support for the proposed development.   
 
3.2  A total of 5 no. local residents have objected to the application, the main grounds 

of objection can be summarised as: 
Consideration should be given to continued vehicular access to the rear of 7, 9, 
11 and 13 Briars Lane for the purposes of sewage collection from septic tanks, 
and connection of these 4 properties to the main sewage/waste water system as 
part of the building development at no additional expense to the owners. 
Briars Lane is busy and used as a route to the M6 and M58, to further increase 
vehicle numbers on this road would be irresponsible.   
As a village Burscough cannot take any more population increases.  Doctors, 
dentists and schools are over capacity.   
Concern that the garage sizes will not be large enough to accommodate a 
vehicle.  
Briars Lane is already dangerous for cyclists and pedestrians, when crossing 
Briars Lane where it meets Wheat Lane.  Proper pedestrian facilities should be 
provided.  At the moment there is a lack of pavements on both sides of the roads. 

Page 586



19 
 

The trees along the canal bank are visually an important part of the canal 
environment.  Will tree planting be proposed to replace felled trees. 
There are moorings opposite the site, what restrictions will be in place regarding 
noise during construction. 
 

3.3 Burscough Parish Council (08.06.17) - The access/egress from the development 
onto Briars Lane is dangerous for children or people with prams.  This needs to 
be more substantial and offer more protection for pedestrians.  The proposal 
provides for no alternative pedestrian route linking the development with the 
wider area or with recreational land.  Connectivity and road safety would be 
greatly enhanced by a footpath link with Heathfields/Ivy Close.  The development 
should contribute to the cost of a bridge over the canal providing a walking route 
to the village centre.  The number of affordable homes proposed is grossly 
inadequate and there is no clear reason why this development should be allowed 
to reduce the quota of affordable homes being provided.  The Parish Council 
supports residents of nos. 5, 7, 9 and 11 Briars Lane in their request to ensure 
access to existing septic tanks.   

 
4.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION  
 
4.1 Tree Survey Report (Revision A), June 2014, Revised February 2017 
 Ground Gas Addendum Report. 
 Design and Access Statement, March 2017. 
 Site Waste Management Plan, March 2017. 

Construction Management Plan, March 2017. 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method Statement, March 2017, Revised 
April 2017. 
Utility Statement, December 2016. 
Phase I and Phase II Geo-Environmental Site Assessment, September 2016. 
Heritage Statement, March 2017. 
Ecological Assessment. 
Planning Statement including Statement of Community Involvement, March 2017. 
Transport Statement, March 2017. 
Supplementary Note 01 – Vehicular Access Options. 
Flood Risk Assessment, March 2017. 
 

5.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES 
 
5.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the West Lancashire Local 

Plan 2012-2027 DPD provide the policy framework against which the 
development proposals will be assessed. 

 
5.2  The site is designated under policy EC1 (The Economy and Employment Land) of 

the West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 (WLLP) as an „Other Significant 
Employment Site‟. 

 

Page 587



20 
 

NPPF 
 

Promoting sustainable transport 
Delivering a wide choice of quality homes 
Requiring good design 
Promoting healthy communities 
Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
Conserving and enhancing the historic environment  

 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD 

 
SP1 – A Sustainable Development Framework for West Lancashire 
GN1 – Settlement Boundaries 
GN3 - Criteria for Sustainable Development 
EC1 – The Economy and Employment Land 
RS1 – Residential Development 
RS2 – Affordable and Specialist Housing  
IF2 – Enhancing Sustainable Transport Choice 
IF3 – Service Accessibility and Infrastructure for Growth 
IF4 – Developer Contributions  
EN1 – Low Carbon Development and Energy Infrastructure 
EN2 – Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire‟s Natural Environment 
EN3 – Provision of Green Infrastructure and Open Recreation Space 
EN4 – Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire‟s Cultural and Heritage 
Assets 

 
Design Guide (Jan 2008) – Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
Provision of Public Open Space in New Residential Developments (July 2014) 
SPD 
 

6.0 Observations of Director of Development and Regeneration 
 

The Site 
 

6.1  The site is located to the north of Briars Lane, with its main access taken off Briars 
Lane.  There is a secondary access from Briars Lane through an adjacent 
commercial site.  The site is bound by residential development to the south and 
west.  The Leeds Liverpool Canal is to the eastern boundary of the site.  The site 
comprises a series of vacant industrial/warehouse buildings of various sizes, 
concrete hardstanding and a number of existing boundary trees.  To the 
immediate north west of the application site, on the other side of the canal, is the 
Top Locks Conservation Area. 

 
6.2  The site was most recently occupied by WCF Ltd and used for storage and 

distribution purposes.  In addition to WCF Ltd, two other companies used the site – 

Page 588



21 
 

Sephton Transport and Anderson Transport, both of which operated in a similar 
way to WCF Ltd.  In 2007 WCF relocated the bulk of its operations but retained 
some on site operations, and in 2009 marketing of the site began and continued 
until 2013.  In 2015 the site management/holding costs became unviable for WCF 
and they closed the site (requiring several occupiers to relocate) and at this time 
the whole of the site was marketed.   

 
The Proposal 
 

6.3  This application seeks planning permission for  demolition of the existing buildings 
on the site and the erection of 66no. residential dwellings.  The proposed dwellings 
would consist of the following mix: 
 
12no. 2 bedroom apartments 
24 no. 3 bedroom houses 
30 no. 4 bedroom houses 
 

6.4  Vehicular and pedestrian access would be taken directly from Briars Lane; on either 
side of the proposed access there would be a 2m wide footway connecting to the 
pedestrian footways located along Briars Lane.   
 
Principle of Development 
 

6.5  The site is designated as an „Other Significant Employment Site‟, and as such 
Policy EC1.2(b) (vii) of the WLLP is relevant to the assessment of this 
application.  On such sites, the policy allows for industrial, business, storage and 
distribution uses (i.e. Use Classes B1, B2 and B8).  Paragraph 6.15 of the 
justification to policy EC1 states that the development of non-employment uses 
will be resisted on „Other Significant Employment Sites‟ in order to maintain the 
Borough‟s employment land supply and maximise opportunities for new 
economic investment in the Borough.  There is no provision in Policy EC1 for 
non-employment uses to be permitted on Other Significant Employment Sites, 
even when a site is vacant.  As such, the proposed development is contrary to 
the Development Plan.  Therefore the principle of housing could only be 
considered acceptable on this site if it were clearly demonstrated that material 
considerations indicate a departure from the development plan policy would be 
appropriate.     
 

6.6  One important material consideration is the NPPF.  Paragraph 49 states that 
housing applications should be considered in the context of the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development. 
 

6.7  NPPF paragraph 22 states that where there is no reasonable prospect of a site 
being used for the allocated employment use, applications for alternative uses of 
land or buildings should be treated on their merits having regard to market signals 

Page 589



22 
 

and the relative need for different land uses to support sustainable local 
communities.   
 

6.8  Under the provisions of Policy EC1 of the Local Plan, Policy GN4 is not directly 
relevant.  However, the content of the policy can be used as a useful „benchmark‟ 
against which to consider the likelihood of future employment uses on the Briars 
Lane site; in line with its designation.  Policy GN4 states „The Council will seek to 
retain existing commercial / industrial (B1, B2 or B8) uses unless it can be 
demonstrated that one of the following tests has been met‟: 
 
The continued use of the site/premises for its existing use is no longer viable in 
terms of its operation of the existing use, building age and format and that it is not 
commercially viable to redevelop the land or refurbish the premises for its existing 
use.  In these circumstances, and where appropriate, it will also need to be 
demonstrated that there is no realistic prospect of a mixed-use scheme for the 
existing use and a compatible use; or 
 
The land / premises is no longer suitable for the existing use when taking into 
account access / highway issues (including public transport), site location and 
infrastructure, physical constraints, environmental considerations and amenity 
issues.  The compatibility of the existing use with adjacent uses may also be a 
consideration; or 
 
Marketing of the land / property indicates that there is no demand for the land / 
property in its existing use.   
 

6.9  The application has been supported by a Commercial Property and Market 
Review Report.  This report advises that the refurbishment of the existing 
buildings on the Briars Lane site would not be a viable option and that the 
redevelopment of the site would not be viable, it goes on to say that the site (by 
virtue of its access, size and surrounding land uses) is not suitable for a modern 
industrial/warehouse use, and that despite extensive marketing there has been 
little/no demand for long-term occupiers.   
 

6.10  Taking the above factors into account, I consider that there is no reasonable 
prospect of the site being used for the designated employment use and if the site 
were retained for employment uses it would lead to its deterioration to the 
detriment of the local environment.  As detailed above, the NPPF advocates that 
planning applications for housing should be considered in the context of the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, and in this instance, on 
balance, I consider that subject to compliance with all other relevant policies the 
principle of allowing a residential development on the site is acceptable.   
 
Affordable Housing and Provision of Accommodation for the Elderly 
 

Page 590



23 
 

 6.11 The requirement for affordable homes and elderly provision originates from 
policies RS1 and RS2 of the Local Plan.  Policy RS2 requires that on sites such 
as this 35% of the units be affordable.  However, an important material 
consideration is vacant building credit (VBC) which was introduced in 2014 via a 
ministerial statement, and incorporated into National Planning Practice Guidance 
(NPPG).  The VBC allows for existing vacant floorspace to be taken into account 
when calculating affordable housing requirements, and is seen as a way to 
incentivise development on brownfield land.   

 
6.12  The VBC allows for existing vacant floorspace to be taken into account when 

calculating affordable housing requirements, provided it is the case that the 
vacant buildings on the site have not been abandoned.  In summary, the existing 
floorspace of a vacant building should be credited against the floorspace of the 
new development i.e. a developer should be offered a financial credit equivalent 
to the existing gross floorspace of relevant vacant buildings when the local 
planning authority calculates any affordable housing contribution which will be 
sought.   
 

6.13  The existing vacant buildings on the site have a total floor area of 5,329sqm.  The 
proposed site layout creates 6,356 sq.m of new floor space.  There is therefore 
1,027 sq.m of additional floor space being created through the proposals, which 
equates to a 19% increase.  Therefore the affordable housing contribution should 
be 19% of what would normally be sought under Local Plan Policy RS2.  This 
results in an affordable housing requirement of 6.65% from the site, equating to 4 
dwellings.  This provision is included in the submitted layout.  I consider that the 
proposal is eligible to benefit from VBC and therefore the provision of 4 affordable 
dwellings is acceptable in this instance.     
 

6.14  In terms of provision of accommodation for the elderly in developments of this 
size Policy RS2 requires 20% of the units to be designed specifically as 
accommodation for the elderly.    

 
6.15  There is no specific definition of „elderly accommodation‟ and each case is 

considered on its own merits. The supporting statement indicates that the 
proposed development will meet local housing requirements and the layout 
includes a mix of small and larger house types, including some flats that will 
provide varied housing for different age groups, family housing and housing 
suitable for the elderly.  Whilst the dwellings themselves will not be constructed 
for use by the elderly without adaptation, they will be constructed to meet current 
Building Regulations with the structure designed to ensure minimal work is 
required in any future adaptation that may be necessary.  Therefore, I am 
satisfied that the proposed development complies with Policies RS1 and RS2 in 
this respect. 
 
Design/Layout/Scale and Impact on Residential Amenity 
 

Page 591



24 
 

6.16  Policy GN3 of the Local Plan together with the Council's SPD Design Guide 
states that new development should be of a scale, mass and built form which 
responds to the characteristics of the site and its surroundings.  Care should be 
taken to ensure that buildings do not disrupt the visual amenities of the street 
scene because of their height, scale or roofline.   

 
6.17  There would be a road leading through the estate with all the dwellings taking 

access off this road.  The residential units would be two storey in height and a 
mix of detached and semi-detached, there would also be a three storey 
apartment block.  This scale and mix would be appropriate and in keeping with 
the surrounding area.   

 
6.18  The dwellings in the main benefit from front gardens, with some properties having 

off road parking to the side of the houses, ensuring that there would not be an 
over-dominance of hardstanding to the frontage of houses.   

 
6.19  The dwellings themselves would be constructed from brick and render which 

reflects the character of the local area and is particularly reflective of the 
dwellings on the Heathfields Estate.  I am satisfied that the design of the 
dwellings is acceptable in accordance with Policy GN3 of the Local Plan.   

 
6.20 Policy GN3 of the WLLP states that development should 'retain or create 

reasonable levels of privacy, amenity and sufficient garden / outdoor spaces for 
occupiers of the proposed and neighbouring properties'.  The Design Guide states 
that there should be a minimum distance of 21m between dwellings with principal 
windows in each elevation and a distance of 12m between main elevations and 
those that do not contain primary windows of habitable rooms.  It also advocates 
rear garden depths of 10m.   
 

6.21 In terms of the potential impact from the development on existing residents, the 
nearest residential properties to the development would be on the existing 
Heathfields estate which is to the west.  The separation distances are sufficient to 
ensure there would be no undue impact from overlooking, overshadowing or 
creation of poor outlook to occupiers of dwellings on the Heathfields Estate, in 
accordance with Policy GN3 of the Local Plan. 
 

6.22 In terms of the level of amenity offered to occupiers of the new dwellings, the 
proposed dwellings would benefit from sufficient private amenity space, and in 
terms of the relationship between the proposed properties, interface distances are 
broadly in accordance with Policy GN3 of the WLLP and the Design Guide SPD.   
 

6.23 I am satisfied that the proposed layout allows both new and existing properties to 
benefit from adequate levels of privacy and private amenity space in accordance 
with Policy GN3 in the WLLP and the Council‟s Design Guide SPD.   

 

Page 592



25 
 

6.24 Concern has been raised in respect of construction noise/disturbance during the 
course of the development.  This matter is not a material planning consideration 
in the determination of this application and can be controlled by other legislation.   

 
Impact on the Canal 
 

6.25 Policy GN3 of the Local Plan advises that proposals for development should have 
regard to visual amenity and complement or enhance any attractive attributes and 
/ or local distinctiveness within its surroundings through sensitive design, including 
appropriate siting, orientation, scale, materials, landscape and boundary 
treatment.  

 
6.26  The Leeds Liverpool Canal runs to the immediate east of the site.  The Canal and 

River Trust have been consulted in respect of the application and have advised 
that the main issues relevant to the Trust are: 

 
Impact on heritage and the character and appearance of the waterway corridor; 
Impact on the structural integrity of the canal due to the proximity of the building to 
the canal; 
Mitigating potential contamination; 
Impact of the canal due to the drainage proposals. 

 
6.27  The Canal and River Trust have advised that due to the proximity of some of 

buildings to the canal a condition requesting a Risk Assessment and Method 
Statement is necessary to address point b) above.  A site investigation has 
identified that there is some contamination of the made ground in various 
locations on the site; a condition is required to secure appropriate mitigation 
measures to prevent any risk of pollution or harm to the canal or its users, this 
satisfies point c).  In terms of point d), the existing site has a license to discharge 
surface water from the entire site to the canal, the Trust has advised that a new 
license/commercial agreement would be required for the proposed development; 
advice in respect of this will be included as a note on the decision notice should 
planning permission be granted.   

 
6.28  As regards point a) the Trust had raised concerns in respect of the boundary 

treatment to the canal, however, following these comments the applicant has 
amended the layout to include a 1.1m high ball top railing along the canal side 
boundary instead of the 1.8m closed board fencing that was originally proposed.  
The Trust have confirmed that this would constitute a suitable boundary 
treatment, in combination with the proposed landscaping adjacent to the canal, 
which would comprise a line of trees and a mixed beech and holly hedge.  I 
consider that this proposed boundary treatment would soften the appearance of 
the development from viewed from the canal.   
 
Heritage Impacts 
 

Page 593



26 
 

6.29  The site lies adjacent to the Top Locks Conservation Area which contains several 
designated heritage assets including Junction Bridge which is Grade II listed.  The 
principle statutory duty under the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 is to preserve the special character of heritage assets, including 
their setting. 

 
6.30  Paragraph 131 of the NPPF says that in relation to heritage in determining 

planning applications LPAs should take account of: 
 

The desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets 
and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation; 
The positive contribution that heritage assets can make to sustainable 
communities; and 
The desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local 
character and distinctiveness.   

 
6.31  Policy EN4 of the WLLP states that there will be a presumption in favour of the 

conservation of designated heritage assets, and that development will not be 
permitted that will adversely affect a heritage asset.  Development should 
preserve or enhance the area‟s character or appearance and in particular 
harmonise with its surroundings in terms of mass, scale, form, use of materials 
and overall design quality. 

 
6.32  The Design Guide goes on to say in Policy DP9 that development affecting a 

listed building or conservation area should always reflect their special interest.  
Proposals should be sensitive to the character of the historic environment, be 
high quality in terms of design and materials and aim to enhance the character 
and appearance of the wider area.   

 
6.33  In assessing applications that may affect conservation areas or listed structures 

there is a need to give considerable weight and importance to the presumption in 
favour of the desirability of the preservation of heritage assets including their 
setting. A Heritage Statement has been submitted with the application, this 
identifies the Top Locks Conservation Area and Junction Bridge as being the 
most susceptible to impacts through change within their setting.   

 
6.34 Properties in closest proximity to the canal would be set back from the canal by 

individual rear gardens, and following amendments detailed above, the boundary 
would consist of a 1.1m high ball top railing erected against the existing hedge.  
Existing self-seeded vegetation would be replaced with individual trees within the 
rear gardens of these properties.  Additional planting would take place in the far 
north of the application area to fill the existing gap at this location.   

 
6.35  It is considered that the proposed development would not cause harm to any 

significant element (including views) of the Conservation Area, and would 
preserve the character and appearance of the Conservation Area.  In this respect 

Page 594



27 
 

the proposal meets the statutory test under s.72(1) of the P(LBCA) Act 1990 and 
complies with guidance contained in the NPPF and Policy EN4 of the WLLP. 

 
6.36 With respect to the impact on Junction Bridge I considered that the key elements 

of the setting of this listed bridge, the intimate relationship of the group of 
heritage assets and the visual relationship between them would remain 
unaltered following the proposed development.  Consequently I consider that the 
proposed works would accord with both the NPPF and Policy EN4 of the Local 
Plan and discharge the requirements of S.66 (1) of the P(LBCA) Act 1990.   
 
Highways 
 

 6.37 Policy GN3 of the WLLP states that suitable and safe access, road layout, design 
and adequate parking provision are required in new developments.   Policy IF2 
details parking standards required for residential developments.   
 

6.38  A Transport Statement has been submitted with the application and this makes a 
comparison between the traffic generation of the proposed residential 
development with the extant industrial use and concludes that the development 
will result in a reduction in traffic generated by the site and will significantly reduce 
the impact of goods vehicles that would be associated with the 
industrial/commercial site uses.  The Highway Authority has assessed the 
application and Traffic Assessment and are satisfied that the development traffic 
can be accommodated on the local highway network and will not have an undue 
impact on capacity.   
 

6.39  The proposed access is considered acceptable and sufficient visibility splays and 
pedestrian crossing points (including tactile paving) can be provided.  To aid 
accessibility by sustainable modes of transport the Highway Authority has 
requested that the developer agree to upgrade two bus stops in the vicinity of the 
site to quality bus standards.  However, the upgrading of bus stops is now 
something that is covered by monies secured by CIL payments.   
 

6.40  The Local Plan sets out parking standards for residential developments.  The 
majority of plots meet the required standards however the proposed garages on 
the house type Eynsham (of which there are 8) do not conform to the 
recommended minimum 3m x 6m internal size.   

 
6.41  Garages are seen as not only necessary to accommodate a car but also to 

provide space for the storage of other equipment including bicycles.  The garages 
shown in the proposed layout would be of a sufficient size to accommodate a car 
and in order to address the issue of reduced storage for other items each of the 
plots that feature the „Eynsham‟ will also have a separate storage shed provided 
within each plot curtilage, which will facilitate the storage of equipment that might 
otherwise commonly be found in garages as well.  In this particular case I 
consider this to be acceptable. The site offers opportunities for on street car 

Page 595



28 
 

parking and I am satisfied that the development would not result in conditions that 
would be detrimental the highway safety.   

 
6.42  The site is considered to be a sustainable site as there is an existing cycle way 

along the Leeds Liverpool Canal to the east of the site.  This provides and off road 
cycle and pedestrian route from the site to the centre of Burscough, and there are 
reasonably good pedestrian facilities on Briars Lane and Junction Lane into the 
town centre.  There are facilities in the local environment close to, or within a 
convenient walk of the site, including several schools, retail, commercial and 
employment provision located in Burscough.   

 
6.43 I am satisfied that the proposed development in terms of highway safety and 

parking is acceptable and in accordance with Local Plan requirements. 
 

 Public Open Space 
 
6.44 In terms of open space, Policy EN3.2(d) of the Local Plan requires that where 

deficiencies in existing open recreation space provision exist, new residential 
development will be expected to provide public open space.  The details of these 
open space requirements are set out in the Council‟s Open Space SPD policy 
OS1, which requires 13.5m2 open space to be provided per bedroom on the site.  
For the proposed development, the amount of open space required would be 
0.29ha.   

 
6.45 No on-site open space is proposed as part of the development, and in providing 

justification for the non-provision of open space the applicant refers to the 
existence of three areas of open space in the local area, the nearest of which is 
within the adjacent Heathfields development (600 metres from the site).  
Discussions have taken place between the Council and the applicant in an 
attempt to see if a pedestrian link could be formed in between the proposed site 
and the Heathfields site to make the open space at Delph Drive more easily 
accessible to residents of the new development.  However, the land that would be 
necessary to do this is within private ownership and as such a pedestrian access 
link is not possible.   

 
6.46 The site is also close to Richmond Park (1100m away) and by the walking/biking 

opportunities offered by the adjacent towpath to public recreation facilities at 
Burscough Cricket Club which have recently been enhanced through S106 
contributions (from the adjoining Ivy Close development).  Given that the site is 
within a reasonable distance of existing public open space, the applicant has 
advised that in lieu of an on-site open space they are willing to provide a sum of 
£35,000 to contribute towards the Ormskirk – Burscough Linear Park which is 
intended to provide a variety of uses, including informal recreation facilities.  I am 
satisfied that in this case the requirement to provide on-site open space has been 
adequately compensated for by the financial contribution towards the Linear Park.   

 

Page 596



29 
 

Trees and Landscaping 
 

6.47  Policy EN2 of the Local Plan advises that development involving the loss of, or 
damage to, trees of significant amenity, screening, wildlife or historical value will 
only be permitted where the development is required to meet a need that could 
not be met elsewhere, and where the benefits of the development clearly 
outweigh the loss or damage.   

 
6.48 A Tree Survey Report has been submitted with the application.  The majority of 

the trees on the site are located along the eastern boundary, adjacent to the 
canal, trees on the canalside boundary are to be retained and suitable protection 
measures will be secured by planning condition.  There are some trees that will 
be removed to facilitate the development and these will be compensated for by 
new tree planting (67 new trees will be planted in total) incorporated throughout 
the scheme.   

 
6.49 Tree protection measures can be secured via a planning condition along with the 

implementation of the landscaping scheme.  I am satisfied that the proposal 
accord with Policy GN3 of the Local Plan in this regard.   
 
Drainage  
 

6.50  Policy GN3 of the Local Plan states that the Council will ensure development 
does not result in unacceptable flood risk or drainage problems by requiring 
development to take account of the Council‟s Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
along with advice and guidance from the Lead Local Flood Authority, the 
Environment Agency and the NPPF.  The NPPF advises that when determining 
planning applications, local planning authorities should ensure that flood risk is 
not increased elsewhere.   

 
6.51 The existing site has separate foul and surface water systems on site, with 

surface water being discharged to the Leeds Liverpool Canal under an existing 
licence agreement.  The proposed development will reduce the impermeable area 
on the site, thus reducing the volume of surface water generated and discharged 
off site and reducing the potential for downstream flood risk due to overloading of 
sewers, watercourses, culverts and other drainage infrastructure.  The Lead Local 
Flood Authority have assessed the drainage proposals and confirmed that they 
are acceptable subject to planning conditions in respect of surface water 
management.   
 
Ecology and Protected Species 
 

6.52  Under the terms of Policy EN2 in the Local Plan, development proposals must 
seek to avoid impacts on significant ecological assets and protect and improve 
the biodiversity value of sites.  If significant impacts on biodiversity are 

Page 597



30 
 

unavoidable, then mitigation or as a last resort, compensation, is required to fully 
offset impacts.   
 

6.53 An Extended Phase 1 habitat survey has been submitted with the application 
which concludes that the proposed development is not anticipated to adversely 
affect any statutory or non-statutory designated sites.  Given the nature of the site 
as being dominated by hardstanding, it is considered to be of low ecological value 
largely lacking semi-natural habitats.  The potential for effects on wildlife habitat 
as a result of the proposals is therefore assessed as low.  The report 
recommends appropriate mitigation measures in the form of landscape planting 
and the provision of bat boxes to avoid any potential for adverse effects on 
protected and notable species.  I am therefore satisfied that the proposals comply 
with Policy EN2 of the Local Plan.   

 

 
Financial Benefits 

 
6.54 The scheme will deliver financial benefits in the form of £470,000 New Homes 

Bonus over six years. The development is also CIL liable and would require a CIL 
payment of in the region of £150,000.  The applicant is also proposing to make a 
financial contribution of £35,000 towards the development of the Ormskirk – 
Burscough Linear Park. 
 
Summary 
 

6.55 I consider that on balance, the principle of a residential development on this 
designated employment site is acceptable and in accordance with the 
requirements of the Local Plan and the NPPF.  In terms of affordable housing I 
am satisfied that Vacant Building Credit can be applied in this case and therefore 
the amount of affordable homes to be provided is acceptable.  The proposed 
development is acceptable in terms of layout, appearance and scale.  I am 
satisfied that the proposed development will maintain highway safety and 
adequate car parking will be provided. The layout allows for the provision and 
retention of reasonable levels of amenity for the occupants of future and 
neighbouring properties. Adequate drainage measures are proposed to prevent 
flooding. I find that the proposed development is compliant with Local Plan 
requirements in respect of ecology. 
 

7.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 

7.1 That the decision to grant planning permission be delegated to the Director of 
Development and Regeneration in consultation with the Chairman or Vice 
Chairman of the Planning Committee subject to the applicant entering into a 
planning obligation under S106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to 
secure: 

 

Page 598



31 
 

 The terms and conditions of the affordable houses; 
The payment of £35,000 towards the Ormskirk to Burscough Linear Park; 

 
7.2 That any planning permission granted by the Director of Development and 

Regeneration pursuant to recommendation 7.1 above be subject to the following 
conditions: 

 
Conditions 
 1. The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years 

beginning with the date of this permission. 
 2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with details 

shown on the following plans:- 
  
 Plan reference „Location Plan – LP01‟ received by the Local Planning Authority 

on 18.04.17. 
 Plan reference „Layout – PLA 01F‟ received by the Local Planning Authority on 

05.07.17 
 Plan reference „Indicative Street Scenes - SS 01‟ received by the Local Planning 

Authority on 18.04.17. 
 Plan reference „House Type Pack‟ received by the Local Planning Authority on 

18.04.17. 
 Plan reference „Landscape Proposal 1 of 2 – 4950.08C‟ received by the Local 

Planning Authority on 18.04.17. 
 Plan reference „Landscape Proposal 2 of 2 – 4950.09C‟ received by the Local 

Planning Authority on 18.04.17. 
 Plan reference „Tree Survey and Root Protection Areas – 4950.06 A‟ received by 

the Local Planning Authority on 18.04.17. 
 Plan reference „Tree Root Protection Plan – 4950.07‟ received by the Local 

Planning Authority on 18.04.17. 
 Plan reference „Topographical Land Survey – S14/208‟ received by the Local 

Planning Authority on 18.04.17. 
 Plan reference „1.1m High Railing Detail (Ball Top) – SR 04‟ received by the 

Local Planning Authority on 01.06.17. 
 Plan reference „1.8m High Close Boarded Screen Fence – SF01‟ received by the 

Local Planning Authority on 18.04.17. 
 Plan reference „1.8m High Screen Fence with Trellis Top – SF13‟ received by the 

Local Planning Authority on 18.04.17. 
 Plan reference „1.8m High Personnel Gate – SF19‟ received by the Local 

Planning Authority on 18.04.17. 
 Plan reference „The Evesham – PD41/7/PL1-S2‟ received by the Local Planning 

Authority on 05.07.17. 
 Plan reference „Cycle and Bin Store – BCS03‟ received by the Local Planning 

Authority on 18.04.17. 
 3. Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems. 
 4. No development shall commence until details of the design, based on sustainable 

drainage principles, and implementation of an appropriate surface water 

Page 599



32 
 

sustainable drainage scheme have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. 

 Those details shall include, as a minimum: 
 a) Information about the lifetime of the development, design storm period and 

intensity (1 in 30 & 1 in 100 year + allowance for climate change see EA advice 
Flood risk assessments: climate change allowances'), discharge rates and 
volumes (both pre and post development), temporary storage facilities, the 
methods employed to delay and control surface water discharged from the site, 
and the measures taken to prevent flooding and pollution of the receiving 
groundwater and/or surface waters, including watercourses, and details of floor 
levels in AOD; 

 b) The drainage strategy should demonstrate that the surface water run-off must 
not exceed the existing runoff rate with betterment which has been calculated at 
124 litres per second. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details before the development is completed. 

 c) Flood water exceedance routes, both on and off site; 
 d) A timetable for implementation, including phasing as applicable;  
 The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior 

to first occupation of any of the approved dwellings, or completion of the 
development, whichever is the sooner. Thereafter the drainage system shall be 
retained, managed and maintained in accordance with the approved details. 

 5. No development hereby permitted shall be occupied until the sustainable 
drainage scheme for the site has been completed in accordance with the 
submitted details. The sustainable drainage scheme shall be managed and 
maintained thereafter in accordance with the agreed management and 
maintenance plan. 

 6. Details of an appropriate management and maintenance plan for the sustainable 
drainage system for the lifetime of the development shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing and, as a minimum, shall include: 

 a) The arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory 
undertaker, management and maintenance by a Residents' Management 
Company 

 b) Arrangements concerning appropriate funding mechanisms for its on-going 
maintenance of all elements of the sustainable drainage system (including 
mechanical components) and will include elements such as: 

 i. on-going inspections relating to performance and asset condition assessments 
 ii. operation costs for regular maintenance, remedial works and irregular 

maintenance caused by less sustainable limited life assets or any other 
arrangements to secure the operation of the surface water drainage scheme 
throughout its lifetime; 

 c) Means of access for maintenance and easements where applicable. 
  
 The plan shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to 

first occupation of any of the approved dwellings, or completion of the 
development, whichever is the sooner. Thereafter the sustainable drainage 

Page 600



33 
 

system shall be managed and maintained in accordance with the approved 
details. 

 7. No development shall take place on plots 19-27 and 43-56 until a Risk 
Assessment and Method Statement outlining all works to be carried out adjacent 
to the canal has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The details shall:  

 demonstrate that additional loads from the permanent or any temporary works, 
plant and machinery or storage of materials would not harm the structural 
integrity of the canal infrastructure;  

 include the design, depth and means of construction of the foundations of the 
building on plot 45-56 (King/Hayle) together with any other proposed  

 earthmoving and excavation works required in connection with the construction of 
the building;  

 details specifying how the canal will be protected during the works and include 
any details of proposed protective fencing to be erected to safeguard the 
waterway infrastructure during construction; and  

 include a method statement for safe removal of the trees and their root balls on 
the eastern boundary of the site adjacent to the canal.  

 The development shall only be carried out in strict accordance with the agreed 
Risk Assessment and Method Statement. 

 8. Prior to the commencement of development on plots 19-27 and 43-56 (as shown 
of planPLA01 F, received by the Local Planning Authority 05/07/17) details of 
appropriate mitigation measures to prevent any risk of pollution or harm to the 
adjacent Leeds & Liverpool Canal or its users, both during 
demolition/construction and on completion of the development, shall be submitted 
to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall also 
include:  

 measures to locate, clear, remediate and permanently seal any existing drains or 
culverts within the application site that may discharge to the canal;  

 include the steps to be taken to prevent the discharge of silt-laden run-off, 
materials or dust or any accidental spillages entering the canal; and  

 details specifying how the canal will be protected during the works and include 
any details of proposed protective fencing to be erected to safeguard the 
waterway infrastructure during construction;  

 The approved measures shall thereafter be carried out in full accordance with the 
agreed details.  

 9. Prior to the development being built above slab level a scheme for the installation 
of oil and fuel interceptors to be incorporated into the surface water drainage 
scheme shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the local planning. The 
agreed details shall be carried out in full. 

10. The submitted remediation scheme shall be implemented as part of the 
development of the site and shall be followed by a completion report containing 
appropriate validation certification, also to be approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

11. Prior to construction details of a package of acoustic treatment of all the rear 
windows on dwellings at plot numbers 57 to 62 and an acoustic fence to the 

Page 601



34 
 

garden rear boundary shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

12.  Within a period of 9 months from the date when any part of the development is 
brought into use the approved landscaping scheme shall be carried out. All 
planting shall be maintained and dead or dying material shall be replaced for a 
period of seven years from the agreed date of planting. 

13. No development shall take place until a Method Statement detailing measures to 
be taken during construction to protect the health of the existing trees has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
measures contained in the approved Method Statement shall be fully 
implemented during construction. 

14. The development shall be constructed from the materials detailed in the Design 
and Access Statement received by the Local Planning Authority 18.04.17. 

15. For the full period of construction, facilities shall be available on site for the 
cleaning of the wheels of vehicles leaving the site and such equipment shall be 
used as necessary to prevent mud and stones being carried onto the highway. 
The roads adjacent to the site shall be mechanically swept as required during the 
full construction period. 

16. No dwelling shall be occupied until the associated off road car parking spaces are 
laid out and available for use in accordance with the approved plan. 

17. The new estate road for the residential development shall be constructed in 
accordance with the Lancashire County Council Specification for Construction of 
Estate Roads to at least base course level up to the entrance of the site 
compound before any development takes place within the site and shall be 
further extended before any development commences fronting the new access 
road. 

18. No part of the development shall be commenced until the visibility splays 
measuring 2.4 metres by 43 metres are provided, measured along the centre line 
of the proposed new road from the continuation of the nearer edge of the existing 
carriageway of Firswood Road, to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. 
The land within these splays shall be maintained thereafter, free from 
obstructions such as walls, fences, trees, hedges, shrubs, ground growth or other 
structures within the splays in excess of 1.0 metre in height above the height at 
the centre line of the adjacent carriageway. 

19. No part of the development hereby approved shall commence until a scheme for 
the construction of the site access and the off-site works of highway improvement 
has been submitted to, and approved by, the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with the Highway Authority as part of a section 278 agreement, 
under the Highways Act 1980. 

20. No construction works shall be commenced until details of the proposed 
arrangements for future management and maintenance of the proposed streets 
within the development have been submitted to and approved by the local 
planning authority. The streets shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with 
the approved management and maintenance details until such time as an 
agreement has been entered into under section 38 of the Highways Act 1980 or a 
private management and Maintenance Company has been established. 

Page 602



35 
 

21. No development shall take place until full details of the finished levels of all parts 
of the site, including the floor levels of all buildings, have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 
implemented in accordance with those details. 

22. Details of the garden sheds to be provided on those plots containing Eynsham 
properties shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved sheds shall be installed on those plots containing 
Eynsham properties prior to occupation of the dwellings. 

 
Reasons 
 1. Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990. 
 2. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the provisions of 

Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development 
Plan Document. 

 3. To secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding and pollution. 
 4. To ensure that the proposed development can be adequately drained and that 

there is no flood risk on or off the site resulting from the proposed Development 
 5. To ensure that the drainage for the proposed development can be adequately 

maintained and to ensure that there is no flood risk on- or off-the site resulting 
from the proposed development or resulting from inadequate the maintenance of 
the sustainable drainage system. 

 6. To ensure that appropriate and sufficient funding and maintenance mechanisms 
are put in place for the lifetime of the development.  To reduce the flood risk to 
the development as a result of inadequate maintenance. To identify the 
responsible organisation/body/company/undertaker for the sustainable drainage 
system. 

 7. To protect the structural stability of the canal infrastructure which could be 
adversely affected by the development and to accord with the advice and 
guidance relating to land stability contained in Paragraphs 120 and 121 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework March 2012. 

 8. In the interests of protecting the adjacent waterway infrastructure in accordance 
with the NPPF paras.109 and 121 and policy GN3 (point 5v, vi and vii) of the 
West Lancashire Local Plan. 

 9. In the interests of minimising the risk of contaminated surface water run-off from 
the development adversely affecting water quality in the Leeds & Liverpool canal, 
and to accord with the advice and guidance contained in Paragraph 120 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework and policy GN3 (point 5v and vi) of the West 
Lancashire Local Plan. 

10. To ensure that the development is adequately protected against potentially 
contaminated land and so complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the 
adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

11. To safeguard the amenity of future occupiers and so comply with the provisions 
of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document. 

Page 603



36 
 

12. To assimilate the proposed development into its surroundings and to ensure that 
the development complies with the provisions of Policy EN2 in the adopted West 
Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

13. To safeguard the health of the trees and so ensure that the proposed 
development complies with the provisions of Policies GN3 & EN2 in the adopted 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

14. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the provisions of 
Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development 
Plan Document. 

15. To prevent stones and mud being carried onto the public highway to the 
detriment of road safety. 

16. Vehicles reversing to and from the highway are a hazard to other road users. 
17. To ensure that satisfactory access is provided to the site before the development 

hereby permitted becomes operative. 
18. To ensure adequate visibility at the street junction or site access in the interest of 

highway safety in accordance with Quality of Development Policy and Transport 
Policy in the Local Plan. 

19. In order to satisfy the Local Planning Authority and Highway Authority that the 
final details of the highway scheme/works are acceptable before work 
commences on site and to enable all construction traffic to enter and leave the 
premises in a safe manner without causing a hazard to other road users. 

20. To safeguard the safety and interests of the users of the highway and to ensure 
that the development complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

21. To safeguard the amenity of adjacent properties and the area generally and so 
comply with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local 
Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

22. To provide cycle parking on those plots where the garage does not have 
sufficient space to accommodate both a car and cycles and to ensure that the 
development complies with the provisions of Policies GN3 & IF2 in the adopted 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 
Notes 
 1. For the avoidance of doubt, this response does not grant the applicant 

permission to connect to the ordinary watercourses/culvert and, once planning 
permission has been obtained, it does not mean that land drainage consent will 
be given.  The applicant should obtain Land Drainage Consent from Lancashire 
County Council before starting any works on site. Information on the application 
process and relevant forms can be found here: 
http://new.lancashire.gov.uk/roads-parking-and-travel/roads/flooding/alterations-
to-awatercourse. 

 2. "The applicant/developer is advised to contact The Third Party Works Team 
((01782 779909)) in order to ensure that any necessary consents are obtained 
and that the works comply with the Canal & River Trust "Code of Practice for 
Works affecting the Canal & River Trust".  

Page 604



37 
 

 The applicant/developer is advised to contact the Canal & River Trust Utilities 
Team at the Wigan Office on 01942 405766 to discuss the acceptability of 
discharging surface water from the site to the adjacent canal in order to ensure 
that any necessary consents are obtained. Please be advised that the Trust is not 
a land drainage authority, and such discharges are not granted as of right- where 
they are granted, they will usually be subject to completion of a commercial 
agreement. 

 
Reason for Approval 
 1. The Local Planning Authority has considered the proposed development in the 

context of the Development Plan including, in particular, the following 
Policy/Policies in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document: 

  
 SP1 - A Sustainable Development Framework for West Lancashire 
 GN1 - Settlement Boundaries 
 GN3 - Criteria for Sustainable Development 
 EC1 - The Economy and Employment Land 
 RS1 - Residential Development 
 RS2 - Affordable and Specialist Housing  
 IF2 - Enhancing Sustainable Transport Choice 
 IF3 - Service Accessibility and Infrastructure for Growth 
 IF4 - Developer Contributions  
 EN1 - Low Carbon Development and Energy Infrastructure 
 EN2 - Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire's Natural Environment 
 EN3 - Provision of Green Infrastructure and Open Recreation Space 
 EN4 - Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire's Cultural and Heritage Assets 
  
 together with Supplementary Planning Guidance and all relevant material 

considerations.  The Local Planning Authority considers that the proposal 
complies with the relevant Policy criteria and is acceptable in the context of all 
relevant material considerations as set out in the Officer's Report. This report can 
be viewed or a copy provided on request to the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 
 
  

Page 605



38 
 

 
No.3 APPLICATION 

NO. 
2017/0475/FUL 

 LOCATION 2 Millstone Court Burscough Ormskirk Lancashire L40 5ST  
 

 PROPOSAL Conversion of the garage space to habitable 
accommodation. 

 APPLICANT Mr John Radcliffe 
 WARD Burscough East 
 PARISH Burscough 
 TARGET DATE 27th June 2017 
 

 
1.0 REFERRAL 
 
1.1 This application was to be determined under the Council's delegation scheme 

however Councillor D. Evans has requested it be referred to Committee to 
assess the merits of the application to convert the garage to residential use. 

 
2.0 PREVIOUS RELEVANT DECISIONS 
 
2.1 2005/1145 REFUSED-ALLOWED ON APPEAL. Erection of 58 dwellings; 

demolition of part of existing mill and conversion of the remainder into 52 
apartments; conversion of Chimney House into 2 apartments and Mansion House 
into 3 apartments; provision of public open space, car parking and estate roads. 

 
2.2 2012/0549 GRANTED. Erection of 66 dwellings; demolition of part of existing mill 

and conversion of remainder into 50 apartments; conversion of chimney house 
into 2 apartments and mansion house into 4 apartments; provision of public open 
space; car parking and estate roads. (12.12.2012) The above permission is 
subject to the following condition: 

 
Condition No. 11- Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (Amendment) (No.2) (England) 2008 
or any subsequent Orders or statutory provision re-enacting the provisions of 
these Orders, the integral and detached garages shall be maintained as such and 
shall not be converted to or used for living accommodation without prior written 
approval of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
2.3 2016/0344/FUL – REFUSED - Convert existing garage to a habitable room. 

APPEAL DISMISSED 
 
3.0 OBSERVATIONS OF CONSULTEES 
 
3.1 Burscough Parish Council (08/06/17) 

Page 606



39 
 

Concerned that in newer developments such as this, the cumulative effects of 
converting garages to habitable accommodation can cause increased street 
parking and associated reduced amenity for neighbours, reduce road safety, risk 
of obstruction for emergency vehicles etc. While there is sympathy for the 
applicant, there is concern that a precedent is being set that could have 
implications for the large number of new developments recently built or planned, 
which have also been designed with minimum parking standards. Secondly, if the 
loss of a parking space results in the dwelling no longer meeting minimum 
standards for parking provision, then the application should be refused 

 
3.2 County Surveyor (29/06/17) 
 

I note that the applicant claims the current garage dimensions are so narrow it is 
practically unusable as a parking space. However, the garage can accommodate 
small to medium size cars and I cannot agree with the applicant that the 
proposed conversion will not result in the loss of a parking space and have no 
impact on on-street parking. In the circumstance if your council are minded to 
allow the proposed conversion, I would strongly recommend that the developer 
provide an additional parking space within the curtilage of no. 2  i.e. with the 
conversion of garden space to parking to offset the loss of the garage space. 

 
4.0 OTHER REPRESENTATIONS 
 
4.1 None. 
 
5.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
5.1 The applicant has submitted a supporting statement, the key points of which can 

be summarised as follows: 
 

The garage for this house has internal dimensions of 4.8m (L) x 2.56m (W). The 
width of the garage is reduced to 2.36m because of a soil pipe; 
It is impossible to open a car door and exit the vehicle when parked in the 
garage; 

 The conversion of the garage will not result in an increase in on street parking 
and cannot be counted as a parking space; 

 A recent application for the same house type “Barrington” on application 
2017/0077/FUL for the Conversion of Garage to habitable accommodation was 
granted on 20th April 2017 due to special circumstances, namely the narrowness 
of the garage making it difficult to use the space for parking vehicles; 
The proposal would retain 2no. car parking spaces on the site frontage. 

 
6.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES 
 
6.1 The site is located within the Key Service Centre of Burscough as designated in 

the West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD. 

Page 607



40 
 

 
6.2 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the West Lancashire Local 

Plan 2012-2027 DPD provide the policy framework against which the 
development proposals will be assessed. 

 
National Planning Policy Framework 
Requiring good design 
 
West Lancashire Local Plan Policies 
SP1 - Sustainable Development Framework for West Lancashire 
GN1 - Settlement Boundaries 
GN3 - Criteria for Sustainable Development 
IF2 - Enhancing Sustainable Transport Choice 

 
6.3 Supplementary Planning Document - Design Guide (January 2008) 
 
7.0 OBSERVATIONS OF DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 

Site Description 
 
7.1 The application property is a recently built, 5 bedroom, detached house in a court 

yard location. It sits in a row of 4 properties opposite 4 similar properties. The 
property has an integral garage, two off road car parking spaces and small front 
garden. 

 
The Proposal/ Background  

 
7.2 This planning application is made to covert the existing garage into a habitable 

room.  Planning permission is required because condition 11 of planning 
permission 2012/0549 removed permitted development rights. Planning 
permission was sought for the conversion of the garage in 2016. The application 
was refused and the subsequent appeal dismissed. The Inspector commented as 
follows: 

 
“The appellant has indicated that he is unable to use the integral garage at No. 2 
to park his car, as it is too small to accommodate it, and so the proposed 
conversion would not result in the loss of a parking space. In support of that view, 
he has drawn attention to guidance concerning minimum garage size contained 
within the Joint Lancashire Structure Plan SPG „access and parking‟, March 
2005, and the Manual for Streets, which refer to a space 3 metres by 6 metres. 
No. 2‟s garage is smaller than this. Nonetheless, the guidance referred to relates 
to circumstances in which a parked car together with storage space is to be 
accommodated. It does not automatically follow that a smaller garage would be 
unable to accommodate a car on its own. 
 

Page 608



41 
 

The appellant has suggested that a garage with a floor area less than 3 metres 
by 6 metres would not be counted by the Highway Authority as a parking space. 
However, this is contrary to the formal, written, consultation response of the 
Highway Authority, which clearly states that a parking space would be lost by 
converting the garage and a replacement space would be required. I give greater 
weight to the Highway Authority‟s formal response 
 
“I acknowledge that the width of the garage, less than 2.6 metres, limits the 
scope of its use to some degree; a view broadly consistent with that expressed 
by my colleague who determined appeal Ref. APP/P2365/D/16/3142094, related 
to a garage conversion at a site in Ormskirk. I have no reason to doubt that, due 
to the limited dimensions of the garage, it would difficult, if not impractical, to use 
it for large or even medium sized cars, such as the Ford Focus referred to by the 
appellant. Nonetheless, in my judgement, small vehicles could be 
accommodated. Whilst this may be of little use to the appellant, it does not 
automatically follow that future residents would not use it for that purpose. I 
consider that it is reasonable to regard it as providing a parking space, albeit 
restricted in capacity, which would be lost as a consequence of the proposed 
development.” 

 
Assessment 

 
7.3 The main considerations for this application are as follows: 
 

Design and Visual Impact 
Impact on residential amenity 
Impact upon Parking and Highway Safety 
Design and Visual Impact 

 
7.4 Policy GN3 of the West Lancashire Local Plan DPD (2012-2027) states that in 

the cases of extensions, conversions or alterations to existing buildings, the 
proposal should relate to the existing building in terms of design and materials 
and should not detract from the character of the street scene. 

 
7.5 The design of the proposed window treatment is reflective of the existing 

fenestration on the original dwelling and does not detract from the architectural 
style of the host dwelling or the character of the street scene. The materials used 
match those used on the existing dwelling and are therefore acceptable. The 
conversion in my opinion is acceptable in terms of design and compliant with 
Policy GN3 of the West Lancashire Local Plan (2012-2027) and the SPD Design 
Guide. 

 
Impact on residential amenity 

 
7.6 Policy GN3 requires that new development should retain „reasonable levels of 

privacy and amenity for occupiers of the proposed and neighbouring properties‟. 

Page 609



42 
 

Given the modest scale of the development I do not consider there to be any 
significant adverse impact on neighbour amenity created. 

 

 
Impact on Parking & Highway Safety 

 
7.7 The applicant‟s dwelling house is a five bedroom property and Policy IF2 of the 

Local Plan recommends that dwellings with four or more bedrooms should 
provide three car parking spaces within the curtilage of the site. The conversion 
of the single integrated garage for habitable use would result in the loss of one 
car parking space, with two off road parking spaces remaining. As such the 
parking provision for the application site would fail to accord with the parking 
standards outlined in Policy IF2.  

 
7.8 At the time of the site visit, it was evident that the estate provides limited 

opportunity for on-street parking as the design of the residential roads is 
predicated on adequate off street parking to ensure the safety of cyclists, 
pedestrians, other road users and children playing in the street. If allowed, the 
development would be likely to lead to a detrimental increase in on street parking 
and manoeuvring over the pedestrian footway to the detriment of highway safety 
in the vicinity of the site and general amenity of the locality. Subsequently it would 
be difficult for the Council to resist similar applications which would exacerbate 
the on street parking problem. Therefore I consider that the development would 
result in an under provision of on-site parking for this type and scale of 
development. 

 
7.9 In appeal decision (APP/P2365/D/16/3142094) for the conversion of a garage at 

61 Stone Mason Crescent in Ormskirk, the Inspector found that the conversion of 
the garage and the loss of off street parking would, due to lack of on street 
parking within the estate, result in danger to highway safety. Furthermore the 
Inspector found that the development should not be supported as it would make it 
more difficult for the Council to resist further planning applications for similar 
developments, and the cumulative effect of such conversions would exacerbate 
the harm to highway safety.  

 
7.10 Planning permission has already been refused for the conversion of the garage at 

2 Millstone Court and dismissed at appeal. The Inspector‟s views referred to in 
paragraph 7.2 above are material to the consideration of this application. In my 
opinion as the conversion of the garage has already been refused and dismissed 
at appeal and the highway conditions have not altered, the proposed 
development remains unacceptable in principle.  

 
Other Issues 

 
7.11 The supporting statement indicates that the garage dimensions are so narrow it is 

unusable as a parking space.  The LCC standards are a guide only and 6 x 3m 

Page 610



43 
 

garages are generally required to allow for both car parking and some domestic 
storage.  The 2012 Planning Permission (2012/0549/FUL) for the estate the 
smaller garage sizes were considered as acceptable and constituted one parking 
space. 

 
7.12 My opinion remains that as there are no side driveways within the locality; 

kerbside parking is at a premium within the estate and as such allowing 
conversion of garages would set a precedent given that the wider development is 
subject to the same restrictive conditions. 

 
Summary 

 
7.13 I conclude that the loss of off-street parking space would, due to the limited street 

parking within the Estate, result in danger to highway safety of cyclists, 
pedestrians and other road users. This would therefore be contrary to Policies 
GN3 and IF2 of the Local Plan, and to the objective within the Design Guide 2008 
to avoid the loss of off street parking spaces. 

 
Recommendation 

 
7.14 That planning permission be refused on the grounds that: 
 
Reasons for Refusal 
 1. The proposed development conflicts with Policies GN3 and IF2 of the West 

Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 in that it would result in an under provision of 
on-site parking for the associated dwelling, to the detriment of highway safety. 

 
 
  

Page 611



44 
 

 
No.4 APPLICATION 

NO. 
2016/0516/FUL 

 LOCATION Land To The North Of Meadowbrook Burscough 
Lancashire   
 

 PROPOSAL Erection of 124 dwellings, public open space, landscaping 
and associated infrastructure. 

 APPLICANT UKLP Estates (Burscough) Ltd And Bloor Homes Ltd 
 WARD Burscough West 
 PARISH Burscough 
 TARGET DATE 31st August 2016 
 

 
1.0 PREVIOUS RELEVANT DECISIONS 
 
1.1 2014/1054/SCO - Scoping Opinion - Residential-led mixed-use development - 

Development IS EIA development (25.11.2014) 
 
1.2 2015/0171/OUT - Outline application (including details of access) for the erection 

of up to 580 dwellings (C3); Extra Care or Care Accommodation (C2); a Local 
Centre (comprising up to 500m2 of A1, A2, A3, A4 and A5 floorspace; and 
community uses); the construction of 4.6 hectares of Employment Development 
(up to 13,800m2 of B1, B2 and B8 floorspace); the provision of open space and 
associated recreation facilities (including parkland, allotments, play areas, a 
linear park, cycle and pedestrian facilities); together with the provision of related 
infrastructure including the construction of drainage works (including sustainable 
urban drainage systems), roads, services and related utilities; and associated 
works. GRANTED 20.03.2017 

 
2.0 CONSULTEE RESPONSES 
 
2.1 LCC HIGHWAYS (08/05/2017 and 30/01/2017) - Object to the proposed 

development without the full widening and signalisation of the A59/Square Lane 
junction.  Site access to Meadowbrook is satisfactory. Internal site layout and 
parking is acceptable. Measures proposed to support access for pedestrians and 
cyclists are appropriate. The developer has agreed to upgrade two bus stops 
close to the site on the A59 to quality bus standards.  A more detailed Travel Plan 
is required by condition and a commuted sum of £6,000 required to enable LCC 
to monitor and provide advice on the Travel Plan. A commuted sum of £128,000 
is required to facilitate the provision of buses to the site. A commuted sum of 
£254 per unit for 5 years is required to support delivery of personalised travel 
plan measures such as a contribution towards a bicycle and mega-rider bus 
tickets. If minded to approve a number of conditions recommended. 

 
2.2 POLICE ARCHITECTURAL LIAISON OFFICER (06.06.2016.) – No objections   

Page 612



45 
 

 
2.3 NATURAL ENGLAND (22.06.2016) – No objections. 
 
2.4 UNITED UTILITIES (29.06.2017) – No objections.   
 
2.5 LEAD LOCAL FLOOD AUTHORITY (10.07.2017, 14.02.2017 and 26.08.2016) – 

Further information submitted to support the application has demonstrated that 
the development can be achievable without increasing flood risk. The LLFA 
therefore withdraws its objection subject to conditions. 

 
2.6 MERSEYSIDE ENVIRONMENTAL ADVISORY SERVICE (03.10.2017 and 

27.06.2016) – No objection. The proposals, submitted by the applicant, have 
been considered for the possibility of likely significant effects under the Habitats 
Regulations using the source-pathway-receptor model.  There are no pathways 
that could give rise to likely significant effects on the European sites and the 
proposals do not warrant a detailed Habitats Regulations Assessment report. 
Natural England has confirmed that it is satisfied the development would not 
result in likely significant effect alone or in combination as no pink footed goose 
was recorded using the site. The submitted bat survey is acceptable. The Council 
does not need to consider the proposals against the three tests (Habitats 
Regulations) or consult Natural England with regards to bats.  

 
2.7 DIRECTOR OF LEISURE AND WELLBEING (13.07.2016) - No objections in 

principle. Conditions recommended regarding electrical vehicle charging points, 
the submission of an environmental management plan and noise from the 
construction phase.  

 
3.0 OTHER REPRESENTATIONS 
 
3.1 CAMPAIGN TO PROTECT RURAL ENGLAND (CPRE) West Lancashire District 

Group (23.06.2016) – The release of safeguarded land at this stage in the Local 
Plan period would not comply with the NPPF and would fundamentally undermine 
the Local Plan.   There is a need for a flood risk and drainage strategy to ensure 
the development will be safe for its lifetime without increasing flood risk 
elsewhere. 

 
3.2  BURSCOUGH PARISH COUNCIL (29.06.2016) – Objects for the following 

reasons: 
 

Access off Meadowbrook directly onto A59 is in conflict with Master Plan; 
Lack of highway capacity and unsuitable narrow roads and pavements in vicinity; 
Air quality at Square Lane junction should be assessed; 
Contravention of Master Plan, this site is safeguarded for development if 
required, after 2027 and Master Plan will be undermined if approved; 
No evidence that additional housing required; 
Would produce fragmented development with no connectivity across the site; 

Page 613



46 
 

Impact on drainage, flood risk and sewage; 
Provides no contribution to infrastructure, poor amenity and open space; 
Appropriate community space should be provided; 
Doesn‟t enhance quality of built environment in Burscough. 

 
3.3 I have received 18 individual letters of objection to the proposal raising the 

following concerns: 
 

Development is not in accordance with the local plan or the Master Plan; 
Will make flooding worse in Burscough; 
Will add to severe traffic congestion; 
Will cause job losses and damage to farming; 
Location of proposed sewage pumping station will be at risk of flooding from the 
adjacent watercourse; 
Any additional increase in sewage to the network will increase risk of sewage 
network flooding; 
Lack of through road and cycle provision to Ormskirk; 
Loss of productive agricultural land; 
Houses should be carbon neutral and should include technology for tapping into 
geothermal energy to generate electricity; 
The “build” total number of houses for the Local plan period has already been 
met; 
This is safeguarded land and Plan B sites should be considered first if there is a 
shortfall. The release of the Plan B site in Aughton is being defended against and 
allowing the safeguarded land in Burscough to be built on would be self-
contradictory and set a precedent; 
Loss of wildlife – brown hares and bats on the site; 
Loss of light and privacy; 
Increase in noise and pollution; 
Lack of local amenities – schools, doctors and dentists; 
Increased on-street parking; 
Incongruous to build two houses in a small cul-de-sac of bungalows; 
Impact on the landscape; 
Impact on Listed Building and the setting of Yew Tree House; 
Loss of historic access into field from adjoining property; 
Inaccuracies in application site boundary; 
Sewage pumping station within buffer of Listed Building and will cause odour and 
noise and a risk of sewage filled flooding; 
Damage will be caused to Listed Building through increased traffic and 
construction; 
Loss of light to existing solar panels on adjacent dwelling making them less 
efficient; 
Loss of trees. 

 
3.4 I have received 24 letters of support from residents of Burscough, Skelmersdale 

and Ormskirk who express the need for more affordable housing in Burscough 

Page 614



47 
 

 

 
4.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
4.1 The application is supported by the following information: 
 Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy 
 Planning Statement 
 Crime Impact Statement 
 Arboricultural Impact Assessment  
 Transport Assessment and Travel Plan 
 Ecological Assessment 
 Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 

Design and Access Statement 
 Phase 1 Site Investigation Report 
 Heritage Statement 

Minerals Assessment Report 
Affordable Housing Statement 
Sustainability Statement 

 
5.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES 
 
5.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), National Planning Policy 

Guidance (NPPG) and the West Lancashire Local Plan (2012-2027) DPD provide 
the policy framework against which the development will be assessed. 

 
5.2 The site is allocated as SP3 – Yew Tree Farm, Burscough – A Strategic 

Development Site  
 

Relevant West Lancashire Local Plan (2012-2027) DPD policies: 
SP1 – A Sustainable Development Framework for West Lancashire 
GN1 – Settlement Boundaries 
GN3 – Criteria for Sustainable Development 
RS1 – Residential Development 
RS2 – Affordable and Specialist Housing 
EC1 – The Economy and Employment Land 
IF1 – Maintaining Vibrant Town and Local Centres 
IF2 – Enhancing Sustainable Transport Choice 
IF3 – Service Accessibility and Infrastructure for Growth 
IF4 – Developer Contributions 
EN1 – Low Carbon Development and Energy Infrastructure 
EN2 – Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire‟s Natural Environment 
EN3 – Provision of Green Infrastructure and Open Recreation Space 
EN4 - Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire‟s Built Environment 
The site is also within a Mineral Safeguarding Area and therefore an assessment 
of whether or not the site should be retained for future mineral extraction should 

Page 615



48 
 

be made in order to accord with Policy M2 of the Lancashire Minerals and Sites 
Allocation and Development Management Policies Local Plan.   

 
5.3 Additionally the following supplementary planning documents are relevant: 
 

SPD – Yew Tree Farm Masterplan (Feb 2015) 
SPD - Open Space (July 2014). 
SPD – Design Guide (Jan 2008) 

 
6.0 OBSERVATIONS OF DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 

 
The Site 

 
6.1 The site subject of this application is triangular in shape and is approximately 4.9 

hectares. It is located off Meadowbrook, a small cul-de-sac that leads directly of 
the northern side of Liverpool Road South (A59). The site extends to the rear of 
143 – 191 Liverpool Road North, Meadowbrook and along the boundary with 10 
and 12 Springfield Close.  There are a number of mature trees and hedgerows 
along the boundaries and a ditch crosses the eastern part of site running from 
south to north.  The land to the west of the ditch is in arable agricultural use and 
the land to the east is meadowland. 

   
6.2 The area around the site has a mixed character. To the east and south lie the 

mainly built up residential areas of Burscough and to the north and west lie 
agricultural fields.  The site is relatively flat, although there is a slight fall from 
south to north. 

 
 The Proposal 
 
6.3 It is proposed to erect 124 dwellings comprising the following mix: 

44 x 4 bed detached dwellings 
12 x 3 bed detached dwellings 
27 x 3 bed end/mid terraced dwellings 
26 x 2 bed apartments or end/mid terraced dwellings 
7 x 2 bed bungalows 
8 x 1 bed apartment or end/mid terraced dwellings  
 
Of the above properties, 43no. will be provided as affordable dwellings (35%). 

 
6.4 The majority of the dwellings have private driveways and gardens, with some of 

the smaller properties sharing parking courts. There is a single access point off 
the existing cul-de-sac of Meadowbrook to the south of the site and the majority 
of the properties front the main access as it runs through the site providing a 
circular route with cul-de-sacs leading off it.  Two pedestrian/cyclepath links have 
been indicated to the north of the site in order to provide linkage to the future Yew 
Tree Farm site.   A small area of public open space is provided near the entrance 

Page 616



49 
 

of the proposed development, with areas of informal open space around the 
existing ditch running through the site. A swale is located along the northern 
boundary and a foul sewage pumping station is located in the south eastern 
corner of the site adjacent to the existing ditch.   

 
 Principle of Development 
 
6.5 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the Government‟s 

planning polices for England and is a material consideration in planning 
decisions. It advocates that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to 
the achievement of sustainable development, by performing an economic, social 
and environmental role. At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. In order to deliver a wide choice of housing, the NPPF 
advocates the importance of meeting locally identified need/demand and 
ensuring a rolling five year supply of deliverable housing sites to meet these 
requirements. Paragraph 49 of the NPPF advises that relevant policies for the 
supply of housing should not be considered up to date if the Local Planning 
Authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites.   

 
6.6 National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) sets out further detailed guidance on 

the interpretation of the NPPF. Specific guidance is provided on transport 
assessments, open space, natural and historic environment, ecology, flood risk, 
housing and planning obligations. 

 
6.7 The application site is located within the Key Service Centre of Burscough and 

within the settlement boundary, as set out within the Local Plan. As such it 
accords with the principles of Policy SP1 which encourages the vast majority of 
new development to be focused within the Key Service Centres of the Borough.  
In respect of Policy GN1 Settlement Boundaries, as the development proposal is 
on a greenfield site it must be assessed against other relevant policies within the 
Local Plan including land designations and allocations. These are set out below. 

 
6.8 Consistent with NPPF‟s approach, the adopted Local Plan allocated a significant 

amount of land at Yew Tree Farm as a strategic development site to deliver a 
mixed residential and employment-led development. The site falls within the 
strategic development site; however, it is located within land specifically 
safeguarded from development under Policies SP3 and GN2 of the Local Plan. 

 
6.9 Policy SP3 states that “The Strategic Development Site will involve the release of 

approximately 74 ha of Green Belt to enable development but it is anticipated that 
approximately 30ha of this will be safeguarded from development until at least 
2027. The precise layout of the site will be defined through a separate masterplan 
that will be prepared in consultation with local residents. Development of the site 
will be required to conform to this masterplan and planning permission shall not 
be granted until the comprehensive master planning exercise has taken place.” 

 

Page 617



50 
 

6.10 Policy GN2 advises that “The land identified on the Policies Map as safeguarded 
land is within the settlement boundaries but will be protected from development 
and planning permission will be refused for development proposals which would 
prejudice the development of this land in the future.”  
The Policy then goes on to state that the safeguarding is necessary for one of 
two reasons including “It is safeguarded from development for needs beyond 
2027 – these sites will only be considered for development after 2027 if there is 
not a sufficient supply of other suitable sites within the settlement boundaries to 
meet any identified development needs at that time.”  

 
6.11 As stated above, whilst the site is within “Land at Yew Tree Farm” and listed 

under Policy GN2 (b)(i), it is not marked on the Policies Map within the Local Plan 
as being specifically safeguarded.  This is because the precise boundaries of 
safeguarded land were to be determined through the adoption of a Masterplan.   

 
6.12 The Yew Tree Farm Masterplan was adopted by the Council in February 2015 

and was subject to consultation with the wider community. The Masterplan clearly 
sets out which land should be delivered first – within the Local Plan period, up to 
2027 and which land should be safeguarded for potential future development 
beyond 2027.  The land subject to this application is sited within an area marked 
as Development Area Two. Development Area Two is “safeguarded from 
development (by the LPA) until such time as West Lancashire‟s growth needs 
require the release of this land” and was intended to be following the end of the 
current plan period i.e. after 2027.   

 
6.13 Since the land falls within that safeguarded for development beyond 2027, its 

development at the current time would be contrary to Policies GN2, SP3 and the 
Yew Tree Farm Masterplan. 

 
 Housing Land Supply 
 
6.14 The applicant makes the case that the West Lancashire Local Plan is out of date 

in respect of the provision of a five year housing land supply and this reduces the 
weight which can be afforded to Policy SP3.  The applicant also considers that 
the development is only contrary to that part of Policy SP3 that relates to the 
phasing of development as part of the Masterplan, rather than the principle of 
development at the site.  The applicant goes on to consider that because the 
Council does not have a 5 year supply of housing, the application should be 
considered against the presumption in favour of sustainable development and 
this site is sustainable.  In addition, the applicant considers that the proposed 
development would not prejudice the Yew Tree Farm Masterplan as it would not 
prevent the remainder of the site coming forward for the identified development, 
so there is no “harm” caused. 

 

Page 618



51 
 

6.15  The applicant sets out why it is considered the Council does not have a five year 
housing land supply and indicates specifically that, in their view, the supply would 
be 2.99 years with a 5% buffer, or 2.62 years with a 20% buffer.  

 
6.16 I disagree with this view. Whilst it is noted that the applicant has provided a 

detailed housing land supply assessment, the position that has been taken (in 
May 2016) was based upon the five year period 2015-2020. This was done in 
order to compare the figures attributed to the Councils Annual Monitoring Report 
(AMR) 2015, which covered the same period, but was published in June 2015, 
nearly a full year earlier.  Whilst I have no criticism of this approach, I must 
consider the most up to date available data in assessing the submitted 
application.  The Council has just published the AMR 2017, which includes the up 
to date position on housing completions to 31st March 2017 and the housing land 
supply position for 2017-2022. 

 
6.17 The Council‟s housing land requirement (including a 5% buffer) for 2017-2022 is 

2,027 dwellings.  After full analysis of housing land supply on a site by site basis, 
the total supply (net) of new housing over the period 2017-2022 is forecast to be 
2,155 dwellings.  This means that West Lancashire has 5.32 years of supply.  

 
6.18 If a Council cannot demonstrate a five-year housing land supply for its area, 

policies for the supply of housing in the Local Plan are considered out-of-date 
and can be given less weight in a planning decision as a result (although the 
weight to be given will depend on the particular circumstances of the case).  
Given that the Council can demonstrate a five-year housing land supply, policies 
for the supply of housing in West Lancashire would not be considered out-of-date 
and should be given significant weight in any decision.  In considering the policies 
relevant to this site (Policies GN2 and SP3 as well as the Masterplan), and 
notwithstanding any other matters such as highways, drainage or the general 
sustainability merits of the sites, the proposed development at Meadowbrook is 
not policy compliant given that the site is located on safeguarded land and is not 
consistent with WLLP Policy SP3 or the Yew Tree Farm Masterplan SPD in 
particular.  Therefore, it needs to be considered whether there any specific 
material considerations that would outweigh the Local Plan allocation. 

 
 Affordable Housing and Provision of Accommodation for the Elderly 
  
6.19 Policies RS1 and RS2 of the Local Plan along with the Masterplan require that up 

to 35% of the units on the site must be affordable.  Furthermore, it is a 
requirement that at least 20% of the total number of residential units on the site 
(which should include some of the affordable units) should be designed 
specifically to accommodate the elderly.  The applicant has agreed to the full 
requirement of affordable housing, amounting to 43 units in a mix of bungalow, 
one, two and three bed houses/apartments. Eight of the units would be shared 
ownership tenure and 35 would be affordable rent in accordance with the housing 
need for the area and agreed in principle with the Council‟s Housing Strategy 

Page 619



52 
 

Manager.  In addition, 10% of the properties are considered to constitute 
accommodation suitable for the elderly and a further 10% would be built to meet 
current Part M Building Regulations with the structure specifically designed to 
ensure minimal work is required in any future adaptation that may be necessary.  
I am satisfied that the requisite amount of affordable and elderly accommodation 
has been provided and the application complies with Local Plan Policy RS2 in 
this regard. 

 
 Layout, Design and Scale 
 
6.20 Policy GN3 in the Local Plan together with the Council‟s SPD Design Guide 

states that new development should be of a scale, mass and built form that 
responds well to the characteristics of the site and its surroundings.  New 
development is required to have regard to visual amenity and complement its 
surroundings.  Care should be taken to ensure that buildings do not disrupt the 
visual amenities of the streetscene because of their height, scale or roofline. 

 
6.21 The proposed development for 124 dwellings equates to a housing density of 25 

dwellings per hectare, which is commensurate with the density of surrounding 
residential development.  Various types and sizes of dwellings are proposed, 
including bungalows, semi-detached, terraced and detached houses as well as 
two storey apartment blocks in a mix of 1, 2, 3 and 4 bedroomed properties. The 
affordable units are spread amongst the private dwellings leading to increased 
social inclusion.  Heights of the dwellings are kept at two storey, reflecting that in 
the immediate vicinity and materials proposed are similar to those in the 
surrounding area.  The design of the dwellings are those of typical modern 
estates, akin to those adjacent on Springfield Close.  

 
6.22 The layout of the access and internal estate road is circular with cul-de-sacs 

leading off it and therefore permeability through the estate is created as well as 
connectivity to the wider Yew Tree Farm via two pedestrian/cyclepaths, in 
accordance with the Masterplan.  Dwellings, in the main, benefit from side 
parking to break up long rows of frontage parking and create gaps between 
buildings. All dwellings have adequate sized rear gardens and privacy standards 
set out in the Council‟s SPD Design Guide are generally met. 

 
6.23 Policy GN3 of the Local Plan advises that new residential development should 

provide appropriate levels of public open space and the Council‟s adopted SPD 
on The Provision of Public Open Space in New Residential Development 
provides further advice on how this is to be delivered.  Alongside this advice, the 
Yew Tree Farm Masterplan requires the creation of a comprehensive play 
area/area of open space within the wider site.  This has been earmarked within 
the central western part of the wider site.  The CIL contributions required as part 
of the proposed development will potentially go some way towards enhancing this 
area; however an element of on-site open space is also required on 
developments above 50 dwellings.  As such, a small area of open space is 

Page 620



53 
 

proposed close to the entrance to the site and alongside the existing ditch. This 
meets the provision required under the adopted Open Space SPD.   

 
6.24 I am satisfied that the resulting layout is acceptable and would not appear 

incongruous with its surroundings. The proposal is therefore in accordance with 
Policy GN3 of the Local Plan. 

 
 Impact on Residential Amenity 
 
6.25 Policy GN3 in the WLLP requires new development to retain or create reasonable 

levels of privacy, amenity and sufficient garden/outdoor spaces for occupiers of 
the proposed and neighbouring properties. Further detailed advice on interface 
distances is provided within the Council‟s SPD Design Guide.  

 
6.26 In terms of the relationships between the proposed dwellings, I am satisfied that 

the proposed layout, in general, accommodates the required interface distances. 
Where this is not the case, I am satisfied that the resulting impact has been 
designed out by ensuring that the main outlook is focused away from the 
neighbouring property or that obscure glazed windows can be utilised.  

 
6.27 In terms of the impact on neighbouring residents, I am satisfied that there is 

sufficient distance to ensure no impact upon privacy or overshadowing. This is 
helped by retention of the existing boundary treatment and the use of bungalows.  
The distance between the proposed properties and those facing the rear of 
properties on Liverpool Road South are a minimum of 30m. The proposed two 
storey dwelling on Meadowbrook at Plot 122 does face the rear garden area of 4 
Meadowbrook; however, the intervening distance is 12m, which is considered an 
acceptable distance to a garden area and compliant with the Council‟s SDP 
Design Guide. This plot is also 21m from the front elevation of the existing 
bungalow at 6 Meadowbrook, which again, meets the distance advocated in the 
Design Guide.  The proposed two storey dwelling on Plot 1 incorporates a very 
small rear garden at 5m to the boundary with 4 and 10 Springfield Close, but 
compensates for this with a larger side garden.  Whilst the distance between the 
rear of the proposed property and the main rear wall windows at 10 Springfield 
Close is only 18m, this property is angled away and no direct overlooking will 
occur.  Therefore I consider that the proposed development would satisfy the 
requirements of Policy GN3 and the Council‟s Design Guide in respect of 
neighbouring amenity.  

 
6.28 A concern has been raised regarding inaccuracies in the site boundary; however 

evidence in the form of title deeds has been provided to confirm all of the site is in 
the ownership of the applicant. Although neighbouring residents may currently 
have access onto the field from their properties, this does not guarantee that this 
will be the case indefinitely.  In any case, this is a civil matter.     

 

Page 621



54 
 

6.29 The main impacts of any significant development in this area would be during the 
construction phase in terms of noise. Whilst some noise will be generated during 
the construction phases, this will be subject to environmental control.   

 

 
 Highways 
 
6.30 Policy GN3 of the Local Plan states that suitable and safe access, road layout, 

design and adequate parking provision are required in new development. Policy 
IF2 details parking standards required for residential developments. In addition, 
regard must be had to the Yew Tree Farm Masterplan which aims to limit the 
number of separate access points off the A59 to the development site.  

 
6.31 The proposed access to the site is off Meadowbrook, an existing 6no. bungalow 

cul-de-sac directly off Liverpool Road South (A59). In terms of the technical 
impact of the proposed access to the A59, this has been fully assessed by the 
Highway Authority and, subject to the provision of the removal of a slight kink as 
you enter Meadowbrook, the relocation of the current road signage further along 
the A59 and the provision of a marked box junction and short right and left turns 
leading out of Meadowbrook, the access is considered to be acceptable and 
predicted to operate within capacity.  The proposed junction improvement works 
can be required by condition as part of a S278 agreement for off-site highway 
works. 

 
6.32 In terms of traffic generation on the local road network, this has been analysed by 

the Highway Authority and, following further assessments undertaken at the 
request of the Highway Authority, it has been concluded that the nearby junctions 
are all expected to operate within capacity, except the A59/Square Lane junction.  
It is the opinion of the Highway Authority that when the development at Yew Tree 
Farm is taken into account (that granted by outline permission 2015/0171/OUT 
for up to 600 dwellings, care home and employment development) along with 
other committed developments in the area (Ainsough Mill, Abbey Lane, Grove 
Farm and Ringtail Retail Park), the Square Lane junction would be severely over 
capacity.  This was the view that the Highway Authority also took when 
considering the outline application at Yew Tree Farm. As such, as part of the 
granting of outline permission, improvements were to be made at the Square 
Lane junction at various trigger points. The first of these triggers – prior to the 
occupation of the 100th dwelling – requires a signalised junction to be provided 
using land within the existing adopted highway boundary.  The second trigger – 
prior to the occupation of the 400th dwelling – requires further traffic analysis of 
the junction to determine whether or not other improvements are necessary, such 
as the widening of the carriageway and improvements to signalisation. If 
improvements are deemed necessary, the further highway mitigation has to be 
implemented prior to occupation of the 450th dwelling on the Yew Tree Farm site.  

 

Page 622



55 
 

6.33 The Highway Authority consider that the full widening and signalisation of the 
Square Lane junction in its entirety should be required to be implemented prior to 
commencement of the proposed development in order to provide adequate 
capacity for the traffic generated by the proposal for 124 dwellings, having regard 
to that already committed in the area.  In my view, this would not be proportionate 
to the proposed development. In its own right, the amount of traffic generated by 
124 dwellings, would not, in my opinion, necessitate the full signalisation and 
widening of the Square Lane junction.  However, I do accept that the addition of 
124 dwellings would undoubtedly add to an already “at capacity” junction.   

 
6.34 Having regard to the comments of the Highway Authority, whilst the applicant is 

not proposing to implement an improvement scheme at the Square Lane junction 
themselves, land to the south along the boundary with Finch House Farm, is 
within the applicant‟s control and has been offered up as being available for use 
at nil cost should it be required for any future widening required as part of the 
outline planning permission 2015/0171/OUT.  In addition, a sum of £50,000 has 
also been offered as a proportionate cost to providing the full signalised and 
widened junction improvements when occupation of the Yew Tree Farm site 
reaches the 400th dwelling.    

 
6.35 I am satisfied that this approach is proportionate and also ensures the full release 

of the Yew Tree Farm site can be achieved in line with the Masterplan.  This is a 
significant benefit to the overall deliverability of the Yew Tree Farm allocated site 
for without the land available to provide junction widening at Square Lane, it is 
unlikely that any more than 400 dwellings could be provided on the wider site.  It 
is for this reason that I consider the proposed development is acceptable on 
highway grounds whilst also providing a material benefit to the overall planning 
balance. 

 
6.36 Other aspects of highway matters are considered to be acceptable, notably, the 

provision of pedestrian and cycle links to the wider site to ensure connectivity and 
access to the proposed play area and potential school site in accordance with the 
Masterplan when the remainder of the site comes forward. The provision of the 
pedestrian and cycle links up to the site boundary can be secured by condition.  
The applicant has also agreed to the upgrading of two bus stops close to the site 
on the A59 to quality bus standard at the request of the Highway Authority.    

 
6.37 The Masterplan requires that development incorporate suitable measures and/or 

infrastructure to promote the use of public transport, such as safe walking and 
cycling links, bus stop improvements and additional bus service provision. It goes 
on to advise that development should be designed to facilitate the potential future 
operation of a frequent bus service through the site, although this is very 
demand-led. The Highway Authority recommend that funding is secured for a 
minimum of 5 years to facilitate the provision of bus services, thus a contribution 
of £128,000 is suggested.  However, as was the case when considering the 
outline application at Yew Tree Farm, I consider the request for funding made by 

Page 623



56 
 

the Highway Authority has not been fully justified as it is not clear how this figure 
has been arrived at. Neither has it been clearly demonstrated how this funding 
would ensure the continued operation of a bus service after the initial five year 
period. At the current time, I am therefore unable to conclude that the request for 
funding meets the test of the CIL Regulations as being fairly related in scale and 
kind to the development or essential to make the development acceptable. 

 
6.38 A comprehensive Travel Plan will be required before any development takes 

place, including commitments to appoint a Travel Plan Coordinator, carry out 
residents travel surveys, provide cycle parking, produce smart targets for non-car 
modes of travel, provide a detailed action plan of measures to be introduced and 
appropriate funding and to provide details of monitoring and review of the plan for 
at least 5 years. In order to ensure delivery of the above, the Highway Authority 
consider that a range of personalised travel plan measures are necessary, 
including public transport passes for households to encourage sustainable travel 
at the outset of the development (ฃ104 for a minimum of 2 monthly “Mega-Rider” 

tickets for service between the site, Preston bus station and Ormskirk) and the 
provision of cycles for each household (ฃ150). The Highway Authority suggest 

that this is available for each household for a period of 5 years post occupation. 
Rather than this money being paid to the County Council or the Borough Council 
(with associated administration functions), the Highway Authority suggests that 
there should be a legal commitment from the developer to establish a budget to 
fund measures identified in the approved Travel Plan.  Unlike the request towards 
bus service provision, I do consider that the implementation of personalised travel 
plan measures would be of benefit to the new development in order to encourage 
the use of cycle provision and safe walking routes to the two railway stations in 
Burscough. The provision of the pedestrian and cycle links to the future linear 
park on the wider site will help in this regard but I am satisfied that a commuted 
sum towards encouraging individual sustainable travel for occupiers of the site 
meets the CIL Regulations. 

 
6.39 The scheme will provide internal road infrastructure to an adoptable standard. 

The number and size of parking spaces, including garages, meet the Highway 
Authority requirements.  Overall, I am satisfied that, provided the off-site highway 
works outlined above are implemented, the proposal will provide safe, 
sustainable accessibility for different modes of transport, in accordance with the 
NPPF, Policies GN3 and IF2 of the Local Plan and the terms of the Masterplan. 

 
Drainage 

 
6.40 As the site is presently greenfield, the NPPF and Policy GN3 of the Local Plan 

require that any development upon the land should not result in unacceptable 
flood risk or drainage problems and should achieve a surface water run-off rate to 
that equivalent of the greenfield run-off rate.  In terms of the principle of 
development relating to flood risk, the application site lies entirely within Flood 
Zone 1, the least susceptible to flood risk.  However, the NPPF states that a site 

Page 624



57 
 

specific Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) is required for proposals of 1 hectare or 
greater. Given the site is located within flood zone 1 and some distance from the 
nearest main rivers, the FRA shows a very low risk of fluvial flooding.   

 
6.41 It is well known that the surface and foul water drainage network in Burscough 

suffers from capacity issues, as does the waste water treatment works at New 
Lane which serves Burscough. There have been some localised flooding 
incidents in the area over the last few years. In view of the above, drainage is a 
key consideration when assessing this application.  There are two main issues 
relating to drainage in the area, one is the inability of the existing combined sewer 
network to cope with existing flooding events during periods of heavy rainfall; and 
the other is the capacity of the New Lane waste water treatment works. Whilst it 
is the responsibility of United Utilities to resolve these issues and invest in the 
network, developers in the meantime, enjoy a statutory right to connect to public 
sewers.  The main problem with capacity is caused by surface water entering the 
combined sewer which then impacts upon the capacity at the treatment works 
and potentially results in risks associated with discharge into Martin Mere, a 
SSSI.  

   
Surface water 

 
6.42 A FRA has been submitted along with a detailed surface water drainage strategy 

which outlines the drainage methodology and the proposed location of 
sustainable urban drainage (SuDS) components. Paragraph 103 of the NPPF 
requires that surface water arising from a developed site should, as a far as is 
practicable, be managed in a sustainable manner to mimic surface water flows 
arising from the site prior to the proposed development, whilst reducing flood risk 
to the site itself and elsewhere, taking climate change into account. Policy GN3 
and the Masterplan SPD require the use of SuDS on this site and identify that 
due to fragmented ownership across the site, a comprehensive strategy is 
unlikely and therefore a series of safeguards in respect of phasing of 
development will be required. 

 
6.43 I have considered this application in the context of the wider Yew Tree Farm site 

and the drainage strategy encompassed within the Masterplan.  The strategy in 
the Masterplan was developed in order to ensure that existing flooding is not 
exacerbated and to mitigate the risk of future flooding through effective 
management of surface water runoff.  Reducing the amount of surface water 
entering the combined sewer system is a pragmatic approach to reducing the 
load on the system until such time that United Utilities improve its capacity.  

 
6.44 In brief, surface water is proposed to discharge from the site via a linear 

attenuation basin or swale across the northern boundary of the site as well as a 
smaller basin and by utilising the existing watercourse on the site, with the 
discharge rates being limited to that of the existing contributing greenfield run off 
rates (Qbar) thereby mimicking the existing situation as closely as possible.  

Page 625



58 
 

 
6.45 The run off volumes for storage within the site have been calculated for various 

rainfall events up to and including a 1 in 100 year return period with an additional 
30% increase for climate change. Indicative overland flow routes are also shown 
for extreme exceedance events to direct surface water away from properties to 
the proposed attenuation basin and/or existing watercourse.  

 
6.46 It is anticipated that the developer will manage and maintain the attenuation basin 

along with the existing ditch network and any other SuDS devices and 
landscaped areas. An appropriate maintenance body would be appointed 
subsequent to completion of construction. This can be ensured by the imposition 
of a planning condition.  

 
6.47 All the relevant drainage bodies have analysed the submitted information and 

conclude that the proposed surface water drainage system is acceptable and I 
am therefore satisfied that the proposed development complies with the NPPF, 
Policy GN3 of the Local Plan and the SPD Masterplan. 

 
 Foul water 
 
6.48 It is acknowledged by United Utilities that there are capacity problems at the 

receiving waste water treatment works in New Lane, Burscough. This is 
addressed within the Masterplan SPD which states: “In respect of United Utilities‟ 
responsibilities, they have confirmed that they are currently in the process of 
securing funding to make improvements at the waste water treatment works. 
However, such improvements may take as long as 2020 to be delivered. In terms 
of ensuring the overall volume of flows to the waste water treatment works is 
acceptable up until this point, United Utilities have confirmed that a potential 
solution could be to remove a volume of surface water out of the existing system 
and to divert it through Yew Tree Farm and then into the natural drainage 
network. Whilst this is necessary to ensure that the development does not make 
this situation any worse, the improvements could actually result in some 
improvement to the existing system and overall betterment.” 

 
6.49 Policy SP3 of the Local Plan reiterates this point and advises “Development of 

the Yew Tree Farm site will not result in surface water being discharged into the 
public sewerage system and will, in fact, draw surface water off the public 
sewerage system to be attenuated to the local watercourse at greenfield run-off 
rates to at least the equivalent quantity of foul water being discharged from the 
site into the public sewerage system”. 

 
6.50 Members may recall that for the outline planning application submitted for the 

wider Yew Tree Farm site to the north (2015/0171/OUT), this was dealt with by 
proposing a scheme which results in disconnecting the surface water drain 
serving 37 properties on Lordsgate Lane and Admiralty Close and diverting the 
surface water to the Yew Tree Farm site for attenuation. This will “free-up” 

Page 626



59 
 

capacity within the network to accommodate some foul flows from the wider 
development.  The drainage consultant acting on behalf of the current applicant 
has assessed the potential of a similar approach for this application and has 
worked closely with United Utilities in this regard. Two areas were identified 
where surface water flows could potentially be removed from the foul/combined 
system along Liverpool Road South.  Extensive investigations, research and 
assessment of these areas were undertaken during 2015 with a view to 
identifying any opportunities for the removal of surface water flows from the 
United Utilities combined sewer system.  After a considerable amount of work the 
applicant was unable to identify any measures which could meet this 
requirement.  As a result it has been accepted by United Utilities that this is 
indeed the case.  I am therefore satisfied that the applicant has made 
endeavours to address this policy requirement but that evidence has been 
submitted which demonstrates that it is not possible to comply fully with Policy 
SP3 or the Masterplan in this regard as United Utilities are not able to identify 
where compensatory surface water can be removed from the existing sewer 
system. 

 
6.51 The applicant has proposed to drain the foul water to a new adoptable pumping 

station at the SE corner of the site with the effluent pumped up through the site 
before outfalling to an existing foul/combined sewer in Meadowbrook. United 
Utilities will ultimately adopt the pumping station and it will then be controlled by 
their warning systems.  Pumping stations are closed pipe installations, with 
underground pipework and only the power supply box above ground, therefore no 
undue emissions of odour would occur (this is controlled by licence). 

 
6.52 The submitted drainage strategy and FRA addresses the principles of sustainable 

drainage and ensures a single comprehensive system will be established and 
managed by one management company. United Utilities and the Lead Local 
Flood Authority have raised no objections to the proposed drainage strategy and 
FRA, subject to conditions.  I am satisfied that the proposed development 
demonstrates compliance in principle with the NPPF and Local Plan Policy 
regarding drainage and flood risk. 

 
Minerals Safeguarding 

 
6.53 The Lancashire County Council Minerals and Waste Site Allocation and 

Development Management Policies DPD was adopted in September 2013. This 
plan provides policies for minerals and waste planning in Lancashire.  Policy M2 
of this document identifies the site as falling within a Minerals Safeguarding Area.  
Within these areas, planning permission will generally not be granted for any form 
of development that is incompatible by reason of scale, proximity and 
permanence with working the minerals found on the land (in this case the 
extraction of the Shirdley Hill Sand Formation), unless the applicant can 
demonstrate that the mineral concerned is no longer of any value or has been 

Page 627



60 
 

fully extracted, or there is an overarching need for the incompatible development 
that outweighs the need to avoid the sterilisation of the mineral resource. 

 
6.54 In order to assess the extent and value of the resource, and to assess the 

stability of the land for future development, a Mineral Assessment has been 
submitted by the applicant.  The assessment concludes that the future extraction 
of the silica sand from the site is unlikely, due to the very small thickness of the 
deposit which is too thin to be worth extracting. Furthermore, the sand is not a 
clean deposit, being clayey and difficult to separate.  It is also sand without any 
significant gravel content and the particle size if too fine to use for most 
aggregate applications.  Consequently, as the mineral resource is not a 
commercially viable deposit, the development of the site for uses not compatible 
with mineral extraction (i.e. housing) would be in conformity with Policy M2.  I 
would agree with this assessment and also consider that the extraction of sand 
on this site would lead to considerable damage to the surrounding environment 
by way of noise, dust, vibration and impact on biodiversity. Therefore, on 
balance, I consider the development of the site outweighs the limited potential for 
mineral extraction on the site and is in compliance with Policy M2 of the Minerals 
and Waste Site Allocations DPD. 

  
Ecology 

 
6.55 To achieve sustainable development, the planning system should seek 

environmental gains, should contribute to protecting and enhancing the natural 
environment and help to improve biodiversity. The NPPF states that pursuing 
sustainable development involves seeking positive improvements in the quality of 
the natural environment, including moving from a net loss of biodiversity to 
achieving net gains for nature (NPPF Para 6-10).  

 
6.56 I note the local concerns regarding the impact of the proposal on wildlife 

associated with the site and acknowledge that the development of this site will 
inevitably affect its existing biodiversity value, particularly given its current 
greenfield status and use for agricultural purposes. However, any development 
on the land must be carried out in such a way that respects this biodiversity value 
and conservation and enhancement of the natural environment is achieved.  
Policy EN2 in the Local Plan requires that development proposals must seek to 
avoid impacts on significant ecological assets and protect and improve the 
biodiversity value of sites. If significant impacts on biodiversity are unavoidable, 
then mitigation or as a last resort, compensation, is required to fully offset 
impacts.  

 
6.57 The ecological impact of the proposed development has been informed by 

ecological surveys.   
 
6.58 The application site is located near the protected European sites of Martin Mere 

Special Protection Area and Ramsar as well as the Ribble Alt Estuaries SPA and 

Page 628



61 
 

Ramsar. It is also on arable land which is known to be functionally linked to the 
above protected sites. As such these sites are protected under the Habitats 
Regulations 2010 as amended and Local Plan Policy EN2.   

 
6.59  The Council‟s ecological advisors, Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service 

(MEAS) have assessed the submitted ecological information, the results of the 
recently undertaken non-breeding bird survey of the wider Yew Tree Farm site for 
application 2015/0171/OUT, local records and the HRA produced for the adjacent 
development. In combination, they provide sufficient information to enable the 
Council to carry out a Habitats Regulations Assessment.  MEAS consider there 
are no pathways that could give rise to likely significant effects on the European 
sites and the proposals do not warrant a detailed Habitats Regulations 
Assessment report. Natural England has confirmed that it is satisfied the 
development would not result in likely significant effects alone or in combination 
as no Pink Footed Geese were recorded using the site. The outcome of the 
Assessment of Likely Significant Effects report is available to view on the website 
and shows how the Council has engaged with the requirements of the Habitats 
Directive.  

 
6.60 The assessment of bat roost potential on the site states that no evidence of a bat 

roost was found and the trees do not provide opportunities for roosting bats.  
Therefore the Council does not need to consider the proposals against the three 
Habitat Regulation tests.  All the existing hedgerows on the site are to be retained 
except a length of 80m along the southern boundary. However, the removal of 
this hedge is not considered to impact upon the local bat population as the 
boundary hedge that is to remain will be ecologically improved and maintained 
which will increase the biodiversity value of approximately 650m of hedgerow, the 
landscape proposals include the creation of hay meadow and Suds pond and the 
gardens that will be created will increase available foraging habitat.    

 
6.61 Various mitigation proposals are put forward including bird boxes and enhanced 

landscaping and avoidance measures for badgers included. Provided an 
Ecological Management Plan and the proposed mitigation is implemented, MEAS 
consider the proposal to be acceptable. Impact on other protected species such 
as Great Crested Newts, Water Vole, Brown Hare, Skylark and Lapwing have 
been assessed. MEAS are of the view that due to the extent, type and condition 
of the habitats on-site and available habitat in the surrounding area there will be 
no impact on these species as a result of development.  As such, I am satisfied 
that the proposal complies with Policy EN2 of the Local Plan and the Masterplan. 

 
 Trees and Landscape 
 
6.62 Policy GN3 (4) and EN2 (6) require that development takes advantage of its 

landscape setting by having regard to the different landscape character types 
across the Borough. Development should maintain or enhance the distinctive 
character of the landscape within which it is located. Having reviewed the 

Page 629



62 
 

indicative layout and supporting information I consider the proposal includes 
elements which would seek to achieve this by minimising the loss of trees and 
using the existing green infrastructure as a starting point for the development 
proposal.  

 
6.63 The submitted Arboricultural report confirms that all the significant trees within the 

hedgerow and boundaries of the site are to be retained. The proposed open 
space alongside the watercourse on the eastern part of the site contains the 
more significant trees and the proposed layout provides sufficient space to 
accommodate these trees. As such I am satisfied that the proposal complies with 
the relevant Local Plan policies. 

 
Heritage 

 
6.64 The applicant has submitted a Heritage Assessment in order to consider whether 

or not the proposal impacts upon any potential heritage asset in the vicinity as 
required by Policy EN4 of the Local Plan.  No 143 Liverpool Road South to the 
immediate SE of the site is a Grade 2 Listed Building and 172 Liverpool Road 
South is also Grade 2 Listed Building on the opposite side of Liverpool Road 
South.  

 
6.65 Section 66 (1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

1990 requires that special attention be paid to the desirability of preserving a 
listed building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses.  The NPPF and Policy EN4 advise that when 
considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to its conservation.  The 
more important the asset, the greater the weight be provided to its significance. It 
goes on to clarify that where a proposal would lead to less than substantial harm 
to a designated heritage asset (including its setting), the harm should be weighed 
against the public benefits of the proposal. 

 
6.66 In assessing the impact on the setting of the adjacent Listed Buildings, I consider 

that 143 Liverpool Road South sits back off the road frontage on a substantial 
garden plot.  The former farmhouse dates from around C.1800 with a later wing 
and barn to the rear. The house, brick built, has a double depth floor plan with its 
principle elevation fronting onto the road (facing south). Its relationship with 
no.172 which lies on the opposite side of Liverpool Road South is recognised by 
its group value significance in the listing description. Views of the house are 
filtered by mature trees on the road frontage.  

 
6.67 The proposed housing site lies immediately to the north of no. 143 Liverpool 

Road South.  The property does however lie within an „urbanised‟ area with 
modern development in close proximity to the building.  Bungalows are located 
adjoining the curtilage/gardens to the east (No.147) and west (Meadowbrook).  
The housing layout shows bungalows closest to the boundary with no.143 the 

Page 630



63 
 

closest being approximately 22-24m from the rear corner of the main range of the 
listed building.  Given the scale/height of the new bungalows, the distance 
separation and the aspects of its current setting, in my view, the new 
development will not substantially harm the significance of its setting.   I consider 
the new development will largely remain discretely located and will not alter how 
the listed building is currently experienced within the streetscene.  I am satisfied 
that there will be no harm to the group value relationship with no.172 Liverpool 
Road South. 

 
6.68 On balance, I do not consider the proposed layout will harm the setting of any 

heritage assets.  The proposal conforms to Policy EN4 of the Local Plan and the 
guidance contained in Chapter 12 of the NPPF.  The proposal in this respect 
satisfies the Council‟s statutory duty to „preserve‟ required under s.66 of the 
P(LBCA) Act. 

 

 

 
Summary 

 
6.69 In summary, the site is located on an allocated development site which is 

safeguarded for development until beyond 2027 by virtue of policies GN2 and 
SP3 of the Local Plan and the Yew Tree Farm Masterplan.  The recent Annual 
Monitoring Report confirms that the Council has a 5.32 year housing land supply 
and as such, there is no housing land supply reason to release this land for 
development unless other material considerations weigh against these policies.   

 
6.70 The applicant has control over a significant strip of land adjacent to the existing 

A59/Square Lane junction which is required in order to deliver a fully signalised 
and widened junction improvement of the design required by the Highway 
Authority to accommodate the full Yew Tree Farm development allocation.  
Without the use of this land, it is uncertain whether or not the wider Yew Tree 
Farm allocation can be delivered.  In my view, the provision of this land along 
with a proportionate financial contribution towards the full highway improvement 
works, would be a significant benefit to the overall delivery of the Council‟s 
housing and employment land supply in the Borough.  As such, I consider this to 
be a significant material consideration which outweighs the presumption against 
development of this site at the current time.  

 
6.71 Furthermore, the site would deliver 35% affordable housing units of mixed tenure 

and the layout, appearance and scale of the development is considered 
acceptable. I am satisfied that the proposed development would allow for the 
provision and retention of reasonable levels of amenity for the occupants of future 
and neighbouring properties. Subject to conditions, I am satisfied that the 
proposed development is compliant with Local Plan policies in respect of 
drainage and ecology.  The highway impacts, sustainability of the site and access 

Page 631



64 
 

arrangements have been thoroughly scrutinised and found to be acceptable.  On 
balance therefore, I consider the proposed development should be approved. 

  
Financial Benefits 

 
6.72 The scheme will deliver financial benefits in the form of New Homes Bonus which 

would equate to approximately £880,000. The development is also CIL liable and 
would require a CIL payment in the region of £1,400,000 with the affordable 
housing potentially eligible for social housing relief. The applicant is also 
proposing to make a financial contribution of £50,000 towards the signalisation 
and widening of the A59/Square Lane junction. 

 
 Planning Obligations 
 
6.73 Under the terms of the provisions of Regulations 122 and 123 of the Community 

Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 and requirements under s.106 of the 
Planning Act 1990, planning obligations are subject to three tests: 

 
That the subject of the agreement is/are: 
 
Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
Directly related to the development; and, 
Fairly related in scale and kind to the development. 

 
6.74 The restriction of these tests will see the following requirements be secured by 

s.106 agreement: 
 

The terms and conditions of the affordable housing; 
Maintenance and management of open space; 
£50,000 commuted sum towards the junction improvement at A59/Square Lane; 
£254 per household commuted sum towards personalised travel measures 
(offered for 5 years only); 
Transfer of land at Square Lane junction to WLBC. 

 
7.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
7.1 That the decision to grant planning permission be delegated to the Director of 

Development and Regeneration in consultation with the Chairman or Vice 
Chairman of the Planning Committee subject to the applicant entering into a 
planning obligation under S106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to 
secure:- 

 
The terms and conditions of the affordable housing; 
Maintenance and management of open space; 
£50,000 commuted sum towards the junction improvement at A59/Square Lane; 

Page 632



65 
 

£254 per household commuted sum towards personalised travel measures 
(offered for 5 years only); 
Transfer of land at Square Lane junction to WLBC. 

 
7.2 That any planning permission granted by the Director of Development and 

Regeneration pursuant to recommendation 7.1 above be subject to the following 
conditions: 

 
Conditions 
 1. The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years 

beginning with the date of this permission. 
 2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with details 

shown on the following plans:- 
 Plan reference NW026-SL-001K (Site Plan) received by the Local Planning 

Authority on 3rd July 2017; 
 Plan reference 02/17 (Site Sections) received by the Local Planning Authority on 

5th July 2017; 
 Plan reference 1BF03_PLP01 (House type IBF03) received by the Local 

Planning Authority on 5th July 2017; 
 Plan reference 2BB.PL01 (House type 2BB) received by the Local Planning 

Authority on 5th July 2017; 
 Plan reference 2BB3.PL01 (House type 2BB3) received by the Local Planning 

Authority on 5th July 2017; 
 Plan reference 2BF_PL01 (House type 2BF) received by the Local Planning 

Authority on 5th July 2017; 
 Plan reference 2B4P_PL01 (House type 2B4P) received by the Local Planning 

Authority on 5th July 2017; 
 Plan reference 3B5P.PL01 (House type 3B5P) received by the Local Planning 

Authority on 5th July 2017; 
 Plan reference C313.PL01 (House type The Whitfield) received by the Local 

Planning Authority on 5th July 2017; 
 Plan reference C313.PL02 (House type The Whitfeld) received by the Local 

Planning Authority on 5th July 2017; 
 Plan reference C305.PL01 (House type The Staunton) received by the Local 

Planning Authority on 5th July 2017; 
 Plan reference C305.PL02 (House type The Staunton) received by the Local 

Planning Authority on 5th July 2017; 
 Plan reference C304.PL01 (House type The Trelissick) received by the Local 

Planning Authority on 5th July 2017; 
 Plan reference C303.PL01 (House type The Studland) received by the Local 

Planning Authority on 5th July 2017; 
 Plan reference C303.PL02 (House type The Studland) received by the Local 

Planning Authority on 5th July 2017; 
 Plan reference C438.PL01 (House type The Elmhurst) received by the Local 

Planning Authority on 5th July 2017; 

Page 633



66 
 

 Plan reference C419.PL01 (House type The Berrington) received by the Local 
Planning Authority on 5th July 2017; 

 Plan reference C413.PL01 (House type The Buckland) received by the Local 
Planning Authority on 5th July 2017; 

 Plan reference C413.PL02 (House type The Buckland) received by the Local 
Planning Authority on 5th July 2017; 

 Plan reference C412.PL01 (House type The Astley) received by the Local 
Planning Authority on 5th July 2017; 

 Plan reference C412.PL02 (House type The Astley) received by the Local 
Planning Authority on 5th July 2017; 

 Plan reference C405.PL01 (House type The Arlington) received by the Local 
Planning Authority on 5th July 2017; 

 Plan reference C405.PL02 (House type The Arlington) received by the Local 
Planning Authority on 5th July 2017; 

 Plan reference C403.PL01 (House type The Hemsby) received by the Local 
Planning Authority on 5th July 2017; 

 Plan reference C427.PL01 (House type The Bredon) received by the Local 
Planning Authority on 5th July 2017; 

 Plan reference C436.PL01 (House type The Titchfield) received by the Local 
Planning Authority on 5th July 2017; 

 Plan reference C436.PL02 (House type The Titchfield) received by the Local 
Planning Authority on 5th July 2017; 

 Plan reference GL1-WD-3002b (single garage) received by the Local Planning 
Authority on 1st June 2016; 

 Plan reference GL2-WD-3006b (double garage) received by the Local Planning 
Authority on 1st June 2016; 

 Plan reference NW002-WD-3008 (double garage) received by the Local Planning 
Authority on 1st June 2016; 

 Plan reference NW002-WD-4000 (double garage/sales office) received by the 
Local Planning Authority on 1st June 2016;  

 3. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved material 
details specified on Plan Reference NW026-SL-007B received by the Local 
Planning Authority on 5th July 2017. 

 4. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved fencing details 
specified on Plan Reference NW026-SL-004A and the information submitted for 
"Green Screens" received by the Local Planning Authority on 9th August 2016. 

 5. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the finished levels of all 
parts of the site, including the floor levels of all buildings, 

 as specified on Plan Reference 02/03 revision A (adoptable Drainage Layout) 
received by the Local Planning Authority on 5th June 2017. 

 6. No tree felling, scrub clearance, hedgerow removal, vegetation management, 
and/or ground clearance is to take place during the period 1 March to 31 August 
inclusive. If it is necessary to undertake works during the bird breeding season 
then all trees, scrub and hedgerows are to be checked first by an appropriately 
experienced ecologist to ensure that no breeding birds are present. If present, 

Page 634



67 
 

details of how they will be protected would be required to be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

 7. No development, other than off-site highway works, shall be carried out until an 
Ecological Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing with 
the Local Planning Authority.  The EMP shall include detailed measures of 
mitigation as indicated within Section 5 of the Ecological Appraisal received by 
the Local Planning Authority 1st June 2016 and shall incorporate all, but not 
limited to, the following: 

 Details of bird and bat boxes; 
 Details of hedgerow enhancement;  
 Details of landscape enhancement; and  
 Management and maintenance of hedgerow and landscape maintenance. 
 Thereafter development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 

Plan. 
 8. The following reasonable avoidance measures (RAMs) shall be followed during 

construction to minimise potential harm to badgers which may be present in the 
vicinity: 

 Any trenches dug during the course of construction works must provide a means 
of escape (e.g. a ramp) for any animal which may fall in. 

 Any temporarily exposed open pipe system should be capped in such a way as to 
prevent badgers gaining access whilst the contractors are off site. 

 9. A Traffic Management Plan for the construction works, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to works commencing on 
site and shall include details of: 

 The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
 Loading and unloading of plant and materials used in the construction of the 

development; 
 Storage of such plant and materials; 
 Routes to be used by vehicles carrying plant and materials to and from the site; 
 Measures to ensure that construction and delivery vehicles do not impede access 

to adjoining properties; 
 Thereafter development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 

plan. 
10. For the full period of construction, facilities shall be available on site for the 

cleaning of the wheels of vehicles leaving the site and such equipment shall be 
used as necessary to prevent mud and stones being carried onto the highway. 
The roads adjacent to the site shall be mechanically swept as required during the 
full construction period. 

11. The approved access and off-site highway improvements indicated on Plan 
Reference 0514-F04 Revision B shall be implemented in accordance with a S278 
Agreement, prior to occupation of the first dwelling. 

12. The potential quality bus stop arrangements indicated on Plan Reference 0514-
02 shall be implemented in accordance with a S278 Agreement, prior to 
occupation of the first dwelling. 

13. No construction works shall be commenced until an Estate Street Phasing and 
Completion Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Page 635



68 
 

Planning Authority. The Estate Street Phasing and Completion Plan shall set out 
the development phases and the standards that the estate street serving each 
phase of the development will be completed to. The Estate Street Phasing and 
Completion Plan shall set out dates for entering the section 38 agreement of the 
Highways Act 1980 and/or the establishment of a private Management and 
Maintenance Company. Development shall proceed in accordance with the 
approved plan. 

14. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Development Procedure) Order 1995 and the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (Amendment) (No 2) (England) Order 2008, or 
any subsequent Orders or statutory provision re-enacting the provisions of these 
Orders, all garages shown on the approved plan shall be maintained as such and 
shall not be converted to or used for living accommodation without the prior 
written approval of the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Highway 
Authority. 

15. Car parking courts as well as individual car parking spaces shall be surfaced and 
the car parking spaces and manoeuvring areas provided/marked out in 
accordance with the approved plan, before the use of the dwellings and other 
buildings/uses hereby permitted within the development become occupied or 
operative. 

16. There shall not at any time in connection with the development hereby permitted 
be planted hedges, trees or shrubs over 600mm above the road level within any 
visibility splay required to maintain safe operation for all users. 

17. Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling or apartment, that dwelling or 
apartment shall be provided with an electric vehicle charging point which shall be 
retained for that purpose thereafter. 

18. The pedestrian/cyclepaths indicated on plan Ref: NW026-SL-001K (Site Plan) 
shall be a minimum 3m width and provided to the site boundary prior to 
occupation of the first dwelling. 

19. Notwithstanding the particulars accompanying the planning application, a Travel 
Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the first occupation of each phase of the development. The 
Travel Plan shall include objectives, targets, measures and funding mechanism 
to achieve targets, monitoring, implementation timescales for delivery (which 
exceeds the build out period) and the provision of a travel plan co-ordinator. The 
approved plan shall be audited and updated at intervals as approved. The plan 
shall be implemented in accordance with the details as approved. 

20. This site must be drained using a total separate drainage system in full 
accordance with the FRA submitted. For the avoidance of doubt, no surface 
water flows generated from the site will be allowed to connect with the public 
sewerage system via direct and or indirect means. 

21. No development shall commence until details of the design, based on sustainable 
drainage principles, and implementation of an appropriate surface water 
sustainable drainage scheme have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. 

 Those details shall include, as a minimum: 

Page 636



69 
 

 a) Information about the lifetime of the development, design storm period and 
intensity (1 in 30 & 1 in 100 year + allowance for climate change see EA advice 
Flood risk assessments: climate change allowances'), discharge rates and 
volumes (both pre and post development), temporary storage facilities, the 
methods employed to delay and control surface water discharged from the site, 
and the measures taken to prevent flooding and pollution of the receiving 
groundwater and/or surface waters, including watercourses, and details of floor 
levels in AOD; 

 b) The drainage strategy should demonstrate that the surface water run-off must 
not exceed the pre-development greenfield runoff rate which has been calculated 
to be 24l/s. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with 
the approved details before the development is completed. 

 c) Flood water exceedance routes, both on and off site; 
 d) A timetable for implementation, including phasing as applicable; 
 e) Evidence of an assessment of the site conditions to include site investigation 

and test results to confirm infiltrations rates; 
 f) Details of water quality controls, where applicable. 
 The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior 

to first occupation of any of the approved dwellings, or completion of the 
development, whichever is the sooner.  

22.  Details of an appropriate management and maintenance plan for the sustainable 
drainage system for the lifetime of the development shall be submitted to and 
approved and, as a minimum, shall include:  

 a) the arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory 
undertaker, management and maintenance by a Residents' Management 
Company  

 b) arrangements concerning appropriate funding mechanisms for its on-going 
maintenance of all elements of the sustainable drainage system (including 
mechanical components) and will include elements such as:  

 i. on-going inspections relating to performance and asset condition 
assessments  

 ii. operation costs for regular maintenance, remedial works and irregular 
maintenance caused by less sustainable limited life assets or any other 
arrangements to secure the operation of the surface water drainage scheme 
throughout its lifetime;  

 c)  Means of access for maintenance and easements where applicable.  
  
 The plan shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to 

first occupation of any of the approved dwellings, or completion of the 
development, whichever is the sooner. Thereafter the sustainable drainage 
system shall be managed and maintained in accordance with the approved 
details.  

23. No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied until the sustainable drainage 
scheme for the site (including all attenuation basins and flow control 
devices/structures) has been completed in accordance with the submitted details. 

Page 637



70 
 

 The sustainable drainage scheme shall be managed and maintained thereafter in 
accordance with the agreed management and maintenance plan. 

24. No development shall take place until a Method Statement detailing measures to 
be taken during construction to protect the health of the existing trees has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
measures contained in the approved Method Statement shall be fully 
implemented during construction. 

25. No dwelling shall be occupied until a landscaping scheme has been submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The landscaping scheme shall 
show the location, branch spread, and species of all existing trees and hedges; 
the location, species and number of all proposed trees, shrubs and hedges; and 
the location of all existing and proposed grassed and hard surfaced areas. Trees 
and shrubs planted shall comply with BS. 3936 (Specification of Nursery Stock) 
and shall be planted in accordance with BS. 4428 (General Landscape 
Operations). Within a period of 9 months from the date when any part of the 
development is brought into use the approved landscaping scheme shall be 
carried out. All planting shall be maintained and dead or dying material shall be 
replaced for a period of seven years from the agreed date of planting. 

26. Notwithstanding the submitted plans, details of the pumping station and any 
electricity substation shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to first occupation of any dwelling. The approved scheme 
shall be implemented thereafter. 

27. Notwithstanding the submitted drainage details, prior to occupation of any 
dwelling, full details of land drainage along the northern and western boundaries, 
to deal with surface water run-off from the site to the adjacent land shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter 
land drainage shall be in accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reasons 
 1. Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990. 
 2. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the provisions of 

Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development 
Plan Document. 

  
 3. To ensure that the external appearance of the building(s) is satisfactory and that 

the development therefore complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the 
adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 4. To assimilate the proposed development into its surroundings and to ensure that 
the development complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West 
Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 5. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the provisions of 
Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development 
Plan Document. 

 6. To safeguard a protected species and so ensure that the development complies 
with the provisions of Policy EN2 in the adopted West Lancashire Local 

Page 638



71 
 

 Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 
 7. To safeguard a protected species and so ensure that the development complies 

with the provisions of Policy EN2 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 
2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 8. To safeguard a protected species and so ensure that the development complies 
with the provisions of Policy EN2 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 
2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 9. To protect road users and occupiers of adjacent properties and to ensure that the 
development complies with the provisions of Policies GN3 in the adopted West 
Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

10. To prevent stones and mud being carried onto the public highway to the 
detriment of road safety and so to comply with Policy GN3 of the adopted West 
Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD 

11. In order to satisfy the Local Planning Authority and the Highway Authority that the 
final details of the highway scheme/works are acceptable before work 
commences on site and to ensure that satisfactory access is provided to the site 
before the development hereby permitted becomes operative in accordance with 
Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development 
Plan Document. 

12. To ensure that the development provides sustainable transport options in 
accordance with Policy IF2 of the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-
2027 Development Plan Document. 

13. To ensure that the estate street serving the development are completed and 
thereafter maintained to an acceptable standard in the interest of residential 
financial security and highway safety; to ensure a satisfactory appearance to the 
highways infrastructure serving the development; and to safeguard the visual 
amenities of the locality and users of the highway in order to comply with Policy 
GN3 of the West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD 

14. To allow for the effective use of parking areas and to ensure that the 
development complies with the provisions of Policies GN3 & IF2 in the adopted 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document.  

15. To allow for the effective use of parking areas and to ensure that the 
development complies with the provisions of Policies GN3 & IF2 in the adopted 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document.  

16. To ensure adequate visibility splays are maintained at all times and to ensure that 
the development complies with Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local 
Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

17. In the interests of sustainable transport choice and to comply with Policy IF2 in 
the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan 
Document. 

18. In the interests of sustainable transport choice and to comply with Policy IF2 in 
the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan 
Document. 

19. To ensure that the development provides sustainable transport options in 
accordance with Policy IF2 of the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-
2027 Development Plan Document. 

Page 639



72 
 

20. To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future occupants 
in accordance with  the provisions of Policy GN3 in the West Lancashire Local 
Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

21. To ensure that the proposed development can be adequately drained, to ensure 
that there is no floodrisk on or off the site resulting from the proposed 
development and to ensure that water quality is not detrimentally impacted by the 
development proposal in accordance with  the provisions of Policy GN3 in the 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

22. To ensure that appropriate and sufficient funding and maintenance mechanisms 
are put in place for the lifetime of the development, to reduce the flood risk to the 
development as a result of inadequate maintenance and to identify the 
responsible organisation/body/company/undertaker for the sustainable drainage 
system in accordance with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the West Lancashire 
Local Plan  

 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 
23. To ensure that the site is properly drained in the interest of local amenity prior to 

occupation of the site and that the development, therefore, complies with the 
provisions of Policies GN3 & IF3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 
2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

24. To safeguard the health of the trees and so ensure that the proposed 
development complies with the provisions of Policies GN3 & EN2 in the adopted 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

25. To assimilate the proposed development into its surroundings and to ensure that 
the development complies with the provisions of Policy EN2 in the adopted West 
Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

26. To assimilate the proposed development into its surroundings and to ensure that 
the development complies with the provisions of Policy EN2 in the adopted West 
Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

27. To ensure that the site is properly drained in the interest of local amenity and that 
the development, therefore, complies with the provisions of Policies GN3 & IF3 in 
the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan 
Document. 

 
Notes 
 1. For the avoidance of doubt, this response does not grant the applicant 

permission to connect to the ordinary watercourse(s) and, once planning 
permission has been obtained, it does not mean that land drainage consent will 
be given.  

 The applicant should obtain Land Drainage Consent from Lancashire County 
Council before starting any works on site. Information on the application process 
and relevant forms can be found here: http://new.lancashire.gov.uk/roads-
parking-and-travel/roads/flooding/alterations-to-a- watercourse.aspx  

 2. The alterations to the existing highway as part of the new works may require 
changes to the existing street lighting and street signage at the expense of the 
client/developer. 

Page 640



73 
 

 The applicant is advised that the new site access, will need to be constructed 
under a section 278 agreement of the 1980 Highways Act. The Highway Authority 
hereby reserves the right to provide the highway works within the highway 
associated with this proposal. Provision of the highway works includes design, 
procurement of the work by contract and supervision of the works. The applicant 
is advised to contact the Environment Directorate before works begin on site. 
Further information and advice can be found at www.lancashire.gov.uk and 
search for "278 agreement". 

 This consent does not give approval to a connection being made to the County 
Council's highway drainage system 

 3. The grant of planning permission does not entitle a developer to obstruct a right 
of way and any proposed stopping-up or diversion of a right of way should be the 
subject of an Order under the appropriate Act. 

 4. Natural England's' standing advice provides guidance on how protected species 
should be dealt with in the planning system. 

 5. Lancashire Constabulary recommend that the dwellings are built to Secured by 
Design security Standards. Windows and external doorsets should be PAS 24 
2012 tested and certified and glazing in ground floor windows should be 
laminated and fitted with restrictors. 

 6. Please note extensive comments of United Utilities regarding this application 
dated 08/08/16 regarding sewers and water supply in the area. 

 7. This permission is subject to a planning obligation under Section 106 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
Reason for Approval 
 1. The Local Planning Authority has considered the proposed development in the 

context of the Development Plan including, in particular, the following 
Policy/Policies in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document: 

 SP1 - A Sustainable Development Framework for West Lancashire 
 GN1 - Settlement Boundaries 
 GN3 - Criteria for Sustainable Development 
 RS1 - Residential Development 
 RS2 - Affordable and Specialist Housing 
 EC1 - The Economy and Employment Land 
 IF1 - Maintaining Vibrant Town and Local Centres 
 IF2 - Enhancing Sustainable Transport Choice 
 IF3 - Service Accessibility and Infrastructure for Growth 
 IF4 - Developer Contributions 
 EN1 - Low Carbon Development and Energy Infrastructure 
 EN2 - Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire's Natural Environment 
 EN3 - Provision of Green Infrastructure and Open Recreation Space 
 EN4 - Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire's Built Environment 
 together with Supplementary Planning Guidance and all relevant material 

considerations.  The Local Planning Authority considers that the proposal 
complies with the relevant Policy criteria and is acceptable in the context of all 

Page 641



74 
 

relevant material considerations as set out in the Officer's Report. This report can 
be viewed or a copy provided on request to the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 
 
 
  

Page 642



75 
 

 
No.5 APPLICATION 

NO. 
2017/0403/WL3 

 LOCATION 10 Bath Springs Court Ormskirk Lancashire L39 2YG   
 

 PROPOSAL Conversion of previous 3 bed wardens flat into 2no 1 bed 
category 2 sheltered flats within existing scheme. 

 APPLICANT West Lancashire Borough Council 
 WARD Derby 
 PARISH Unparished - Ormskirk 
 TARGET DATE 9th August 2017 
 

 
1.0 PREVIOUS RELEVANT DECISIONS 
 
1.1 2005/0761 - Alterations to external access including additional door opening and 

access ramp.  Landscaping to front - Granted 
 
1.2 1982/0159 -  Provision of sheltered housing scheme and car parking - Granted 
 
2.0 CONSULTEE RESPONSES 
 
2.1 LCC Highways 
 
 LCC Highways do not have any objections to the proposals and is of the opinion 

that the development should have a negligible impact on highway safety and 
highway capacity in the immediate vicinity of the site. 

 
3.0 OTHER REPRESENTATIONS 
 
3.1 None received. 
 
4.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
4.1 None 
 
5.0 LOCAL PLAN ALLOCATION 
 
5.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the West Lancashire Local 

Plan (2012-2027) DPD (WLLP) provide the policy framework against which the 
development will be assessed. 

 
5.2 The site is located within the Key Service Centre of Ormskirk as designated in the 

WLLP.  
 

Page 643



76 
 

 
NPPF   

  
Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes 
Requiring good design 

 Promoting healthy communities 
 

West Lancashire Local Plan Policies 
 

GN1 – Settlement Boundaries 
GN3 – Criteria for Sustainable Development 
RS1 - Residential Development  
RS2 - Affordable and Specialist Housing 

 
6.0 OBSERVATIONS OF DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 

Site Description 
 
6.1 The site comprises of a 3-bedroom wardens flat located within the Bath Springs 

sheltered accommodation scheme. The flat is at first floor and overlooks the 
communal gardens to the north.  

 
6.2 There are other sheltered units directly across the hallway and along the part of 

the building which extends to the north. A guest bedroom is located to the west 
side and a family room to the east beyond the hallway. There is a communal 
lounge located directly below the flat on the ground floor.  

 
Proposal 

 
6.3 This application proposes to convert the existing flat into two self-contained 

sheltered flats. Each flat would have a bedroom, bathroom and living/kitchen 
area.  

 
Assessment 
 

 Principle of Development  
 
6.4 The NPPF at paragraph 50 supports the delivery of a wide choice of high quality 

homes and requires Local Planning Authorities to plan for a mix of housing that 
meets the needs of different groups in the community. Bath Springs is existing 
residential accommodation providing sheltered housing for older people. As such 
the principle of development which provides suitable specialist accommodation 
within a sustainable location is supported, providing that the proposal is in 
accordance with other relevant planning policies. 

 

 

Page 644



77 
 

 
Design / Layout 
 

6.5 The NPPF and policy GN3 of the West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD 
together with the Council‟s Supplementary Planning Document on Design require 
that development should be of a high quality design, integrate well with its 
surroundings, promote sustainable development principles and respect its 
setting.   

 
6.6 The external appearance of the building is not proposed to be altered as a result 

of this proposal. The proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy GN3 
of the West Lancashire Local Plan (2012-2027) DPD. 

 
 Impact on neighbour amenity 
 
6.7 Policy GN3 of the Local Plan requires that new development should retain 

reasonable levels of privacy and amenity for occupiers of the neighbouring 
properties.   

 
6.8 The north facing windows currently serve habitable rooms. It is my view that the 

conversion of the flat into two separate units would not significantly increase the 
level of overlooking into neighbouring or nearby properties. Furthermore the 
garden to the north of the flat is communal and is already overlooked by many of 
the sheltered accommodation units. The proposal is considered to be in 
accordance with Policy GN3 of the West Lancashire Local Plan (2012-2027) 
DPD. 

 
Summary 

 
6.9 The proposed development is acceptable in principle. The scheme is considered 

to be appropriate to the location and will not have a significant impact on the 
character or appearance of the area. The development would not result in any 
significant adverse impact on the amenity of residents. In this respect the 
proposed development is considered to be compliant with the NPPF and Policies 
RS1, RS2, GN1and GN3 in the WLLP. 

  
7.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
7.1 That Planning Permission be GRANTED subject to the following conditions: 
 
Conditions 
 1. The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years 

beginning with the date of this permission. 
 2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with details 

shown on the following plans:- 

Page 645



78 
 

 Plan named “Existing and proposed floor plans” Revision B received by the Local 
Planning Authority on 3rd July 2017. 

 
Reasons 
 1. Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990. 
 2. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the provisions of 

Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development 
Plan Document. 

 
Reason for Approval 
 1. The Local Planning Authority has considered the proposed development in the 

context of the Development Plan including, in particular, the following 
Policy/Policies in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document: 

  
 GN1 - Settlement Boundaries 
 GN3 - Criteria for Sustainable Development 
 RS1 - Residential Development  
 RS2 - Affordable and Specialist Housing 
  
 together with Supplementary Planning Guidance and all relevant material 

considerations.  The Local Planning Authority considers that the proposal 
complies with the relevant Policy criteria and is acceptable in the context of all 
relevant material considerations as set out in the Officer's Report. This report can 
be viewed or a copy provided on request to the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 646



79 
 

 
No.6 APPLICATION 

NO. 
2017/0457/COU 

 LOCATION Brookfields Charity Lane Westhead Ormskirk Lancashire 
L40 6LG 
 

 PROPOSAL Conversion of existing brick built barn to a single 
residential dwelling. 

 APPLICANT Mr Malcolm Johnson 
 WARD Derby 
 PARISH Unparished - Ormskirk 
 TARGET DATE 23rd June 2017 
 

 
1.0 REFERRAL 
 
1.1 This application was to be determined under the Council's delegation scheme 

however Councillor Owens has requested it be referred to Committee to 
scrutinise whether the very special circumstances acknowledged in Paragraph 55 
of the National Planning Policy Framework are met or not in respect of this 
application. 
 

2.0 PREVIOUS RELEVANT DECISIONS 
 
2.1 2016/1063/COU - Conversion of existing brick built barn to a single residential 

dwelling - Withdrawn 
 
2.2 2016/0835/S106 - Application to remove planning obligations under Section 106 

of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 dated 16 September 1992 and 26 
August 2010 - Pending decision 

 
2.3 2015/0622/FUL - Removal of occupancy condition (Condition No. 3) imposed on 

planning permission 1991/1040 - Granted 
 
2.4 2009/1163/FUL - Variation of condition 3 imposed on planning permission 

1992/1040 to read “The occupation of the dwelling shall be limited to a person 
solely or mainly employed or last employed in the business occupying the plot 
edged red on the attached plan, or a widow or widower of such a person, or any 
resident dependents” - Granted 

 
2.5 2006/0835 - Detached double garage with storage above - Withdrawn 
 
2.6 2006/0834 - First floor and single storey side extensions - Refused 
 
2.7 2006/0515 - Certificate of Lawfulness - Use of dwelling without compliance with 

Condition No. 3 imposed on planning permission 8/91/1040 (the occupation of the 

Page 647



80 
 

living accommodation shall be limited to a person or persons currently employed 
full-time at the stud farm only) Refused / Appeal dismissed  

 
2.8 2005/1399 - Certificate of Lawfulness - Proposed use of property without 

compliance with all conditions attached to Planning Permissions 8/91/1040 and 
8/92/1133 - Refused 

 
2.9 2004/0795 - Certificate of Lawfulness for: 1) Non-compliance with Conditions 4, 

5, 7 and 8 of Planning Permission 8/91/1040. 2) Extension of residential curtilage. 
3) Erection of metal horse ring. 4) Use of part of stable buildings as: a) domestic 
kitchen and boiler room and associated building works b) offices and associated 
building works. - Granted 

 
2.10 1999/0580 - Single storey extension at rear and porch to front - Granted 
 
2.11 1996/0325 - Erection of 10 no. additional loose boxes to existing stud farm; 

retention of existing timber lunge ring and provision of landscaped areas - 
Granted 

 
2.12 1992/1133 - Reserved Matters. Stud Farm with associated living quarters -

Granted 
 
2.13 1991/1040 - Outline. Stud farm with associated living quarters (including details of 

access and siting) - Granted 
 
3.0 OBSERVATIONS OF CONSULTEES 
 
3.1 Environmental Health Officer  
 
 If the property were to be occupied other than by an immediate family member 

there could be noise issues from the adjacent stables.  
 
3.2 LCC Highways  
 
 The site is located at the southern end of Charity Lane which is a privately 

maintained road. The Highway Developer Support section has no objection to this 
application and is of the opinion that the proposed development should have a 
negligible impact on highway safety and highway capacity within the immediate 
vicinity of the site.  

 
4.0 OTHER REPRESENTATIONS 
 
4.1 Letters of representation have been received which can be summarised as: 
 

The conversion of the barn to a dwelling would tidy the property up; 

Page 648



81 
 

I am happy the proposal makes no negative impact on the residents or area. I 
have no objections. 

  
5.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES 
 
5.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the West Lancashire Local 

Plan 2012-2027 DPD provide the policy framework against which the 
development proposals will be assessed. 

 
 The site is located within the Key Service Centre of Ormskirk as designated in the 

West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD. 
 
 National Planning Policy Framework 
 Requiring good design 
 Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes 
 Protecting Green belt Land 
 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
   
 West Lancashire Local Plan Policies 
 GN1 - Settlement Boundaries 
 GN3 - Criteria for Sustainable Development 
 IF2 - Enhancing Sustainable Transport Choice 
 EC2 - The Rural Economy 
 RS1 - Residential Development 
 EN2 - Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire‟s Natural Environment 
  
 Supplementary Planning Document - Design Guide (January 2008) 
 
 Supplementary Planning Document - Development in the Green Belt (October 

2015) 
 
6.0 OBSERVATIONS OF DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 

Site description 
 
6.1 The site comprises a modern brick built barn situated to the north-east of Charity 

Lane close to a large equine facility. The building was in use in connection with 
the equine use on the adjoining site. The application site has an existing entrance 
from Charity Lane which leads to a concrete yard. 

 
6.2 The equine facility and dwelling known as Brookfields are in the same ownership 

as the application site. Open fields to the rear (north-east and north) of the site 
are also owned by the applicant. 

 
Proposal 

 

Page 649



82 
 

6.3 The application proposes an extension to the brick barn to create a first floor and 
conversion of the resultant building into a three-bedroom dwelling. Alterations to 
insert a number of new windows and doors would be required.  

 
6.4 A parking area would be provided at the front of the building with garden areas to 

the north-east and south-east sides. The submission details that the applicants 
wish to re-use the barn as a dwelling for their daughter and her family 

 
6.5 The submission also proposes an area, 4690mІ in size, for deciduous woodland 

planting to the rear of the application site. 
 

Assessment 
 
6.6 The main considerations for this application are 
 

Principle of development - Impact on the Green Belt 
Principle of development - Sustainability 
Design 
Impact on neighbouring properties 
Highways 
Drainage 

 
Principle of development - Impact on the Green Belt 

 
6.7 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the West Lancashire Local 

Plan 2012-2027 DPD provide the policy framework against which the 
development proposals will be assessed. 
 

6.8 Paragraph 90 in the National Planning Policy Framework states that certain forms 
of development are not inappropriate in Green Belt provided they preserve the 
openness of the Green Belt and do not conflict with purposes of including land in 
the Green Belt. The re-use of buildings, provided that the buildings are of 
permanent and substantial construction, is one such form of development.   

 
6.9 GB2(1) of the SPD - Development in the Green Belt states “A proposal for the 

conversion of an existing non-residential building within the Green Belt should 
satisfy each of the following criteria:  

 
 (a) The building should be of permanent and substantial construction and capable 

of conversion without major change, demolition or extension;  
 
 (b) The proposals will maintain and enhance the character and wider landscape 

setting and site features;  
 
 (c) The proposals seek to improve the external appearance of the building, in line 

with the Borough Council‟s Design Guide SPD;” 

Page 650



83 
 

 
6.10 Having regard to the information provided I am satisfied the building is of 

permanent and substantial construction and therefore criteria (a) of the SPD and 
the relevant part of paragraph 90 in the NPPF are met.  

 
6.11 Paragraph 79 of the NPPF states that the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is 

to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the essential 
characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their permanence.  
Paragraph 80 sets out the five purposes of the Green Belt; one of which is to 
assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment. 

 
6.12 Openness is the concept of freedom from development and is an absolute test 

and does not depend on visibility.  The development (operational or use) is there 
or it is not.  The NPPF at paragraph 88 states that: When considering any 
planning application, local planning authorities should ensure that substantial 
weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt. 

 
6.13 I acknowledge that there would be some domestication of the land surrounding 

the barn as a result of the proposed change of use. If the application was 
considered to be acceptable the Council could remove permitted development 
rights for certain forms of development such as extensions to the building, 
garages or other outbuildings which would substantially limit the harm to the 
openness of the Green Belt. Furthermore, given that the yard is currently able to 
be used for purposes associated with the existing equine use, I consider that any 
domestic paraphernalia which could not be restricted by condition would have a 
neutral impact on both openness and the purposes of the Green Belt.  

 
6.14 Paragraph 89 in the National Planning Policy Framework states that “A local 

planning authority should regard the construction of new buildings as 
inappropriate in Green Belt.” There are 6 exceptions to this rule including “the 
extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in 
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building.” 

 
6.15 Policy GB4 of the SPD - Development in the Green Belt states proposals for 

extensions to existing buildings in the Green Belt should satisfy the specified 
criteria which include: the total volume of the proposal together with any previous 
extensions should not exceed 40% of the volume of the existing building and the 
design of the extension should be in keeping with the original form and 
appearance of the building and not materially harm the openness of the Green 
Belt.  

 
6.16 The total volume increase of approx. 24% is less than the guideline figure set out 

in the first criterion and in my view the extension would not be a disproportionate 
addition to the building.  

 

Page 651



84 
 

6.17 I am satisfied the alterations are acceptable and would be in keeping with the 
rural character of the area. Furthermore the character of building and wider 
landscape setting would be maintained. I consider the development would be in 
accordance with to the second and third criteria. Overall the development would 
comply with policy GB2 (1) of the SPD. 

 
Impact on Green Belt - summary 

 
6.18 I am satisfied the building is of permanent and substantial construction and, 

subject to appropriate restrictive conditions, that the domestication of the site 
would have a neutral impact on the openness of the Green Belt and the purposes 
of including land within it. Furthermore the proposed extension to the building 
would not be disproportionate.   

 
6.19 On that basis the principle of the re-use of the building with extension is 

considered to be acceptable in green belt terms and would be in accordance with 
Paragraphs 89 and 90 of the NPPF, policy GN1 of the Local Plan and policy 
GB2(1) of the SPD - Development in the Green Belt. 

 
Principle of development - Sustainability 

 
6.20 The government sets out its stance towards residential development in the 

countryside in the NPPF. Paragraph 55 advises that to promote sustainable 
development rural housing should be located where it would enhance or maintain 
the vitality of rural communities. Local Planning Authorities should avoid new 
isolated homes in the countryside unless there are special circumstances. The 
third special circumstance is “where the development would re-use redundant or 
disused buildings and lead to an enhancement to the immediate setting”.  

 
6.21 Appeal decisions have established that the definition of isolated is not the same 

as remote but that decision makers should consider issues such as the physical 
separation from the settlement, surrounding land uses and distance from the 
road.  

 
6.22 The site is located approx. 700m outside the settlement boundary of Westhead. 

The property is located approx. 220m from the adopted highway and whilst there 
is a track from the building to the highway this is privately maintained and would 
not attract any public services. Apart from the adjacent equine development the 
site is surrounded by agricultural fields/buildings. On that basis I consider that the 
building is situated in an isolated location. As discussed above the site is situated 
outside the settlement where there are limited facilities. The nearest bus stop is 
approx. 900m from the site. More extensive facilities such as shops, medical 
practices, railway station and secondary schools are located in Ormskirk which is 
approx. 3km away.   

 

Page 652



85 
 

6.23 Given the distance from essential facilities and services and the lack of public 
transport close to the site it is my view the proposed new dwelling would be 
located in an environmentally unsustainable location where future occupants of 
the building would need to use private transport to access day-to-day facilities. 
The submission does not put forward any contrary evidence to the Council‟s 
position.  

 
6.24 Consideration is therefore necessary as to whether, under paragraph 55 of the 

Framework, there are any special circumstances to justify the provision of a new 
dwelling in this location. The submission puts forward a case under the third 
bullet point. The agent‟s letter states that the building is redundant as “although it 
was (until recently) used a racehorse business this has now ceased.” The case 
put forward is that an area of land measuring 4690mІ mainly within a field to the 
north-east of the barn would be planted with mixed deciduous woodland which 
would result in an enhancement of the immediate setting of the building. Limited 
information of the planting has been submitted.  

 
6.25 It is understood that the equine use of the building has recently ceased however 

this remains the lawful use of this building and the associated stables and 
facilities. The building is of modern construction and remains in a good structural 
condition as do the nearby stables. The appearance of the building does not 
cause harm to the wider setting.  

 
6.26 The use of the building for equine purposes is considered to be a typically rural 

use and the appearance of the site is commensurate with that use. On this basis 
an equine use would not be considered to cause harm to the character or 
appearance to the setting of a building in a rural location.  

 
6.27 It is my view that the immediate setting of the building comprises the areas 

directly adjacent to the building. The main area for the proposed enhancements 
would be outside the immediate setting. In respect of the stated environmental 
benefits it is my view that ecological enhancements such as new planting could 
be carried out without conversion of the building to a dwelling. The actual 
development, i.e. the conversion and extension of the building, would have a 
neutral impact on the immediate setting of the building. Figure 3 in the agent‟s 
letter shows some untidiness of the site however it is my view that very limited 
level of „tidying-up‟ and removal of waste would improve the appearance of the 
site. 

 
6.28 Policy EC2 of the Local Plan states “The irreversible development of open, 

agricultural land will not be permitted where it would result in the loss of the best 
and most versatile agricultural land, except where absolutely necessary to deliver 
development allocated within this Local Plan or strategic infrastructure, or 
development associated with the agricultural use of the land.”  

 

Page 653



86 
 

6.29 The land which is proposed to be for the enhancement planting is classified as 
Grade 1 agricultural land. The proposed planting would impact on a significant 
area of Grade 1 land. 

 
Sustainability - summary  

 
6.30 Having regard to the above it is my view the stated benefits of development set 

out in the application submission do not overcome my consideration that the site 
is located in an isolated and unsustainable location and furthermore would result 
in an impact on a significant area of Grade 1 agricultural land. I therefore consider 
the proposal fails to comply with the requirements of paragraph 55 of the NPPF 
and with policies EC2 and GN3 of the Local Plan. 

 
Design 

 
6.31 The Council‟s SPD Design Guide states that new development should be of a 

scale, mass and built form, which responds to the characteristics of the site and 
its surroundings.  Care should be taken to ensure that buildings do not disrupt the 
visual amenities of the streetscene because of their height, scale or roofline. 

 
6.32 In terms of extensions to existing buildings Policy GN3, together with the 

Council‟s Design Guide, states that extensions should be subservient in size, 
scale and mass and should have a built form which relate to the character and 
appearance of the property. 

 
6.33 I am satisfied that the design of the building would be in keeping with the rural 

character of the area. The proposed extension to raise the roof of the building is 
modest in size and does not significantly alter the appearance of the building. 

 
6.34 In terms of its design I am satisfied the proposal would comply with the 

requirements of policy GN3 of the Local Plan.  
 

Impact on residential amenity 
 
6.35 Paragraph 17 of the NPPF requires that planning should always seek to ensure a 

good standard of amenity for all existing and future residents. The application 
must also be assessed in terms of Policy GN3 of the West Lancashire Local Plan 
(2012-2027), which states that development should “retain or create reasonable 
levels of privacy, amenity and sufficient garden / outdoor spaces for occupiers of 
the neighbouring and proposed properties”.  

 
6.36 Due to the position of the nearest neighbours I am satisfied the proposal would 

not result in any adverse impact on residential amenity. The layout demonstrates 
adequate garden space could be provided for the proposed dwelling in line with 
the requirements of policy GN3.  

 

Page 654



87 
 

Highways 
 
6.37 Policy GN3 of the West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD states that 

development should incorporate suitable and safe access and road layout design 
in line with latest standards. Adequate parking should be provided in accordance 
with policy IF2.  

 
6.38 The site is situated at the end of an unadopted lane and there is an existing 

access from the site onto this lane. Having regard to the comments from the 
Highway Officer I am satisfied the development would have a negligible impact 
on highway capacity and highway safety within the immediate vicinity of the site. 
A parking area has been shown on the site plan which I consider would provide 
suitable parking for two cars. This level of parking would be adequate for the 
three-bedroom dwelling that is proposed. 

 
Drainage 

 
6.39 Limited details have been submitted within the planning application on how the 

drainage of foul and surface water would be dealt with. The submitted forms 
indicate that foul water will discharge to the main sewer and a soakaway would 
be provided to deal with surface water. If the proposal were otherwise acceptable 
then an appropriately worded planning condition would be recommended to 
require the submission of full drainage details. 
 
Summary 

 
6.40 Given the above I consider that the proposal would result in the creation of 

market housing in an unsustainable location. In my view the special 
circumstances put forward do not outweigh the harm caused by the proposal. On 
that basis the proposal fails to comply with the requirements of the NPPF and 
Policies GN1 and RS1 of the West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD and 
should be recommended for refusal. 

 
7.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
7.1 That the application should be REFUSED for the following reason: 
 
Reasons for Refusal 
 1. The proposed development is contrary to paragraph 55 of the National Planning 

Policy Framework and Policies GN1 and RS1 of the West Lancashire Local Plan 
(2012-2027) DPD in that the development would result in a new isolated home in 
the countryside and the delivery of market housing outside of a settlement 
boundary in an unsustainable location.  Insufficient special circumstances have 
been identified to support the development in this context. 

 
  

Page 655



88 
 

 
No.7 APPLICATION 

NO. 
2016/0126/FUL 

 LOCATION Fine Janes Farm Moss Road Halsall Southport Lancashire 
PR8 4JG 
 

 PROPOSAL Demolition of former egg production buildings and related 
infrastructure and erection of 57 dwellings and related 
development including improvement of existing access to 
site, internal access roads, amenity open space, 
landscaping, pumping station and boundary fencing 

 APPLICANT Jones Homes (Lancashire) Ltd And Pent Ltd 
 WARD Halsall 
 PARISH Halsall 
 TARGET DATE 16th June 2016 
 

 
1.0 PREVIOUS RELEVANT DECISIONS 
 
1.1 2011/0595/COU GRANTED – Conversion and alterations to 8 no. redundant farm 

buildings for B2 (industrial) use, demolition of remaining redundant farm buildings 
and provision of car parking. 

 
2.0 CONSULTEE RESPONSES 
 
2.1 DESIGNING OUT CRIME OFFICER (19.02.16) – Suggest security measures to 

be incorporated into the design. 
 
2.2 ELECTRICITY NORTH WEST (05.04.16) – Could have an impact upon our 

infrastructure, therefore care should be taken with excavation works. 
 
2.3 SEFTON MBC (12.04.16) - Located on boundary with Sefton, 5 miles from 

Ormskirk and Burscough. Therefore, the impact on infrastructure and services is 
likely to be greater in Sefton rather than West Lancashire. Consequently, request 
£113,138 education contribution. 

 
2.4 UNITED UTILITIES (12.04.16) – No objections subject to conditions. 
 
2.5 MEAS (25.04.16 & 09.06.16) – No objections subject to conditions. 
 
2.6 NATURAL ENGLAND (09.05.17) (17.07.17) – No objections. 
 
2.7 LCC PLANNING CONTRIBUTIONS (12.05.16) – Request £142,125.12 education 

contribution. 
 

Page 656



89 
 

2.8 SENIOR ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICER (27.04.16) – No objections 
subject to conditions. 

 
2.9 ENVIRONMENT AGENCY (31.05.16) – No objections subject to conditions. 
 
2.10 LCC HIGHWAYS (16.05.16) and (20.09.16) – No objection in principle to the 

proposed development and conditions recommended. The submitted Transport 
Statement has successfully demonstrated that the development will generate 
fewer vehicle movements during the morning and evening peak periods 
compared to both the original use of the site and the previously approved change 
of use to B2 industrial use.  Therefore the development should have a negligible 
impact on highway capacity within the immediate vicinity of the site.   
The internal layout of the development is not to adoptable standards.  The 
applicant has confirmed that the development will not be offered up for adoption 
by the Highway Authority but will remain private and be managed and maintained 
by a management company. The future maintenance of the bridge should be 
included in the agreement with the management company.  
The proposed sight lines and visibility splays are acceptable. In relation to internal 
site layout and parking, the parking spaces to the front of the 2 existing properties 
on Brookside Road extend over the proposed service verge and car parking is 
not to recognised standards.  

 
2.11  LLFA (11.08.16) – No objection subject to the inclusion of conditions in respect of   

surface water drainage. 
 
3.0 OTHER REPRESENTATIONS 
 
3.1 HALSALL PARISH COUNCIL (14/4/16) – Object to the proposals on the following 

grounds – Access to the site is restricted to one-way traffic and is located on a 
bend close to the Brook and there are existing drainage issues, impact on wildlife. 

 
3.2 I have received two neighbour representations making the following comments: 
 

Large development for a site with poor access; 
Directly overlooking our garden – no screening; 
Drainage issues; 
Timing of development should be considered; 
Mature trees already felled; 
Cumulative impact of this site and David Wilson Homes site down the road; 
Overload local services; 
Increased traffic; 
Highway safety; 
Infrastructure cannot cope; 
Loss of privacy. 

 

 

Page 657



90 
 

4.0  SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
4.1 The following documents have been submitted in support of the planning 

application: 
 

Financial Viability Assessment 
Topographical Survey 
Transport Statement 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
Ecological Survey and Water Vole Mitigation Survey 
Flood Risk Assessment 
Design and Access Statement 
Planning Statement 
Statement of Community Involvement 

 
5.0 LOCAL PLAN ALLOCATION 
 
5.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), National Planning Practice 

Guidance (NPPG) and the West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD (WLLP) 
provide the policy framework against which the development proposals will be 
assessed. 

 
5.2 The site is located on the edge of the Southport / Birkdale urban area and, aside 

from the south-east corner, is allocated for residential development in policy RS1 
of the West Lancashire Local Plan.  The south-east corner of the site is located in 
the Green Belt. 

 
NPPF   
Promoting sustainable transport 
Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes 
Requiring good design 
Protecting Green Belt land 
Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
Conserving and enhancing the natural environment  
 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD 
SP1 – A Sustainable Development Framework for West Lancashire  
GN1 – Settlement Boundaries 
GN3 – Criteria for Sustainable Development 
RS1 – Residential Development 
RS2 – Affordable and Specialist Housing 
IF2 – Enhancing Sustainable Transport Choice 
IF3 – Service Accessibility and Infrastructure for Growth 
IF4 – Developer Contributions 
EN1 – Low Carbon Development and Energy Infrastructure 
EN2 – Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire‟s Natural Environment 

Page 658



91 
 

EN3 – Provision of Green Infrastructure and Open Recreation Space 
 
Supplementary Planning Document – Design Guide (January 2008) 
Supplementary Planning Document – Provision of Public Open Space in New 
Residential Developments 

 
6.0 OBSERVATIONS OF DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 
 The Site 
 
6.1 Fine Jane‟s Farm is located to the south of Moss Road, behind properties 

numbered 34a-52 Moss Road.  It is accessed off Moss Road via a narrow access 
road known as Brookside Road, adjacent to no. 36 Moss Road which also forms 
part of the application site. The access then crosses a narrow bridge over Fine 
Jane‟s Brook to enter the site. The 2.72 ha site was previously used as a poultry 
farm for egg production and is laid to hard-standing. The majority of the site is 
taken up by 17 disused timber clad sheds which are in various states of disrepair 
and of various heights and size. The application site also includes an area 
(approx. 2700m2) of agricultural land in the south-east corner of the site. The site 
is allocated for residential development within the Local Plan with the exception of 
the land in the south-east corner which is designated Green Belt land. 

 
6.2 The site is bounded by residential properties fronting Moss Road to the north, 

drainage ditches with agricultural land on the other side of those ditches to the 
east and south (located in the Green Belt) and Fine Jane‟s Brook to the west, 
with agricultural land beyond the brook (also located in the Green Belt). 

 
The Proposal 

 
6.3 Planning permission is sought for the redevelopment of the site for residential 

purposes. This will include the erection of 57 no. dwellings comprised as follows: 
 
 37no. detached 
 16no. semi-detached 
 4no. terraced. 
 
6.4 The development will be laid out in a cul-de-sac layout with the vehicular access 

utilising the existing access to the site (with some modification) off Moss Road 
and then via Brookside Road. Two areas of open space are incorporated into the 
layout; one at the entrance to the development („Arrival Green‟) and an area in 
the south-east corner of the site. The land in the south-east corner will also 
accommodate the pumping station which would serve the development. 

 

 
  
 

Page 659



92 
 

 
 Principle of Development – Allocated Housing Site 
 
6.5 The NPPF supports the supply of new homes in sustainable locations. Policy SP1 

and RS1 of the Local Plan re-iterates this approach. The site is identified as a 
housing site within Policy RS1 of the WLLP and as such the general principle of 
housing on the site is considered acceptable, subject to compliance with other 
relevant Local Plan policies.   

 
 Principle of Development – Green Belt land in south-eastern corner 
 
6.6 The proposed site layout incorporates a parcel of land in the south-east corner of 

the site. This land is not within the actual site allocation under policy RS1 of the 
Local Plan, but instead is within Green Belt land.   

 
6.7 The incorporation of this parcel of land is to provide an area of on-site public open 

space as well as facilitating the pump house which will serve the development. 
The NPPF supports the provision of appropriate facilities for, amongst other 
things, outdoor recreation. In addition, at paragraph 81, the NPPF confirms that 
Local Planning Authorities should plan to retain and enhance landscapes, visual 
amenity and biodiversity within the Green Belt and seek to improve damaged and 
derelict land. 

 
6.8 The incorporation of this land within the proposed site boundary does in my 

opinion form a logical boundary as it is a continuation of the eastern boundary of 
the allocated site area. Its omission from the site layout could potentially lead to 
the land becoming land locked and unused. Consequently, I consider that the use 
of this portion of land as public open space represents a good use of the land and 
will enhance the landscape and visual amenity. On this basis, the proposed 
inclusion of public open space, linked to the proposed housing development, 
located within the Green Belt is considered to be acceptable in principle. 

 
 Affordable Housing Provision  
 
6.9 Policy RS2 of the Local Plan requires 35% of the units to be provided as 

affordable dwellings. This would equate to 20 units within the proposed 
development.  

 
6.10 The proposed development does not include any affordable dwellings and 

therefore is not policy compliant and is in conflict with Local Plan Policy RS2. A 
detailed Financial Viability Assessment was submitted to accompany the 
application.  On this basis the Council instructed an independent assessment of 
the applicant‟s viability information by Keppie Massie.   

 
6.11  Keppie Massie found that the methodology that had been adopted for assessing 

viability was acceptable, and the appraisal variables themselves (for example, 

Page 660



93 
 

development costs and abnormal site development costs) were reasonable for the 
purpose of the assessment. The developers profit at 17.75 % was considered to 
be reasonable. However, they considered the land value to be too high and if this 
were adjusted the development would be sufficiently viable to support the 
provision of a limited number of affordable units (6 affordable units of 3 rent and 3 
intermediate).   

 
6.12  The Council put this position to the applicants and a lengthy dialogue has 

ensued. Despite protracted negotiations the landowner is unwilling to reduce the 
land value and has indicated that his position is non-negotiable. This is a difficult 
site with a large number of abnormal costs and I accept that there is limited 
viability in the scheme.  In this instance the developer‟s potential profit is on the 
low side compared to the percentage profit often accepted by the Planning 
Inspectorate.  When considering appeals in relation to residential development 
where viability has been under scrutiny, and given the low level of developer 
profit, I consider that this scheme is on balance acceptable. In forming this view I 
have had regard to the need to bring this difficult allocated site back into 
beneficial use.    

 
Elderly Provision 

 
6.13 Policies RS1 and RS2 in the WLLP require residential developments of 15 or 

more dwellings to incorporate at least 20% of the units to be designed specifically 
to accommodate the elderly. This would equate to 11 units within the proposed 
development.  

 
6.14  Whilst the dwellings themselves will not be constructed for use by the elderly 

without adaptation, they will be constructed to meet current Building Regulations 
and will be capable of adaptation if necessary.  The Housing White Paper 
(February 2017) indicates that it will be necessary for developments to meet the 
needs of accommodation for the elderly.  Whilst, it is not specific how this is to be 
achieved the Planning Minister has suggested that compliance with Part M of the 
Building Regulations would probably meet the test.  This development meets 
those requirements. I am satisfied that it would be in line with the expectations of 
the White Paper and is therefore acceptable.  I am satisfied that the proposed 
development complies with Policies RS1 and RS2 in this respect.  

 
Open Space Provision 

 
6.15 Policy OS1 within the Council‟s SPD relating to the „Provision of Open Space in 

New Residential Developments‟ states that for new residential developments of 
40-289 dwellings, developers will be required to provide 13.5m² of public open 
space per bedroom developed. This equates to 2820m². The site layout 
incorporates two main separate areas of open space along with amenity space 
surrounding the footpath/cycle link along the western boundary. Cumulatively 

Page 661



94 
 

these areas provide 4846m² of open space which is significantly over the required 
amount for a development of this size. 

 
6.16 As described in paragraph 6.6 above, the south-eastern parcel of open space lies 

in the Green Belt. However, the use of this land as open space does form a 
logical boundary and its use for this purpose is acceptable in principle.  In 
addition, whilst this area of public space is located on the periphery of the 
development site and not wholly integrated in the preferred way, it is located 
close to the proposed dwellings in the southern part of the site which will overlook 
this space and benefit from its use. The „Arrival Green‟ near the site entrance is 
integrated well and will form an attractive feature when entering the development. 
Finally, the amenity space located along the western boundary will enhance the 
proposed footpath in this area and the development as whole. 

 
 Siting, Layout and Design 
 
6.17 Policy GN3 of the WLLP together with the Council‟s SPD Design Guide state that 

new development should be of a scale, mass and built form which responds to 
the characteristics of the site and its surroundings.  Care should be taken to 
ensure that buildings do not disrupt the visual amenities of the street scene 
because of their height, scale or roofline.   

 
6.18 The proposed layout offers a legible scheme with a clear route for vehicle and 

pedestrian movement throughout. The development will have a good mix of 3 and 
4 bed semi‟s and detached house types that are appropriate in design and scale 
in this area. Each dwelling benefits from a private amenity area which generally 
meet the recommended garden lengths specified in the Council‟s SPD, apart 
from a small number of plots, some of which have wider gardens to compensate.  
However, I am satisfied that the layout overall provides a satisfactory residential 
environment for future occupiers.   

 
6.19 In terms of the scheme in relation to the existing surrounding development, the 

site is largely screened from the main thoroughfare along Moss Road with only 
distant views into the site from a far north-easterly point. The surrounding 
residential development is of a linear form along Moss Road, yet there are some 
small cul-de-sac developments within close proximity to the site (Moss Gardens 
to the east and Daisy Way to the west). Those properties located along Moss 
Road benefit from long rear gardens, however, the proposed plot ratios are 
similar to those on the newer housing developments at Daisy Way and Moss 
Gardens. Adequate interface distances are provided between the proposed 
development owing to the long rear gardens of those properties on Moss Road 
that back on to the development site and no detrimental loss of residential 
amenity will occur in this location by way of loss of privacy or overlooking.  
Therefore, I am satisfied that the proposed layout and plot ratios are acceptable 
and will not appear out of keeping with this area. 

 

Page 662



95 
 

 

 
Highway Safety and Car Parking 

 
6.20 The proposed development will use the existing access via Brookside Road, off 

Moss Road, which will be widened and improved as part of the scheme. 
Appropriate visibility splays (2.4m x 43m) can be provided at this junction.  The 
existing private bridge along the proposed access road (Brookside Road) which 
crosses Fine Janes Brook will be upgraded to accommodate the traffic accessing 
the site.   

 
6.21  The applicant has confirmed that the on-site road layout is to remain private and 

will not be offered up for adoption, and therefore all land relating to the site which 
is not adopted by the Local Authority is to be in the ownership of the relevant 
property owner or remain the responsibility of the developer for maintenance; the 
maintenance of the existing private bridge along the proposed access road 
(Brookside Road) which crosses Fine Janes Brook will also be included in the 
agreement with a future management company.  Whilst the layout would not be 
to an adoptable standard, the applicant has provided information to demonstrate 
that the access is suitable for a twin axel refuse vehicle. 

 
6.22  The Local Plan sets out parking standards for residential developments.  In this 

particular instance the proposed garages (on those plots which feature garages) 
do not conform to the LCC recommended minimum 3m x 6m internal size. The 
garage sizes vary throughout the development with detached single garages 
measuring approx. 2.7m x 5.3m. 

 
6.23  Garages are seen as not only necessary to accommodate a car but also to 

provide space for the storage of other equipment including bicycles.  The garages 
shown in the proposed layout would be of a sufficient size to accommodate a 
smaller car and in order to address the issue of reduced storage for other items 
each of the plots that feature either an integral or detached single garage will also 
have a separate storage shed provided within each plot curtilage, which will 
facilitate the storage of equipment that might otherwise commonly be found in 
garages as well.  Given the nature of the development, there are opportunities for 
on-street car parking available within the scheme and as the site is a 
considerable distance from the adopted highway it is unlikely that the 
development would cause a detrimental impact to highway safety on the wider 
road network due to excessive on street parking. I am satisfied that the overall 
car parking provision is satisfactory and is unlikely to result in on- street car 
parking outside of the site.  

 
6.24  I am satisfied that the proposed development will not have a significant impact on 

highway safety and is acceptable in principle in this regard. 
 

Page 663



96 
 

 

 

 
Drainage 

 
6.25  Paragraph 103 of the NPPF requires priority use to be given to SUDS in respect 

of new developments and that means that the preferred means of surface water 
drainage for any new development is via infiltration. The second preferred means 
is via a watercourse. In this case the applicant has suitably discounted infiltration 
due to ground conditions within the site and instead proposes that surface water 
will be discharged into the watercourse (Fine Janes Brook) at a reduced runoff 
rate through the use of on-site attenuation features.  In this case the surface 
water from the development would be stored in oversized pipes prior to discharge 
to the watercourse.  The micro drainage calculations for this approach have been 
submitted and are considered acceptable and have been checked by the 
Council‟s drainage engineer.  Therefore I am satisfied with the principle of the 
method of surface water drainage proposed which ensures that the proposed 
development can be adequately drained and that there is no flood risk on or off 
the site.   

 
6.26  The proposed foul sewage would be pumped to the existing foul sewer in Moss 

Road and the development includes the provision of a pumping station to 
facilitate this. United Utilities have been consulted with regard to the application 
and, have lodged no objections and I consider that the proposed drainage 
arrangements for the site are acceptable in principle. Full drainage details will be 
secured by condition.  
 
Ecology  

 
6.27  Policy EN2 of the WLLP seeks to protect priority species and their habitat. An 

Ecological Survey and a Water Vole Mitigation Survey have been submitted in 
support of the planning application. 

 
6.28 The site is within an area known to be used by qualifying features (Pink Footed 

Geese and Whooper Swan) of the nearby European protected sites. However, 
MEAS have advised that the proposals are unlikely to have a significant effect on 
these. 

 
6.29  In relation to bats, the submitted ecological survey found no evidence of bat 

roosts but suitable habitat for roosting bats was present. Consequently, the 
ecology report recommends Reasonable Avoidance Measures (RAMs) to ensure 
there is no harm to the local bat population as a result of the demolition of the 
buildings. The RAMs are considered to be proportionate and will be secured by a 
suitably worded planning condition. MEAS have also recommend that prior to the 

Page 664



97 
 

demolition of 36 Moss Road a further bat survey will be required which again can 
be secured by condition. 

 
6.30  Water vole is present in Fine Jane‟s Brook. A water vole mitigation strategy has 

been submitted to ensure that water vole will not be harmed by the proposals. 
The mitigation strategy has been found to be acceptable by MEAS and its 
implementation can be secured by a suitably worded planning condition.  

 
6.31  Barn owl was found to be breeding on site. Mitigation for the loss of the breeding 

site (including the erection of a Barn Owl Tower) has been provided within the 
ecology report and again will be secured by condition. The ecological survey also 
recorded evidence of breeding swallow. As swallow is site faithful mitigation for 
the loss of a nest site is required and alternative nesting opportunities (such as 
nest bowls) will be provided within the Barn Owl mitigation structure. 

 
6.32  Japanese knotweed and Himalayan balsam are invasive species and were found 

within the site boundary. A method statement will be requested by condition 
which includes the proposed remediation treatment. 

 
6.33  Subject to the aforementioned conditions being attached, I am satisfied that the 

proposal complies with Policy EN2 of the WLLP and the Council can lawfully 
determine the application and discharge its duties under Regulations 61 and 62 
of the Habitats Regulations and Section 28I (6) of the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1989 (as amended).  

 
Planning Obligations 

 
6.34  Lancashire County Council (LCC) has requested £142,125 as an education 

contribution which would support the provision of an additional 7 secondary 
school places. Sefton Council who are the nearest neighbouring authority to the 
development site have also made a request for an education contribution 
(£113,138). This is on the basis that future occupants of the development site 
may well attend schools within the Sefton borough. I acknowledge this scenario is 
likely to occur, therefore whilst I consider it appropriate to secure a financial 
contribution for education via a S106 agreement, Members views are sought on 
the appropriateness of seeking a financial contribution for education funding on 
behalf of Sefton Council rather than LCC. The submission of details regarding the 
maintenance and management of the public open space and roads and bridge 
within the development site will also be required in a S106 agreement.   

 
Financial Benefits 

 
6.35 The scheme will deliver financial benefits in the form of New Homes Bonus which 

would equate to approximately £400,000 over 6 years. The development is also 
CIL liable and would require a CIL payment in the region of £535,749.  

 

Page 665



98 
 

Summary 
 
6.36  In summary, the principle of a residential development on the site is acceptable 

and in accordance with Policy RS1 of the Local Plan.  In terms of affordable 
housing I am satisfied that in this case it would not be financially viable to provide 
any affordable dwellings on the site taking into account all other financial 
requirements, including CIL payment and the contribution of either £113,138 or 
£142,125 towards school places.  The proposed development is acceptable in 
terms of layout, appearance and scale.  I am satisfied that the proposed 
development will maintain highway safety and adequate car parking will be 
provided. The layout allows for the provision and retention of reasonable levels of 
amenity for the occupants of future and neighbouring properties. Adequate 
drainage measures are proposed to prevent flooding. I find that the proposed 
development is compliant with the Local Plan and Habitat Regulations in respect 
of ecology.  

 
7.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
7.1  That the decision to grant planning permission be delegated to the Director of 

Development and Regeneration in consultation with the Chairman or Vice 
Chairman of the Planning Committee subject to the applicant entering into a 
planning obligation under S106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to 
secure: 

 
The payment of £142,125 as a contribution towards secondary school places 
within Lancashire, or £113,138 within Sefton; 
Maintenance and management of public open space; and 
Maintenance and management of the roads within the development and the 
bridge. 

 
7.2 That any planning permission granted by the Director of Development and 

Regeneration pursuant to recommendation 7.1 above be subject to the following 
conditions: 

 
Conditions 
 1. The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years 

beginning with the date of this permission. 
 2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with details 

shown on the following plans:- 
 Plan reference „Site Location Plan – LO01‟ received by the Local Planning 

Authority on 03.02.16. 
 Plan reference „Proposed Site Layout – DL01F‟ received by the Local Planning 

Authority on 16.03.17. 
 Plan reference „Swept Path Analysis – SCP/16016/ATR01B‟ received by the 

Local Planning Authority on 03.08.16. 

Page 666



99 
 

 Plan reference „Proposed Site Access Junction – SCP/16016/F01 B‟ received by 
the Local Planning Authority on 03.08.16. 

 Plan reference „The Birch/Cranford 4 Block Elevations – BCCB-L1A2010-
PLNG04‟ received by the Local Planning Authority on 17.03.16. 

 Plan reference „The Birch/Cranford 4 Block Floor Plans – BCCB-L1A2010-
PLNG03‟ received by the Local Planning Authority on 17.03.16. 

 Plan reference „Holcombe Aspect – HOL-P-05(2010)‟ received by the Local 
Planning Authority on 17.03.16. 

  
 Plan reference „The Holcombe – HOL-P-01(2010)‟ received by the Local 

Planning Authority on 17.03.16. 
 Plan reference „Huxley-A Aspect – HUXA ASP-P-02‟ received by the Local 

Planning Authority on 17.03.06. 
 Plan reference „The Davenham – DAV-P-01(2010) received by the Local 

Planning Authority on 17.03.16. 
 Plan reference „The Cranford – CRAN-P-01‟ received by the Local Planning 

Authority on 17.03.16. 
 Plan reference „The Birch Semi-Det Elevations – BIRCH-L1A2010-PLNG01‟ 

received by the Local Planning Authority on 17.03.16. 
 Plan reference „The Birch 3 Bed Detached – BIRCH-L1A2010-PLNG01‟ received 

by the Local Planning Authority on 17.03.16. 
 Plan reference „The Banbury – BAN-P-01 (2010)‟ received by the Local Planning 

Authority on 17.03.16. 
 Plan reference „The Birch 3 Bed Detached – BIRCH-L1A2010-PLNG01‟ received 

by the Local Planning Authority on 17.03.16. 
 Plan reference „Detached Double Garage – DET-DG-PLNG01‟received by the 

Local Planning Authority on 17.03.16. 
 Plan reference „Detached Single Garage – DET-SG-PLNG01‟received by the 

Local Planning Authority on 17.03.16. 
 Plan reference „CALD-P05(2017-2010)‟received by the Local Planning Authority 

on 18.07.17. 
 Plan reference „BEV-L1A2010-PLNG01‟received by the Local Planning Authority 

on 18.07.17. 
 Plan reference „BEV-L1A2010-PLNG02‟received by the Local Planning Authority 

on 18.07.17. 
 Plan reference „CALD-P-02(2014-2010)‟received by the Local Planning Authority 

on 18.07.17. 
3. No development above slab level shall take place until full details and samples of 

the external brickwork and roofing materials have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved details. 

 4. No development shall take place until details of the design and implementation of 
an appropriate foul drainage scheme have been submitted and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. 

 5. No development shall commence until details of the design, based on sustainable 
drainage principles, and implementation of an appropriate surface water 

Page 667



100 
 

sustainable drainage scheme have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. 

 Those details shall include, as a minimum: 
 a) Evidence of an assessment of the site conditions to include any existing 

surface water flow routes on to and from the development site; 
 a) Demonstration that surface water run-off will not exceed pre-development 

run-off rates and volumes. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details before the development is completed; 

 b) Information about the lifetime of the development, design storm period and 
intensity (1 in 30 & 1 in 100 year +30% allowance for climate change), discharge 
rates and volumes (both pre and post development), temporary storage facilities, 
the methods employed to delay and control surface water discharged from the 
site, and the measures taken to prevent flooding of the receiving surface waters, 
including watercourses; 

 c) Evidence that flood flows resulting from rainfall up to and including a 1 in 
100 year (including a +30% allowance for climate change) rainfall event will be 
managed within the site at designated temporary storage locations unless it can 
be shown to have no material impact by leaving the site in terms of nuisance or 
damage; and 

 d) Evidence that the design of the site ensures that, so far as is reasonably 
practicable, flows resulting from rainfall in excess of a 1 in 100 year rainfall 
events are managed in exceedance routes that minimise the risks to people and 
property. 

 The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior 
to first occupation of any of the approved dwellings, or completion of the 
development, whichever is the sooner.  

 6. Details of an appropriate management and maintenance plan for the proposed 
SuDS for the lifetime of the development shall be submitted and approved in 
writing  and, as a minimum, shall include:  

        a) the arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory 
undertaker, management and maintenance by a Residents' Management 
Company; 

        b) arrangements concerning appropriate funding mechanisms for its on-going 
maintenance of all elements of the proposed SuDS (including mechanical 
components) and will include elements such as:  

        i. on-going inspections relating to performance and asset condition 
assessments, 

        ii. operation costs for regular maintenance, remedial works and irregular 
maintenance caused by less sustainable limited life assets or any other 
arrangements to secure the operation of the surface water drainage scheme 
throughout its lifetime. 

        c) means of access for maintenance and easements where applicable. 
        The plan shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior 

to first occupation of any of the approved dwellings. Thereafter the sustainable 
drainage system shall be managed and maintained in accordance with the 
approved details.  

Page 668



101 
 

 7. No development above slab level take place until a landscaping scheme has 
been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The 
landscaping scheme shall show the location, branch spread, and species of all 
existing trees and hedges; the location, species and number of all proposed 
trees, shrubs and hedges; and the location of all existing and proposed grassed 
and hard surfaced areas. Trees and shrubs planted shall comply with BS. 3936 
(Specification of Nursery Stock) and shall be planted in accordance with BS. 
4428 (General Landscape Operations). Within a period of 9 months from the date 
when any part of the development is brought into use the approved landscaping 
scheme shall be carried out. All planting shall be maintained and dead or dying 
material shall be replaced for a period of seven years from the agreed date of 
planting. 

 8. The recommendations contained in section 5.0 of the Ecological Survey and 
Assessment dated September 2015 shall be implemented in full throughout the 
duration of the development. 

 9. The recommendations contained in section 5.0 of the Water Vole Mitigation 
Strategy dated March 2016 shall be implemented in full throughout the duration 
of the development. 

10. Prior to the demolition of 36 Moss Lane, a further bat survey of this building shall 
be undertaken and submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Any proposed mitigation measures shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the agreed details shall be 
implemented in full throughout the duration of the development. 

11. No development shall take place until full details of the finished levels of all parts 
of the site, including the floor levels of all buildings, have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 
implemented in accordance with those details. 

12. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) or any subsequent 
Orders or statutory provision re-enacting the provisions of these Orders, the 
garages shall be maintained as such and shall not be converted to or used for 
living accommodation without the prior written approval of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

13. No development above slab level shall take place until details of the proposed 
screen walls and/or fences have been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. Such walls and/or fences shall be erected as an integral part 
of the development and completed to each dwelling before that dwelling is first 
occupied. 

14. No development shall take place until details of a lighting scheme have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The agreed 
details shall be implemented in full and maintained as such for the duration of the 
development. 

15. No development shall take place until a scheme that includes the following 
components to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site shall 
each be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 

 1) A preliminary risk assessment which has identified: 

Page 669



102 
 

 all previous uses potential contaminants associated with those uses a conceptual 
model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors potentially 
unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site. 

 2) A site investigation scheme based on (1) to provide information for a detailed 
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off 
site. 

 3) The results of the site investigation and detailed risk assessment referred to in 
(2) and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full 
details of the remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken. 

 4) A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 
demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy (3) are complete 
and identifying any requirements for longer term monitoring of pollutant linkages, 
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action. 

 Any changes of these components require the express written consent of the 
Local Planning Authority. The agreed scheme shall be implemented in full. 

16. No occupation of any part of the development shall take place until a verification 
report demonstrating completion of works set out in the approved remediation 
strategy and the effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The report shall include 
results of sampling and monitoring carried out in accordance with the approved 
verification plan to demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met. 
It shall also include a plan (a 'long-term monitoring and maintenance plan') for 
longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for 
contingency action, as identified in the verification plan. The agreed long-term 
monitoring and maintenance plan shall be implemented in full. 

17. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the Flood Risk 
Assessment dated February 2016 prior to occupation of any dwelling on the site. 

18. Prior to commencement of any part of the development hereby approved, 
including site clearance, ground preparation, or drainage works, a facility shall be 
provided by which the wheels of all vehicles leaving the site can be cleaned.  The 
wheels of all vehicles leaving the site during all stages of implementation shall be 
cleaned so that they do not carry any mud, soil, grit or other such materials onto 
the public highway. 

19. No part of the development shall be commenced until the visibility splays 
measuring 2.4 metres by 43 metres in both directions are provided, measured 
along the centre line of the proposed new road from the continuation of the 
nearer edge of the existing carriageway of Moss Road, to the satisfaction of the 
Local Planning Authority. The land within these splays shall be maintained 
thereafter, free from obstructions such as walls, fences, trees, hedges, shrubs, 
ground growth or other structures within the splays in excess of 1.0 metre in 
height above the height at the centre line of the adjacent carriageway. 

20. The new estate road for the residential development shall be constructed in 
accordance with the Lancashire County Council Specification for Construction of 
Estate Roads to at least base course level up to the entrance of the site 
compound before any development takes place within the site and shall be 

Page 670



103 
 

further extended before any development commences fronting the new access 
road. 

21. No part of the development hereby approved shall commence until all the 
highway works within the adopted highway have been constructed in accordance 
with a scheme that shall be submitted to, and approved by, the Local Planning 
Authority in consultation with the Highway Authority as part of a section 278 
agreement, under the Highways Act 1980. 

22. No dwelling shall be occupied until the associated off road car parking spaces are 
laid out and available for use in accordance with the approved plan. 

23. A Traffic Management Plan for the construction vehicles and staff accessing the 
site during construction works, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority prior to works commencing on site.  The 
development shall be implemented in accordance with this Plan. 

24. No part of the development shall be occupied until details of the proposed 
arrangements for future management and maintenance of the proposed streets 
within the development have been submitted to and approved by the local 
planning authority. The streets shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with 
the approved management and maintenance details until such time as a private 
management and Maintenance Company has been established. 

25. The proposed access from the site to Moss Road shall be constructed to a 
(minimum) width of 5.5m and this width shall be maintained for a minimum 
distance of 10m measured back from the nearside edge of the carriageway. 

26. The proposed pedestrian/cycle footpath shall be implemented in accordance with 
the approved plans in a timetable which shall first be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to construction works commencing 
on site. 

27. No development shall take place until a method statement for the control of 
Japanese knotweed and Himalayan Balsam during the construction period has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
statement shall include the following:- 

 A plan showing the spread of Japanese knotweed and Himalayan Balsam 
 What methods will be used to prevent the plant spreading further, including 

demarcation fencing, methods of removal, signage and briefing of construction 
workers 

 The agreed methodology shall be implemented in full at all times during the 
construction phase. 

28. Prior to construction details of the barn owl tower and a timetable for its 
implementation as required in section 5.0 of the Ecological Survey and 
Assessment dated September 2015, shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, the barn owl tower shall be implemented 
in accordance with the approved details and timetable and maintained as such 
thereafter.   

29. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) or any subsequent 
Orders or statutory provision re-enacting the provisions of these Orders no 
outbuildings or other extensions to a dwelling on plot numbers 9 to 23 shall be 

Page 671



104 
 

erected until details of the siting and design have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

30. Details of the garden sheds to be provided on the plots identified on site layout 
plan DL01 Rev F received by the Local Planning Authority on 16th March 2017 
shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
sheds shall be provided in accordance with the approved details prior to 
occupation of the associated dwelling. 

 
Reasons 
 1. Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990. 
 2. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the provisions of 

Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development 
Plan Document. 

 3. To ensure that the external appearance of the building(s) is satisfactory and that 
the development therefore complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the 
adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 4. To ensure that the site is properly drained in the interest of local amenity and that 
the development, therefore, complies with the provisions of Policies GN3 & IF3 in 
the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan 
Document. 

 5. To ensure that the site is properly drained in the interest of local amenity and that 
the development, therefore, complies with the provisions of Policies GN3 & IF3 in 
the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan 
Document. 

 6. To ensure that the site is properly drained in the interest of local amenity and that 
the development, therefore, complies with the provisions of Policies GN3 & IF3 in 
the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan 
Document. 

 7. To assimilate the proposed development into its surroundings and to ensure that 
the development complies with the provisions of Policy EN2 in the adopted West 
Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 8. To safeguard a protected species and so ensure that the development complies 
with the provisions of Policy EN2 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 
2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 9. To safeguard a protected species and so ensure that the development complies 
with the provisions of Policy EN2 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 
2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

10. To safeguard a protected species and so ensure that the development complies 
with the provisions of Policy EN2 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 
2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

11. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the provisions of 
Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development 
Plan Document. 

12. To allow for vehicles visiting the site to be parked clear of the highway and to 
ensure that the development complies with the provisions of Policies GN3 & IF2 

Page 672



105 
 

in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan 
Document. 

13. To ensure that the external appearance of the development is satisfactory and 
that the development therefore complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the 
adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

14. To provide a safe and secure environment and to safeguard a protected species 
and so to ensure that the development complies with the provisions of Policies 
GN3 and EN2 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document. 

15. To contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by preventing 
water pollution or being adversely affected by water pollution and so  to ensure 
that the development complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document and 
paragraphs 109 and 121 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 

16. To contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by preventing 
water pollution or being adversely affected by water pollution and so to ensure 
that the development complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document and 
paragraphs 109 and 121 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 

17. To ensure that the site is properly drained and to prevent flooding in the interest 
of local amenity so to comply with the provisions of Policies GN3 & IF3 in the 
adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

18. To safeguard the safety and interests of the users of the highway and to ensure 
that the development complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

19. To ensure adequate visibility at the street junction or site access in the interest of 
highway safety in accordance with Quality of Development Policy and Transport 
Policy in the Local Plan. 

20. To ensure that satisfactory access is provided to the site before the development 
hereby permitted becomes operative. 

21. In order to satisfy the Local Planning Authority and Highway Authority that the 
final details of the highway scheme/works are acceptable before work 
commences on site and to enable all construction traffic to enter and leave the 
premises in a safe manner without causing a hazard to other road users. 

22. To allow for the effective use of parking areas and to ensure that the 
development complies with the provisions of Policies GN3 & IF2 in the adopted 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

23. To protect existing road users. 
24. To safeguard the safety and interests of the users of the highway and to ensure 

that the development complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

25. To enable vehicles to enter and leave the premises in a safe manner without 
causing a hazard to other road users. 

26. In the interests of sustainability in accordance with Policy GN3 in the adopted 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

27. To prevent the spread of Japanese knotweed and Himalayan Balsam. 

Page 673



106 
 

28. To safeguard a protected species and so ensure that the development complies 
with the provisions of Policy EN2 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 
2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

29. The character and location of the property are such that the Local Planning 
Authority wish to exercise maximum control over future development in order to 
comply with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local 
Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

  
30. To provide cycle parking on those plots where the garage does not have 

sufficient space to accommodate both a car and cycles and to ensure that the 
development complies with the provisions of Policies GN3 & IF2 in the adopted 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 
 

 
Notes 
 1. The Environment Agency advise, in agreement with the Phase 1 REC report, that 

a further Phase 2 investigation should be undertaken. This would be best 
implemented following the demolition of the existing buildings on the site so as to 
provide maximum return with requiring a visit by further consultants. 

 2. The highway is not to an adoptable layout and will remain private. With regard to 
condition 2 it is advised the carriageway construction is based on the Lancashire 
County Council Specification for estate roads 2011 edition. Further information 
and advice can be found at www.lancashire.gov.uk and search for "construction 
of estate roads". 

 3. The applicant is advised that the new site access, will need to be constructed 
under a section 278 agreement of the 1980 Highways Act. The Highway Authority 
hereby reserves the right to provide the highway works within the highway 
associated with this proposal. Provision of the highway works includes design, 
procurement of the work by contract and supervision of the works. The applicant 
is advised to contact the Environment Directorate before works begin on site. 
Further information and advice can be found at www.lancashire.gov.uk and 
search for "278 agreement". 

 4. The Applicant is advised to obtain the written approval of the Local Highway 
Authority for the details required under Condition 7, prior to the submission of 
such details to the Local Planning Authority in seeking to discharge the said 
condition. Such details, as may be submitted to the Local Highway Authority, 
could be subject to technical and safety assessments / audits, which may result 
in changes to the layouts and alignments as shown on any indicative layout(s) 
approved by virtue of the planning permission. The applicant is advised that the 
Local Planning Authority may reject details submitted to them for the discharge of 
the condition without evidence of technical approval from the Local Highway 
Authority. 

 5. The applicant is advised that to discharge condition 9 that the local planning 
authority requires a copy of a completed agreement between the applicant and 
the local highway authority under Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980 or the 

Page 674



107 
 

constitution and details of a Private Management and Maintenance Company 
confirming funding, management and maintenance regimes. 

 6. Before proceeding with the scheme preparation the Developer should consult 
with the Environment Director for detailed requirements relating to land 
arrangements, design, assessment, construction and maintenance of all existing 
or new highway structures included in, or affected by, the proposed scheme. For 
this purpose the term highway structure shall include: - 

 a. any bridge or culvert having a span of 1.5 metres or greater, or having a 
waterway opening cross sectional area exceeding 2.2 square metres Note: span 
refers to the distance between centre of supports and not the clear distance 
between supports,  

 b. any retaining wall supporting the highway (including and supporting land 
which provides support to the highway),  

 c. Any retaining wall supporting land or property alongside the highway.  
 The term 'highway' shall include footpaths and bridleways 
 
Reason for Approval 
 1. The Local Planning Authority has considered the proposed development in the 

context of the Development Plan including, in particular, the following 
Policy/Policies in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document: 

  
 SP1 - A Sustainable Development Framework for West Lancashire  
 GN1 - Settlement Boundaries 
 GN3 - Criteria for Sustainable Development 
 RS1 - Residential Development 
 RS2 - Affordable and Specialist Housing 
 IF2 - Enhancing Sustainable Transport Choice 
 IF3 - Service Accessibility and Infrastructure for Growth 
 IF4 - Developer Contributions 
 EN1 - Low Carbon Development and Energy Infrastructure 
 EN2 - Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire's Natural Environment 
 EN3 - Provision of Green Infrastructure and Open Recreation Space 
  
 together with Supplementary Planning Guidance and all relevant material 

considerations.  The Local Planning Authority considers that the proposal 
complies with the relevant Policy criteria and is acceptable in the context of all 
relevant material considerations as set out in the Officer's Report. This report can 
be viewed or a copy provided on request to the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 
 
  

Page 675



108 
 

 
No.8 APPLICATION 

NO. 
2017/0493/FUL 

 LOCATION 132 Redgate Ormskirk Lancashire L39 3NY   
 

 PROPOSAL Change of use of dwelling to 5 bed student HMO. 
 APPLICANT Mr Griffin-Lea 
 WARD Knowsley 
 PARISH Unparished - Ormskirk 
 TARGET DATE 30th June 2017 
 

 
1.0 REFERRAL 
 
1.1 This application was to be dealt with under the Council‟s delegation scheme, 

however, Councillors Dowling and Yates have requested that it be referred to the 
Planning Committee to consider the impact on parking, traffic, noise, anti-social 
behavior, residential amenity and appropriateness of a HMO in this location. 

 
2.0 PREVIOUS RELEVANT DECISIONS 
 
2.1 2007/0681/FUL  Single storey rear extension (Approved). 
 
2.2 2005/07791  Pitched roofs to replace existing flat roofs at front and rear 

(Approved). 
 
2.3 1990/0798  Pitched roofs to replace existing flat roofs at front and rear 

(Approved) 
 
3.0 CONSULTEE RESPONSES 
 
3.1 COUNTY SURVEYOR (20/06/17) – (no objection in principle) 

 
Due to the location of the site from the University and based on recent planning 
inspectorate comments regarding Houses of Multiple Occupancy it recommended 
that the applicant provides a minimum of 50% parking. (5 bed x 50% = 2.5 = 3 
parking spaces). 
 
The plans submitted indicate parking for 3 vehicles which based on the above is 
adequate parking following the removal of the wall to the front of the property and 
the widening of the dropped kerb. 
 

3.2 DIRECTOR OF LEISURE AND WELLBEING (13/06/17) 
 No objection 
 

Page 676



109 
 

 
4.0 OTHER REPRESENTATIONS 
 
4.1 The Council has received a petition signed by 237 residents objecting to the 

proposal on the following grounds: 
 
Redgate is an established residential area in Ormskirk. It comprises young 
families and a number of elderly residents; 
Allowing a student HMO will have a negative impact on parking, traffic flows, 
noise and the environment; 
There are already large numbers of available student accommodation within the 
area of Ormskirk. Houses on Redgate should be maintained for family use; 
Redgate is situated some distance from the University so students will use their 
own vehicles; 
The proposal to change 132 Redgate into a HMO for students is not suitable in 
this locality; 
The planning application should be refused.  

 
4.2 The Council has received 36 letters objecting to the proposal on the following 

grounds: 
 
Redgate is an established residential area and home to young and elderly 
families; 
Redgate is safe and secure residential estate; 
Proposal will have a negative impact on area; 
HMO properties do not pay rates therefore reduction in Council income; 
Council funds under pressure; 
Student life is not conducive with residential use; 
Proposal would bring transient people who have little or no interest in keeping 
area clean and tidy; 
Insufficient parking; 
Vehicles would park on the road/pavement causing obstruction to pedestrians, 
vehicular traffic, delivery and emergency vehicles; 
Volume of traffic; 
Damage to pavement/surface parking; 
Detrimental to traffic flows; 
Increase in noise; 
Increase in litter; 
Potential antisocial behavior; 
Sufficient accommodation is available for students; 
Proposal denies young people access to affordable housing; 
Large numbers of student accommodation available within Ormskirk; 
There are currently 100 available HMO bed spaces across Ormskirk so there is 
no defined need for a new HMO in an established residential area; 
No evidence to suggest lack of student accommodation; 
Policy RS3 should not conflict with Policy GN3; 

Page 677



110 
 

Houses difficult to sell because of HMO‟s 
The demand for beds has reduced over the last few years; 
Edge Hill building more accommodation on site; 
Planning Inspector for 73 Marians Drive stated the student life style is invariably 
characterized by antisocial behavior and has potential to disrupt permanent 
residents when returning to their properties late at night; 
A recent article in the planner contains details of West Lancashire Borough 
Councils decision to block the proposal at Marians Drive. The decision was 
upheld by the Planning Inspectorate. There are several significant similarities to 
this proposal; 
The application is driven by commercial investment rather than a genuine need 
and lack of student accommodation; 
Work already started on property; 
Property has been advertised and viewed for rental by students;  
Already 1 HMO on Redgate which appears unkempt; 
Potential problems with upkeep/maintenance; 
It should be incumbent for university to provide on-campus accommodation; 
HMOs prevent people from outside of the area buying houses; 
Property is 1.5 miles from university, therefore cars would be necessary; 
Section 5 of the application form incorrectly states the property was formerly 
occupied by 5 people; 
The garage would be converted into a bedroom with a window replacing the 
garage door. The student accommodation statement said there would be no 
additional overlooking bedroom windows, which is incorrect; 
Proposal is causing distress to residents; 
Would be difficult keeping residency to 5 students as students would have friends 
that stay overnight; 
The academic year would mean the property will be left vacant at times; 
Increase in number of refuse bins; 
Property prices would decline. 

 
5.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
5.1 The applicant has submitted the following information in support of this planning 

application: 
 
Student accommodation statement; 
Design and access statement; 
Applicant's statement addressing objections and concerns; 
Copy of full planning application check list; 
Copy of pre-application response dated 02/03/17; 
Copy of letter from nsw properties advising there is always a high demand for 
student accommodation;” and, 
Statistical Crime report from West Lancashire Crime Map and Criminal impact 
statement; 

Page 678



111 
 

Email from applicant and copy of letter from Lancashire Constabulary. Email 
states: “no student related antisocial behaviour incidents in the last 5 years from 
the current HMO on Redgate...Police also advise that Ormskirk student antisocial 
incidents are significantly statistically low compared to other university towns in 
the country. 
 
The details can be viewed at www.west lancs.gov.uk 

 
6.0 LOCAL PLAN ALLOCATION 
 
6.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the West Lancashire Local 

Plan 2012-2027 DPD provide the policy framework against which the 
development proposals will be assessed. 
 

6.2 The site is located within the Key Service Centre of Ormskirk as designated in the 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD.  The site is also within the area 
covered by an Article 4 Direction relating to change of use to properties to HMOs. 
 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD 
SP1- Key Service Centre 
GN1 - Settlement Boundaries 
GN3 - Criteria for Sustainable Development 
RS3 - Provision of Student Accommodation 
IF2 - Enhancing Sustainable Transport Choice 
 

6.3 Supplementary Planning Document – Design Guide (Jan 2008) 
 

7.0 OBSERVATIONS OF DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 
Site Description 

 
7.1 The application property is a previously extended semi-detached house located 

on the south side of Redgate.  It is flanked at both sides and to the rear by 
residential property.  The property is built having part brick/part rendered 
elevations, tiled roof and white UPVC windows. The area to the front of the house 
has been flagged and provides off road car parking. 

 
The Proposal 

 
7.2 This planning application is to change the use of a residential property (Use 

Class C3) to a 5 bedroom house in multiple occupancy for students (Use Class 
C4). 

 
7.3 The main considerations for assessment of this application are as follows: 

 
Principle of development 

Page 679



112 
 

Impact on neighbouring properties 
Impact on highways 
 
Principle of development 

 
7.4 The property lies within the area covered by the „Article 4 Direction‟ relating to 

HMOs, and thus planning permission is required for the proposed change of use 
to the property. 
 

7.5 Policy RS3 (Provision of Student Accommodation) of the West Lancashire Local 
Plan DPD (2012-2027) is especially relevant to this case.  Policy RS3 states that 
when assessing proposals for conversion of a dwelling house or other building to 
a House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) the Council will have regard to the 
proportion of existing properties in use as or with permission to become an HMO 
either in the street as a whole or within the nearest 60 properties in the same 
street whichever is the smaller.  
 

7.6 Policy RS3 sets limits on the proportion of properties in a street that can be 
HMOs. If this limit has already been exceeded, or if it would be exceeded by an 
additional HMO, Policy RS3 does not permit conversion.  
 

7.7 Redgate Ormskirk is not listed within Category A or B streets within Policy RS3 
Provision of Student Accommodation and therefore by definition falls within 
Category C, where a maximum of 5% of properties as HMOs is acceptable. 
According to the information available, there is one other HMO on Redgate. 
Therefore the conversion of no.132 Redgate would not result in the 5% „HMO 
limit‟ for Redgate being exceeded and as such the proposal is compliant with this 
aspect of WLLP Policy RS3. 

 
 Impact on neighbouring properties 
 
7.8 The application must also be assessed in terms of Policy GN3 of the West 

Lancashire Local Plan (2012-2027). This requires reasonable levels of privacy 
and amenity for occupiers of neighbouring and proposed properties to be 
retained. 

 
7.9 I note the objections from neighbouring properties in relation to parking, noise 

levels, disruption and change in character of the area. 
 
7.10 The application property is a semi-detached house. The property is flanked to the 

west east and south by similar housing. I consider the use of the property with its 
associated vehicular movements and comings and goings would be unlikely to 
cause significant harm to the amenities of nearby residents. I have consulted the 
Council‟s Environmental Protection Department regarding the application and 
they have not raised any concerns about the proposal. On balance, I am satisfied 
that the development would not be so harmful to the amenities of nearby 

Page 680



113 
 

residents or the character of the area to warrant a refusal of planning permission. 
I therefore consider the proposal to be compliant with Policy GN3 of the Local 
Plan 

 

 
Impact on Highways/Parking 

 
7.11 Based on recent planning appeal decisions for similar developments for houses 

in multiple occupancy and the location of the site, I am of the opinion that the 
applicant is able to provide adequate off-road parking provision for this type and 
size of development. The submitted site plan shows that 3 off street car parking 
spaces can be provided within the curtilage of the site. The recent planning 
appeal decisions have indicated 50% parking provision is acceptable for HMO 
development in out of town centre locations and this can be achieved. 

 
7.12 I have consulted with Lancashire County Council Highways Department and they 

have no objection in principle to the proposed change of use to 5 bed student 
HMO. In their opinion the proposed development should have a negligible impact 
on highway safety and highway capacity within the immediate vicinity of the site. 
 
Summary 

 
7.13 I consider the proposed development is in accordance with Policies GN3 and 

RS3 of the West Lancashire Local Plan (2012-2027) and that the development 
would not be detrimental to either highway safety or residential amenity in the 
vicinity of the site. 

 
8.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
8.1 That planning permission be granted subject to the following conditions: 

 
Conditions 
 1. The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years 

beginning with the date of this permission. 
 2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with details 

shown on the following plans:- 
 Plan reference 2439/loc; 2439/E; 2439/1; received by the Local Planning 

Authority on 05/05/17 
 Plan reference 2439/2C received by the Local Planning Authority on 06/07/17 
 3. The number of people residing at the HMO shall not exceed five persons. 
 4. The HMO shall not be occupied until all the highway works within the adopted 

highway have been constructed in accordance with a scheme that shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with 
the Highway Authority as part of an appropriate legal agreement, under the 
Highways Act 1980. 

 

Page 681



114 
 

Reasons 
 1. Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990. 
 2. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the provisions of 

Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development 
Plan 

 Document. 
 3. To safeguard the amenity of adjacent properties and the area generally and so 

comply with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local 
Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 4. In order to satisfy the Local Planning Authority and Highway Authority that the 
final details of the highway works are acceptable before work commences on site 
and so comply with Policy GN3 in the West Lancashire Local Plan 2012 to 2027. 

 
Reason for Approval 
 1. The Local Planning Authority has considered the proposed development in the 

context of the Development Plan including, in particular, the following 
Policy/Policies in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document: 

  
 SP1- Key Service Centre 
 GN1 - Settlement Boundaries 
 GN3 - Criteria for Sustainable Development 
 RS3 - Provision of Student Accommodation 
 IF2 - Enhancing Sustainable Transport Choice 
  
 together with Supplementary Planning Guidance and all relevant material 

considerations.  The Local Planning Authority considers that the proposal 
complies with the relevant Policy criteria and is acceptable in the context of all 
relevant material considerations as set out in the Officer's Report. This report can 
be viewed or a copy provided on request to the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 
  

Page 682



115 
 

 
No.9 APPLICATION 

NO. 
2016/1023/FUL 

 LOCATION Former Sutches Farm Castlehey Skelmersdale Lancashire   
 

 PROPOSAL The development of 23 social houses and supporting 
infrastructure. 

 APPLICANT Edison Developments Ltd 
 WARD Moorside 
 PARISH Unparished - Skelmersdale 
 TARGET DATE 9th January 2017 
 

 
1.0 PREVIOUS RELEVANT DECISIONS 
 
1.1 2007/0360/LBC GRANTED - Listed Building Consent - Conversion and extension 

of existing barns to form three dwellings; renovation of farmhouse including porch 
extensions to form two dwellings; re-building of former two storey barn to form a 
terrace of six mews houses; erection of two storey building (with internal 
accommodation over three floors) to form twelve one and two bed apartments. 

 
1.2 2007/0359/FUL GRANTED - Conversion and extension of existing barns to form 

three dwellings; renovation of farmhouse including porch extensions to form two 
dwellings; re-building of former two storey barn to form a terrace of six mews 
houses; erection of two storey building (with internal accommodation over three 
floors) to form twelve one and two bed apartments; associated access, parking 
and landscaping. 

 
1.3 2006/0929 GRANTED - Retrospective Listed Building Consent - Demolition of 

derelict farm barn and cart shed. 
 
1.4 2001/0917 GRANTED - Listed Building Consent - Conversion of three barns to 

four dwellings; erection of one pair semi-detached dwellings and erection of four 
detached garages. 

 
1.5 2001/0916 GRANTED - Conversion of three barns to four dwellings, erection of 

one pair of semi-detached dwellings; and erection of four detached garages. 
 
1.6 2000/0543 REFUSED - Listed Building Consent - Conversion of 3 barns into 2 

detached dwellings and one pair semi-detached dwellings. 
 
1.7 2000/0542 REFUSED - Conversion of 3 barns into 2 detached dwellings and 1 

pair semi-detached dwellings and new vehicular/pedestrian access. 
 
1.8 1999/0871 GRANTED - Storage of caravans within farm compound. 
 

Page 683



116 
 

1.9 1995/0609 GRANTED - Retention of use of premises for manufacture of clothing 
and ancillary facilities/parking. 

 
2.0 CONSULTEE RESPONSES 
 
2.1 LCC SCHOOL PLANNING TEAM (21/2/17) – No education contribution required. 
 
2.2 LANCASHIRE FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICE (21/2/17) – Advice provided 

regarding access and turning head for the fire service. 
 
2.3 DESIGNING OUT CRIME OFFICER (18/10/16) – Important crime prevention 

risks should be incorporated where possible in the design. Request conditions to 
make the properties more secure in this crime vulnerable area. 

 
2.4 UNITED UTILITIES (31/10/16) – No objections. Recommend conditions. 
 
2.5 LEAD LOCAL FLOOD AUTHORITY (9/1/17) (12.07.17) –initial objection 

overcome.  The LLFA has no objections subject to the imposition of a condition to 
require the submission of a detailed drainage strategy. 

 
2.6 ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION SCIENTIFIC OFFICER (10/11/16) – Request 

contaminated land investigation condition. 
 
2.7 ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICER (16/11/16) – No objections. 
 
2.8  HIGHWAY AUTHORITY (04.11.16) (05.07.17)(12.07.17)(13.07.17) – the 

submitted plans show the site line requirement is fully achievable over the 
applicant‟s land and existing adopted highway. The proposed development will 
have a negligible impact on highway safety and capacity within the vicinity of the 
site. The car parking provision is inadequate. The amended plan with revised 
swept path analysis for refuse and fire vehicle tracking is acceptable. 

  Conditions recommended 
 
3.0 OTHER REPRESENTATIONS 
 
3.1 None. 
 
4.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
4.1 The following documents have been submitted in support of the planning 

application: 
 

Planning Statement 
Design and Access Statement 
Drainage Strategy 
Topographical Survey 

Page 684



117 
 

Sustainability Statement 
Crime Impact Statement 
Site Waste Management Plan 
Affordable Housing Statement 
Ecology Survey 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

 
5.0 LOCAL PLAN ALLOCATION 
 
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), National Planning Practice Guidance 

(NPPG) and the West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD (WLLP) provide the 
policy framework against which the development proposals will be assessed. 

 
5.2 The site is located within the Regional Town of Skelmersdale as designated in 

the West Lancashire Local Plan DPD 2012-2027 (WLLP). The following policies 
are therefore relevant: 

 
 West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD 

 
SP1 – A Sustainable Development Framework 
GN1 - Settlement Boundaries 
GN3 - Criteria for Sustainable Development 
RS1 - Residential Development 
RS2 - Affordable Housing 
IF2 - Enhancing Sustainable Transport Choice 
EN1 - Low Carbon Development and Energy Infrastructure 
EN2 - Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire's Natural Environment 
EN4 – Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire‟s Cultural and Heritage 
Assets 

 
 Supplementary Planning Document - Design Guide (Jan 2008) 

Supplementary Planning Document – Provision of Public Open Space in New 
Residential Developments (2014) 

 
6.0 OBSERVATIONS OF DIRECTOR OF PLANNING AND REGENERATION 
 

The Site  
 

6.1 This former farmstead remained undeveloped as the New Town of Skelmersdale 
built up around it. The site previously contained a number of listed buildings 
associated with the farm and is now derelict and overgrown. No listed buildings 
remain following a series of fires since 2007 and as such the site no longer 
contains any heritage assets.  The site is accessed through Castle Hey and rises 
up to the north and east and is entirely surrounded by a public footpath 
connecting Castlehey with the footbridge which crosses the A577 to the east of 
the site. To the north and west of the site, Castlehey is a residential cul-de-sac 

Page 685



118 
 

with a mixture of houses and flats, parking courts and a parcel of grassed 
informal open space. To the south of the site lies open land associated with a 
school. 

 
The Proposal 
 

6.2 The planning application relates to the redevelopment of the site for 23 affordable 
houses with means of access via Castlehey. The units will comprise of a mix of 2 
and 3 bed two-storey properties with car parking at the front and garden space at 
the rear. All the units would be affordable housing for rent. 

 
 Principle of Development 
 
6.3 The site is a brownfield site located within a main settlement area and so 

development here is in accordance with Policies SP1 and GN1. Policies RS1 and 
RS2 also support the development of affordable housing on brownfield sites 
within this area, subject to the proposal conforming to all other planning policies. 

 
Heritage Asset 

 
6.4 Although the site formerly accommodated a number of listed buildings, the loss of 

these through fire occurred and the site no longer retains any heritage value and 
the provisions of Policy EN4 relating to the protection of heritage assets will not 
be compromised. 

 
 Affordable Housing 
 
6.5 Policy RS2 of the Local Plan requires that 20% of the units be affordable. The 

proposed development is for 100% affordable housing the details of which will be 
secured by a S106 agreement. 

 
Elderly Provision 

 
6.6 Policies RS1 and RS2 in the Local Plan require residential developments of 15 or 

more dwellings to incorporate at least 20% of the units to be designed specifically 
to accommodate the elderly. This would equate to 5 units within the proposed 
development.  

 
6.7 There is no specific definition of „elderly accommodation‟ and each case is 

considered on its own merits. The supporting statement indicates that the needs 
of the elderly will be accommodated by designing flexibility into the proposed 
dwellings to enable them to be adapted if required.  I am satisfied that this is an 
acceptable approach. 

 

 

Page 686



119 
 

 
 Design, Layout and Scale 
 
6.8 Policy GN3 of the Local Plan together with the Council‟s SPD Design Guide state 

that new development should be of a scale, mass and built form which responds 
to the characteristics of the site and its surroundings.  Care should be taken to 
ensure that buildings do not disrupt the visual amenities of the street scene 
because of their height, scale or roofline.   

 
6.9 The proposed layout is designed as a cul-de-sac arrangement and offers a clear 

route for vehicles and pedestrians. A mixture of terraced and semi-detached 
properties are proposed, all of which are 2-stories in height. The layout respects 
an existing grouping of trees along the Castlehey frontage and so the building 
line is set back into the site. The layout is arranged so that the dwellings face into 
the development with the majority of the rear gardens backing onto the 
surrounding footpath.  

 
6.10 Each dwelling would benefit from a private amenity area. These are generally 

commensurate with the level of accommodation being provided. Where the 
private gardens are tapered in the corner plots, additional garden space is 
provided at the side of the plot. Off-road car parking is provided for each plot 
through a mixture of side parking and frontage parking.  

 
6.11 On balance I am satisfied that design, layout and scale complies with relevant 

local plan policies and the Council‟s Design Guide and would not adversely affect 
the character and appearance of the local area.  

 
Residential Amenity  

 
6.12 Policy GN3 in the Local Plan requires new development to retain or create 

reasonable levels of privacy, amenity and sufficient garden/outdoor spaces for 
occupiers of the proposed and neighbouring properties. Further detailed advice 
on interface distances is provided within the Council‟s SPD Design Guide. The 
Design Guide states that there should be a minimum distance of 21m between 
dwellings with principal windows in each elevation and a distance of 12m 
between main elevations and those that do not contain primary windows of 
habitable rooms.  

 
6.13 In terms of the relationships between the proposed dwellings, I am generally 

satisfied that the proposed layout accommodates the required interface 
distances. The density of the development is relatively high and some plot widths 
are limited, I therefore consider it appropriate to remove permitted development 
rights for the extension of the properties or the addition of outbuildings within the 
plots to allow further consideration of any such proposals in order to protect 
residential amenity on the development site and adjacent properties. 

 

Page 687



120 
 

6.14 Residential properties neighbour the site to the north and west on Castlehey. 
Those properties to the north will be separated from the proposed development 
by the existing footpath that bounds the site, and, the nearest proposed dwelling 
will be sufficiently distanced so to maintain adequate amenity levels. The 
proposed access will run parallel with 109 Castlehey, however, the existing 
footpath will act as a buffer to the new access and the amount of traffic generated 
by the development is unlikely to cause any significant disturbance to these 
particular neighbouring properties.  

 
6.15 Those properties located to the west of the application site comprise of a 3-4 

storey block of flats. The distance between the existing block of flats and the 
nearest pair of proposed semi‟s does not meet with the SPD guidance in terms of 
adequate interface distances. The windows facing the proposed development will 
be within 7m of the boundary of the proposed rear gardens and 17m will be 
between the proposed rear elevations. Although short of the recommended 
distances in the SPD Design Guide, given that this is a high density area and the 
existing trees will offer some screening, I consider that a reduction in the interface 
distances is acceptable in this instance and, furthermore, the Design Guide does 
indicate that this is reasonable in such areas. Overall therefore, I am satisfied that 
the residential amenity of the existing properties and the proposed development 
will be acceptable. 

 
 Highways and Car Parking 
 
6.16 Access to the site will be created off Castlehey which is a 30mph unclassified 

road. The required sightlines of 2.4m x 43m are achievable at the site entrance 
and on this basis the Highways Officer has raised no objections. The submitted 
plan demonstrates that the site layout and turning head are to adoptable 
standards. 

 
6.17 In terms of car parking Policy IF2 and Appendix F in the Local Plan provide 

details of parking requirements. For the proposed 2/3 bed dwellings, 2 car 
parking spaces are required per unit which equates to 46 spaces. The layout only 
incorporates 34 car parking spaces. The Planning Statement acknowledges this 
deficit and justifies this on the basis that the site is in a relatively sustainable 
location with a school and other amenities within walking distance, affordable 
housing tenants require less car parking and there are a number of communal 
car parking spaces opposite the proposed entrance to the site. I acknowledge 
these arguments and consider that the proposed car parking provision to be 
acceptable for the development in this location. 

 
6.18 Despite the shortfall in onsite parking I am satisfied that the development will not 

be detrimental to highway safety or the free flow of traffic in the vicinity of the site.  
 
 Trees and Landscaping 
 

Page 688



121 
 

6.19 The proposed development requires the removal of a screen of established Pine 
trees on the eastern boundary. Several mature trees are located outside of the 
western boundary, with canopies and root protection areas that encroach into the 
application site. However, the Council‟s Tree Officer has assessed these trees 
and found that several of them are in poor condition and are suitable to remove. 
Overall therefore, the relationship between the proposed site layout and the 
existing trees is acceptable. A landscaping scheme will be required by planning 
condition.  

 
Ecology 

 
6.20 Policy EN2 of the Local Plan seeks to protect priority species and their habitat. 

An Ecological Survey has been undertaken which found the site to be of no 
significant ecological value and no protected species were evident. However, 
Reasonable Avoidance Measures have been recommended to reduce the risk of 
any impacts on bats during the proposed tree works and this can be secured by 
planning condition. On this basis, I am satisfied that the proposal is compliant 
with Policy EN2 of the Local Plan. 

 
 Drainage 
 
6.21 A Drainage Statement has been submitted with the application which states that 

foul water from the dwellings is to be connected to the existing main foul drain 
which is considered acceptable. In terms of surface water drainage the applicant 
has indicated that soakaways would not work in this location and as there are no 
watercourses within the vicinity of the site surface water will be discharged into a 
surface water sewer restricted to a rate of 5l/s which is considered to be 
acceptable by the Council‟s Drainage Engineer subject to a detailed drainage 
scheme being submitted. The surface water maintenance plan is also considered 
to be acceptable. The drainage details will be secured by planning condition. 

 
 Summary 
 
6.22 I am satisfied that the proposal is acceptable in principle and will maintain and 

provide adequate amenity levels for neighbouring and future occupants of the 
development. Adequate car parking has been provided for the development in 
this location and any trees of significance will be retained.  

 
7.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
7.1 That the decision to grant planning permission be delegated to the Director of 

Development and Regeneration in consultation with the Chairman or Vice 
Chairman of the Planning Committee subject to the applicant entering into a 
planning obligation under S106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to 
secure: 

 

Page 689



122 
 

The terms and conditions of the affordable housing units 
 

7.2 That any planning permission granted by the Director of Development and 
Regeneration pursuant to recommendation 7.1 above be subject to the following 
conditions: 

 
Conditions 
 1. The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years 

beginning with the date of this permission. 
 2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with details 

shown on the following plans:- 
 Plan reference Location Plan, 101 and Topographical Survey and Tree 

Constraints Plan received by the Local Planning Authority on 28th September 
2016. 

 Plan reference Drawing Number  200 Rev 3, 210 Rev 3, and 111 Rev 3  received 
by the Local Planning Authority on 5th July 2017. 

 Plan reference Drawing Number 110 Rev 4, 113 Rev 2 received by the Local 
Planning Authority on 13th July 2017. 

 3. No development above slab level shall take place until full details and samples of 
the external brickwork and roofing materials have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 4. No development above slab level shall take place until details of the proposed 
screen walls and/or fences have been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. Such walls and/or fences shall be erected as an integral part 
of the development and be completed to each dwelling before that dwelling is first 
occupied. 

 5. The Reasonable Avoidance Measures contained in section 13 of the Ecological 
Assessment dated June 2016 shall be implemented in full throughout the 
duration of the development. 

 6. Within a period of 9 months of each dwelling being occupied the respective 
landscaping details relating to that plot shall be carried out. All trees and shrubs 
planted shall comply with BS. 3936 (Specification of Nursery Stock) and shall be 
planted in accordance with BS. 4428 (General Landscape Operations). All 
planting shall be maintained and dead or dying material shall be replaced for a 
period of seven years from the agreed date of planting. 

 7. No development shall take place until a Method Statement detailing measures to 
be taken during construction to protect the health of the existing trees has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
measures contained in the approved Method Statement shall be fully 
implemented during construction. 

 8. No development shall take place until a contaminated land investigation has been 
carried out in respect of the proposed development site.  The purpose of the 
investigation is to identify the presence of substances in, on or under the land 
with potential to cause harm to human, ecological, environmental, structural or 
groundwater receptors and to assess the degree of risk posed by those 

Page 690



123 
 

substances to each relevant receptor.  The investigation (Phase 1) shall begin 
with a desktop study that produces a characterisation of the site which shall then 
lead to a conceptual site model based on the proposed end use of the site.  All 
potential pollutant linkages relevant to the site shall be identified.  If potential 
pollutant linkages are identified on the site, an intrusive site survey shall be 
carried out in accordance with BS 10175:2001 (Phase 2).  Where soil or 
groundwater contamination is identified that presents a risk to relevant receptors, 
a remediation scheme shall be devised that will render the site suitable for its 
intended end use. 

 The results of the desktop study and site survey, and details of the proposed 
remediation shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority in a written report.  
The report shall be approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to 
commencement of the development hereby approved.  Any remediation scheme 
so approved shall be implemented as part of the development of the site and 
shall be followed by a completion report containing appropriate validation 
certification, also to be approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

 9. No development shall commence until details of the design, based on sustainable 
drainage principles, and implementation of an appropriate surface water 
sustainable drainage scheme have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. Those details shall include, as a minimum: 

 a) Confirmation that the foul sewage will be discharged to a main sewer; 
 b) Evidence of an assessment of the site conditions to include any existing 

surface water flow routes, drains, sewers and watercourses, site investigation 
and test results to confirm infiltrations rates; 

 c) Demonstration that surface water run-off will reduce pre-development run-
off rates and volumes. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details before the development is completed; 

 d) Information about the lifetime of the development, design storm period and 
intensity (1 in 30 & 1 in 100 year +30% allowance for climate change), discharge 
rates and volumes (both pre and post development), temporary storage facilities, 
the methods employed to delay and control surface water discharged from the 
site, and the measures taken to prevent flooding and pollution of the receiving 
groundwater and/or surface waters, including watercourses, and details of floor 
levels in AOD; 

 e) Evidence that flood flows resulting from rainfall up to and including a 1 in 
100 year (including a +30% allowance for climate change) rainfall event will be 
managed within the site at designated temporary storage locations unless it can 
be shown to have no material impact by leaving the site in terms of nuisance or 
damage, or increase river flows during periods of river flooding; 

 f) Evidence that the design of the site ensures that, so far as is reasonably 
practicable, flows resulting from rainfall in excess of a 1 in 100 year rainfall 
events are managed in exceedance routes that minimise the risks to people and 
property.  

 The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior 
to first occupation of any of the approved dwellings, or completion of the 

Page 691



124 
 

development, whichever is the sooner. Thereafter the drainage system shall be 
retained, managed and maintained in accordance with the approved details. 

10. Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems. 
11. No part of the development shall be commenced until the visibility splays 

measuring 2.4 metres by 43 metres in both directions, are provided, measured 
along the centre line of the proposed new road from the continuation of the 
nearer edge of the existing carriageway of Castlehey, to the satisfaction of the 
Local Planning Authority. The land within these splays shall be maintained 
thereafter, free from obstructions such as walls, fences, trees, hedges, shrubs, 
ground growth or other structures within the splays in excess of 1.0 metre in 
height above the height at the centre line of the adjacent carriageway. 

12. For the full period of construction, facilities shall be available on site for the 
cleaning of the wheels of vehicles leaving the site and such equipment shall be 
used as necessary to prevent mud and stones being carried onto the highway. 
The roads adjacent to the site shall be mechanically swept as required during the 
full construction period. 

13. No dwelling shall be occupied until the associated off road car parking spaces are 
laid out and available for use in accordance with the approved plan. 

14. The new estate road for the residential development shall be constructed in 
accordance with the Lancashire County Council Specification for Construction of 
Estate Roads to at least base course level up to the entrance of the site 
compound before any development takes place within the site and shall be 
further extended before any development commences fronting the new access 
road. 

15. No part of the development hereby approved shall commence until a scheme for 
the construction of the site access and the off-site works of highway improvement 
has been submitted to, and approved by, the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with the Highway Authority as part of a section 278 agreement, 
under the Highways Act 1980. 

16. No development shall take place until full details of the finished levels of all parts 
of the site, including the floor levels of all buildings, have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 
implemented in accordance with those details. 

17. A Traffic Management Plan for the construction works, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to works commencing on 
site and shall include details of: 

 The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
 Loading and unloading of plant and materials used in the construction of the 

development; 
 Storage of such plant and materials; 
 Periods when plant and materials trips should not be made to and from the site 

(mainly peak hours but the developer to identify times when trips of this nature 
should not be made); 

 Routes to be used by vehicles carrying plant and materials to and from the site; 
 Measures to ensure that construction and delivery vehicles do not impede access 

to adjoining properties; 

Page 692



125 
 

 Thereafter development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
plan. 

18. Before any of the residential units hereby approved are occupied the proposed 
arrangements for future management and maintenance of the proposed streets 
within the development shall be submitted to and approved by the local planning 
authority. The streets shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with the 
approved management and maintenance details until such time as an agreement 
has been entered into under section 38 of the Highways Act 1980 or a private 
management and Maintenance Company has been established. 

19. Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling, the dwellings shall be provided with 
an electric vehicle charging point which shall be retained for that purpose 
thereafter. 

20. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) or any subsequent 
Orders or statutory provision re-enacting the provisions of these Orders no 
garages, outbuildings (excluding timber sheds and greenhouses) or other 
extensions to a dwelling shall be erected until details of the siting and design 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reasons 
 1. Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990. 
 2. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the provisions of 

Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development 
Plan Document. 

  
 3. To ensure that the external appearance of the building(s) is satisfactory and that 

the development therefore complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the 
adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 4. To ensure that the external appearance of the building(s) is satisfactory and that 
the development therefore complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the 
adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 5. To safeguard a protected species and so ensure that the development complies 
with the provisions of Policy EN2 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 
2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 6. To assimilate the proposed development into its surroundings and to ensure that 
the development complies with the provisions of Policy EN2 in the adopted West 
Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 7. This information is required before development takes place to protect the trees 
and shrubs and thereby retain the character of the site and the area and to 
ensure that the development complies with the provisions of Policies GN3 & EN2 
in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan 
Document. 

 8. This information is required before development takes place to ensure that the 
development is adequately protected against potentially contaminated land and 

Page 693



126 
 

so complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire 
Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 9. This information is required before the commencement of development, to ensure 
that the site is properly drained in the interest of local amenity and that the 
development, therefore, complies with the provisions of Policies GN3 & IF3 in the 
adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document 

10. This information is required before the commencement of development, to ensure 
that the site is properly drained in the interest of local amenity and that the 
development, therefore, complies with the provisions of Policies GN3 & IF3 in the 
adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document 

11. This information is required before development takes place to ensure adequate 
visibility for the drivers of vehicles entering and leaving the site and to ensure that 
the development complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West 
Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

12. To avoid the possibility of the public highway being affected by the deposit of 
mud and/or loose materials thus creating a potential hazard for road users and to 
ensure that the development complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the 
adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

13. To allow for vehicles visiting the site to be parked clear of the highway and to 
assimilate the new car parking areas within the site and to ensure that the 
development complies with the provisions of Policies GN3 & IF2 in the adopted 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

14. To ensure that satisfactory access is provided to the site before the development 
hereby permitted becomes operative. 

15. This information is required before development takes place to ensure that the 
final details of the highway scheme/works are acceptable before work 
commences on site and to enable all construction traffic to enter and leave the 
premises in a safe manner without causing a hazard to other road users and 
therefore comply with Policy GN3. 

16. This information is required before development takes place to safeguard the 
amenity of adjacent properties and the area generally and so comply with the 
provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document. 

17. This information is required before development takes place to protect existing 
road users and road safety in the vicinity of the site and therefore comply with 
Policy GN3 in the West Lancashire Local Plan (2012-2027) Development Plan 
Document. 

18. To safeguard the safety and interests of the users of the highway and to ensure 
that the development complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

19. In order to enhance sustainable transport choice and to accord with the 
provisions of Policy IF2 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document. 

20. Due to the density of development and restricted plot sizes, extension of the 
dwellings or the addition of garages or outbuildings normally permitted under the 
above provisions may, in this case, conflict with the interests of adjacent 

Page 694



127 
 

properties or the amenity of the area generally and would thus conflict with Policy 
GN3 in the West Lancashire Local Plan (2012-2027) Development Plan 
Document. 

 
 
 
Reason for Approval 
 1. The Local Planning Authority has considered the proposed development in the 

context of the Development Plan including, in particular, the following 
Policy/Policies in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document: 

  
 SP1 - A Sustainable Development Framework 
 GN1 - Settlement Boundaries 
 GN3 - Criteria for Sustainable Development 
 RS1 - Residential Development 
 RS2 - Affordable Housing 
 IF2 - Enhancing Sustainable Transport Choice 
 EN1 - Low Carbon Development and Energy Infrastructure 
 EN2 - Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire's Natural Environment 
 EN4 - Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire's Cultural and Heritage Assets 
  
 together with Supplementary Planning Guidance and all relevant material 

considerations.  The Local Planning Authority considers that the proposal 
complies with the relevant Policy criteria and is acceptable in the context of all 
relevant material considerations as set out in the Officer's Report. This report can 
be viewed or a copy provided on request to the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 695



128 
 

 
No.10 APPLICATION 

NO. 
2017/0350/FUL 

 LOCATION Red Apple Nursery Cobbs Brow Lane Newburgh Wigan 
Lancashire WN8 7SF 
 

 PROPOSAL Phase 2 extension to the existing CAST facility. Creation 
of 1 No. additional large fishing lake. Creation of a 31 
space hard surfaced car park.  A 16 x 30m indoor 
complex needs angling building. A timber clad 7.5m x 10m 
community angling club house. Timber Storage Shed 
(located in phase 1), 2 No. log cabins to form respite 
holiday accommodation.  Informal landscaped areas. 
Gardens/picnic/ animal area (sensory area). 

 APPLICANT C.A.S.T NW 
 WARD Newburgh 
 PARISH Newburgh 
 TARGET DATE 5th September 2017 
 

 
1.0 REFERRAL 
 
1.1 The application was to be dealt with under the Council‟s delegation scheme; 

however, Councillor Pope has requested that it be referred to the Planning 
Committee to consider the impact on the Green Belt, highways and the amenities 
of Newburgh residents. 

 
2.0  RECENT RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY  
 
2.1 2016/0249/FUL - Demolition of temporary office block and erection of extension 

of existing building to allow classroom accommodation and associated facilities - 
Granted 

 
2.2 2015/0490/FUL - Replacement of the temporary training/staff accommodation 

with a purpose built facility for training, staff and canteen facility. Cedar cladding 
to replace the box profile steel sheets on the existing adjoining workshop - 
Refused 

 
2.3 2014/1147/FUL - Erection of a glasshouse for training purposes and creation of a 

fishing pond - Granted 
 
2.4 2012/0990/FUL - Siting of a free standing portable building for use as staff rest 

room and canteen and occasional meeting/training room - Granted 
 
2.5 2011/0111/NMA - Non Material amendment to planning permission 

2010/1030/FUL - Alterations to profile/elevation of polytunnel - Approved 

Page 696



129 
 

 
2.6 2010/1030/FUL - Erection of polytunnel - Granted 
 
2.7 2009/1122/ADV - Display of non-illuminated advertisement board - Granted 
 
2.8 2009/1121/FUL - Erection of training building and provision of 3 polytunnels - 

Granted 
 
2.9 2002/1390 - Application for determination as to whether prior approval of details 

is required - Three bay blocks of polytunnels - Details not required 
 
3.0 CONSULTEE RESPONSES 
 
3.1 HEALTH AND SAFETY EXECUTIVE (12.05.2017) – HSE does not advise, on 

safety grounds, against the granting of planning permission in this case.  The site 
lies within consultation distance of major national gas accident hazard pipeline 
and operator requires consulting. 

 
3.2 CADENT GAS PLANT PROTECTION (17.05.2017 and 05.06.2017) – Standard 

guidance notes to be adhered to for works in close proximity to major gas 
pipeline. No building should be within 3m of the pipeline. 

 
3.3 LCC LEAD LOCAL FLOOD AUTHORITY (22.05.2017) – No objection subject to 

conditions relating to provision of a surface water drainage scheme. 
 
3.4 UNITED UTILITIES (24.05.2017) – No objection subject to foul and surface water 

being drained on a separate system and provision of detailed surface water 
drainage details. 

 
3.5 ENVIRONMENT AGENCY (30.05.2017) – No objection. 
 
3.6 MERSEYSIDE ENVIRONMENTAL ADVISORY SERVICE (MEAS) (20.06.2017 

and 12.06.2017) – Following the submission of further information, a bat roost 
potential survey is no longer required and matters relating to water voles, bird 
breeding and invasive species can be conditioned.  No evidence of great crested 
newts use or presence was found therefore the Council does not need to 
consider the proposals against the three tests in the Habitats Regulations.   

 
The development is near the Martin Mere SPA European site which is protected 
under the Habitats Regulations.  However, having considered the possibility of 
likely significant effects under the Regulations using the source-pathway-receptor 
model, MEAS advise there is no pathway that could give rise to likely significant 
effects on the European sites and it does not warrant a detailed Habitats 
Regulations Assessment report.  
 

Page 697



130 
 

3.7 LANCASHIRE FIRE AND RESCUE (12.06.2017) - It should be ensured that the 
scheme fully meets all the requirements of Building Regulations Approved 
Document B, Part B5 „Access and facilities for the Fire Service‟. 

 
3.8 ASSISTANT DIRECTOR COMMUNITY SERVICES (29.06.2017) – No objection. 
 
3.9 LCC HIGHWAYS (12.07.2017) – No objection subject to conditions. 
 
4.0 OTHER REPRESENTATIONS  
 
4.1 Newburgh Parish Council comment that they recognise the importance of the 

work undertaken by Applecast in helping young people with a variety of 
disadvantages to achieve their potential and prepare for later life. Note the 
applicant‟s note about limiting the intrusion of new buildings in the Green Belt. 
Assume a condition limiting the residential accommodation to short, defined 
respite care will be imposed. Would like more detail about the extent of 
community involvement and its management, including supervision of visitors at 
weekends and a definition of opening hours if these are to be extended. Some 
increase in traffic is unavoidable if the project is to develop. 

 
4.2 Two letters of objection to the application have been received which can be 

summarised as follows: 
The existing access to the site is dangerous and should be closed once the new 
access is opened; 
Scale of development adversely impacts the Green Belt; 
Increased traffic and noise; 
Potential future growth of the site could have an impact; 
Buildings not in keeping with the surrounding area; 
Buildings should be behind exiting tree line; 
Bund should be taller or more planting provided to screen the buildings and car 
park; 
More information required on opening times; 
Respite lodges may lead to future planning permission for housing. 

 
5.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
5.1 The application is accompanied by the following supporting information:  
  
 Transport Plan 
 Business Plan 
 Design and Access Statement 
 Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
 Ecological Appraisal 
 Flood Risk Assessment 
 Letters from Wigan Council and LCC 
  

Page 698



131 
 

 
6.0  RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES 
 
6.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), National Planning Practice 

Guidance (NPPG) and the West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD (WLLP) 
provide the policy framework against which the development proposals will be 
assessed.  

 
6.2 The site is located within the Green Belt. 
 
6.3 Relevant West Lancashire Local Plan policies: 

SP1 – A Sustainable Development Framework for West Lancashire 
GN1 – Settlement Boundaries  
GN3 – Design of Development 
IF2 – Enhancing Sustainable Transport Choice 
IF3 – Service Accessibility and Infrastructure for Growth 
EC2 – The Rural Economy 
EN1 – Low Carbon Development and Energy Infrastructure 
EN2 – Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire‟s Natural Environment 
EN3 – Provision of Green Infrastructure and Open Recreation Space 
EN4 – Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire‟s Built Environment 
 
In addition the following supplementary documents are a material consideration:  
 
SPD – Design Guide (Jan 2008); and 
SPD – Development in the Green Belt 

 
7.0 OBSERVATIONS OF DIRECTOR OF PLANNING AND REGENERATION 
 
 The Site 
 
7.1 The site of approximately 4.7 hectares is to the south-west of the rural settlement 

of Newburgh. It is accessed directly off Cobbs Brow Lane, opposite an existing 
nursery and south of Tabby‟s Nook  

 
7.2 The site is at present split into two separate fields. One is a small triangular field 

adjacent to Cobbs Brow Lane and is grazing land. This parcel of land is bound to 
most sides by hedging and sporadic tree cover. The second, larger parcel of land 
is to the west of the smaller parcel and directly behind the existing Apple Cast 
nursery.  It was recently used for crop growing but work has already begun on 
creating a fishing pond on this land and one lake has been filled and stocked with 
fish.  To the west of this land are agricultural fields with maize being cultivated, to 
the north is grazing land and a sporadic hedgerow in between, to the east is the 
smaller parcel of land and Cobbs Brow Lane and to the south is the Apple Cast 
nursery. The use of the adjacent Apple Cast site has developed over the years as 
a training centre for young people and uses horticulture, angling and land based 

Page 699



132 
 

studies to engage “hard to reach” young people. The site is operated by a 
registered charity. The existing nursery contains several polytunnels, an existing 
training/maintenance building, a portacabin, an indoor fishing centre (glasshouse), 
outdoor fishing pond and various plant growing areas and car parking. 

   
 The Proposal 
 
7.3 The application relates to a phased expansion of the existing Apple Cast nursery, 

Phase 1 having recently been completed following the granting of planning 
permission 2016/0249/FUL.  Phase 2 now includes the following: 

 Creation of a vehicular access off Cobbs Brow Lane through the small parcel of 
land;  

 Creation of a 30 space hardsurfaced car park; 
 Retention of one large pond and one small pond and the creation of a further third 

pond; 
 The erection of a 16m x 30m x 3.5m high indoor complex needs angling building; 
 The erection of a timber clad 8m x 10m x 4m high community angling club house; 
 Extension of an existing track leading from the existing Apple Cast nursery to the 

site and circling the boundary of the site as a pedestrian/cycle path; 
 The erection of two 7m x 12.5m x 4m high timber clad respite lodges; 
 The erection of a 7.6m x 10.7m x 3.7m high timber storage building within the 

existing Apple Cast nursery site; 
 The creation of an area at the northern part of the site to be used for 

gardens/picnic area and the keeping of small animals such as pigs, sheep, goats 
etc. for students attending the Apple Cast centre to learn skills of animal 
husbandry and horticulture and eventually leading to a small local tourism 
venture. 

 
7.4 The applicant states that all of the above are intended to be used to expand upon 

and complement the existing Apple Cast nursery and build up community 
involvement.  It is stated that the angling facilities, indoor and outdoor, will 
promote work-based skills and enjoyment of a therapeutic sport to support well-
being. The sensory garden will assist those with physical and psychological 
disorders. The applicant intends to work with the Rare Breed Society to develop 
rare breed animals to promote conservation of livestock and poultry breeds. 
Providing animals on the site is an aspiration for users to gain animal husbandry 
skills and promote emotional well-being. The respite lodges are proposed in order 
to offer a facility to address referral needs of both Lancashire County Council and 
Wigan Council‟s children and adult services. 

 
 Principle of Development – Green Belt 

 
Change of use of the land 

 
7.5 Within paragraphs 89 and 90 of the NPPF, no mention is made of changes of 

use of land in addressing the forms of development that may not be 

Page 700



133 
 

inappropriate in the Green Belt. The change of use of land within the Green 
Belt should therefore be considered as inappropriate development in 
accordance with the NPPF.  

 
7.6 Inappropriate development is by definition harmful to the Green Belt and 

should not be approved except in very special circumstances and such 
circumstances will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by 
reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by 
other considerations.  

 
7.7 In this case the proposed change of use amounts to one from agriculture to 

recreational fishing, keeping of small animals, picnic areas etc. and residential 
respite lodges.  In terms of the recreational uses, it is noted that the 
construction of new buildings in the Green Belt for the provision of appropriate 
facilities for outdoor sport and recreation is acceptable so long as they 
preserve the openness of the Green Belt and do not conflict with the purposes 
of including land within it. Consequently, as it is accepted that land within the 
Green Belt can appropriately accommodate facilities for outdoor sport and 
recreation (subject to the impact on the openness of the Green Belt), the use 
of the land would not be seen as an isolated or abstract development. It is 
therefore considered that the proposed change of use of land for use as a 
fishing lakes, the keeping of animals, picnic and garden areas together with 
the proposed community angling clubhouse is in principle acceptable and in 
accordance with the NPPF and Policy GN1 of the Local Plan.  

 
7.8 However, in terms of the “residential” use of the land, that being the proposed 

respite lodges, this would introduce buildings and a use considered to impact 
on the openness of the Green Belt and constituting inappropriate development 
in the Green Belt.   

 
Creation of the fishing lake, sensory garden and animal area, car parking and 
access 

 
7.9 Paragraph 90 of the NPPF includes engineering operations as being a form of 

development that is not inappropriate within the Green Belt providing it 
preserves the openness of the Green Belt and does not conflict with the 
purposes of including land within the Green Belt. In my view the formation of 
the lakes, although they are large, would not have any significant impact on 
the openness of the Green Belt or its character as the site will predominantly 
remain in a natural state, albeit managed, as the surrounding land is. 

 
7.10 In respect of the proposed parking area, new access and various paths 

throughout the site, these would introduce large areas of hardstanding in an 
otherwise open area. In my view, this would not preserve the openness of the 
Green Belt and would therefore constitute inappropriate development in the 
Green Belt. As such, very special circumstances would need to exist to 

Page 701



134 
 

outweigh this harm to the Green Belt and the onus is on the applicant to 
proffer very special circumstances.     

 
7.11 In terms of the garden/picnic areas and animal areas, these are intended to be 

used for those people attending the Apple Cast nursery along with use by the 
local community and to provide a therapeutic area whilst also providing an 
area of skill-learning in gardening and animal husbandry for existing students.  
This area is essentially remaining in agricultural/recreational use and as such 
is considered to constitute appropriate development in the Green Belt.  

 
Erection of buildings 

 
7.12. Paragraph 89 in the NPPF states that “A local planning authority should 

regard the construction of new buildings as inappropriate in the Green Belt.” 
There are 6 exceptions to this rule including “provision of appropriate facilities 
for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation and for cemeteries, as long as it 
preserves the openness of the Green Belt and does not conflict with purposes 
of including land within it”. 

 
7.13 The proposed community angling club building will house facilities for anglers. 

The proposed timber storage building on the exiting nursery site will provide 
additional storage for horticultural purposes. I am satisfied that the size and 
location of the angling club building is an acceptable form of development in 
the Green Belt. Likewise, the storage building within the existing Apple Cast 
nursery site is considered to be an acceptable form of development with 
limited harm to the visual character of the Green Belt.   

 
7.14 The proposed complex needs angling building will be constructed in a similar 

style to the existing polytunnel fishing areas on the nursery site. Although 
paragraph 89 of the NPPF does allow for appropriate facilities for outdoor 
sport and outdoor recreation, the use of this building is not strictly solely for 
recreation but also for training purposes and as such does not fall into any of 
the acceptable categories of buildings within the Green Belt.  Due to its large 
size, I consider this diminishes the openness of the Green Belt and 
consequently results in inappropriate development albeit with limited visual 
impact due to its location close to existing similar structures and a significant 
tree buffer.   

 
7.15 Finally, the erection of buildings for residential use, albeit for temporary 

periods, constitutes inappropriate development in the Green Belt.  The 
proposed two respite lodges would be essentially residential in nature in that 
they would be used to provide short term respite care. Paragraph 87 of the 
NPPF states that ‟inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the 
Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances‟.  

 
7.16 It has been indicated above that the proposed development contains 

Page 702



135 
 

individual elements that are judged “not inappropriate”, however, these do not 
make the proposed development as a whole appropriate. The Council‟s SPD 
advises that development cannot be seen as acceptable in terms of Green 
Belt policy, merely because part of it is “not inappropriate”.  In my view, the 
elements that are judged to be inappropriate are the proposed areas of 
hardstanding, including the access road, car park and paths around the site, 
the indoor complex needs angling building and the respite lodges. In 
accordance with the NPPF, it is necessary for the applicant to put forward very 
special circumstances to prove that the exceptional nature of the proposal 
outweighs the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of 
inappropriateness, and any other harm. 

 
 Loss of Agricultural Land 
 
7.17 The application site was previously in use for arable farming. Paragraph 112 of 

the NPPF states that Local Planning Authorities should take account of the 
economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land. 
Where significant development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be 
necessary, Local Planning Authorities should seek to use areas of poorer quality 
land in preference to that of higher quality. Paragraph 26 of the National Planning 
Practice Guidance (Natural Environment Chapter) also indicates that where 
significant development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, 
Local Planning Authorities should seek to use areas of poorer quality land. 

 
7.18 Policy EC2 in the Council‟s adopted Local Plan indicates that the irreversible 

development of open agricultural land will not be permitted where it would result 
in the loss of best and most versatile agricultural land, except where absolutely 
necessary to deliver development allocated within the Local Plan or strategic 
infrastructure, or development associated with the agricultural use of the land. In 
terms of Defra‟s Agricultural Land Classification (ALC) map of England and 
Wales, the application site is classified as Grade 1 excellent quality.  

 
7.19 Approximately 4.7ha of land will be lost to the proposed development. Having 

reviewed the policy background and the submitted information, I consider the 
reduction in agricultural productivity as a result of the proposed development is of 
some concern, which must be given weight in the overall planning balance. 
Given the nature of the Borough, the majority of agricultural land is best and most 
versatile and in this regard, it is likely that the loss of some agricultural land will 
be necessary to deliver development. In this case, the proposed development is 
sited on the edge of the settlement, bound to the east by existing built 
development.  I conclude that the land take is limited and although the 
development would result in the loss of some Grade 1 land, on balance I do not 
consider that this loss would be so significant to warrant a refusal of planning 
permission on this basis. On balance, I consider the application is compliant with 
the NPPF, NPPG and policies EC2 and EN2 of the West Lancashire Local Plan 
in this regard. 

Page 703



136 
 

  
 
 
 

Design and Appearance 
 

7.20 Policy GN3 of the WLLP states that proposals for development should have 
regard to visual amenity and complement or enhance any attractive attributes 
and / or local distinctiveness within their surroundings through sensitive design. 
The Council‟s SPD Design Guide requires that new commercial development, 
regardless of location, should be a focus to promote high quality design in order 
to enhance the overall quality of the built environment, both aesthetically and 
functionally.  

 
7.21 The layout of the site is logical in that it takes account of the positioning of 

buildings that exist on the existing Apple Cast site and closely relates to the 
surrounding land.  The proposed angling clubhouse and indoor angling 
building/polytunnel are sited close to the existing business and the more “open” 
areas are kept free of development (except the respite lodges) and contain only 
the fishing ponds.   

 
7.22 The community angling club building and indoor angling centre are of designs 

typically seen within the countryside particularly in agricultural and recreational 
fishing situations.  Likewise, the proposed respite lodges are timber clad and as 
such, the design and materials would assimilate well into the surrounding 
countryside and be seen in the same way as holiday chalets. 

 
7.23 The position of the proposed car park has been chosen because of its close 

proximity to the road, hence allowing for a reduced length access track, and close 
to the existing nursery, screened by existing trees.  Furthermore, the proposed 
animal and garden areas are sited close to the boundary where a native 
hedgerow is proposed. No details of fencing or animal shelters have been 
provided and it is important that these are limited to post and rail and small open-
fronted buildings to ensure that minimal and appropriately designed structures 
are implemented so as not to result in a proliferation of inappropriate and visually 
prominent development. 

 
7.24 In terms of design and appearance, I am satisfied that the buildings are designed 

to be the minimum size necessary commensurate with the use of the site and will 
be constructed using appropriate materials which are rural in character and 
appearance.  The site is screened by existing trees and hedges and a new hedge 
is proposed to the west and a 1m high landscaped bund is proposed to the north 
which will help assimilate the site into the surrounding area.    
 
Access, Traffic and Parking 

 

Page 704



137 
 

7.25 The proposed site access is via a new priority junction access road off Cobbs 
Brow Lane approximately 100m south of Tabby's Nook. LCC consider this access 
is acceptable in principle subject to detailed design and suitable conditions. The 
proposed junction includes a footway flanking the access road, but there is no 
footway to link externally into the existing footway network in Newburgh, including 
the nearest bus stop identified in the submitted Transport Plan. LCC have  
recommended that for the development to be fully compliant with the NPPF in 
providing safe and adequate means of access for all road users, the scheme 
should include a safe pedestrian link to the existing footway provision on Cobbs 
Brow Lane (at the junction of Tabby's Nook) north of the site. This can be 
required by condition. 

 
7.26 With regard to the likely traffic generation of the development, the submitted 

Transport Plan indicates that the majority of young people arrive via minibus and 
taxi transport. Given the level of traffic movement and the revised access 
arrangements, LCC consider that the proposed development will not have a 
significant impact on highway safety or capacity. 

 
7.27 The proposed car park is directly accessed from the proposed access road, 

additional minibus parking spaces and covered cycle stands are included. The 
proposed parking is considered to be adequate to serve the site. I therefore 
consider the proposal to be acceptable and in accordance with Policy GN3 of the 
Local Plan.  

 
 Surface Water, Drainage and Flood Risk 
 
7.28 In terms of the principle of development relating to flood risk, the application site 

lies entirely within Flood Zone 1, the least susceptible to flood risk.  However, the 
NPPF requires that a site specific Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) is required for 
proposals of 1 hectare or greater. As the site is presently greenfield, the NPPF 
and Policies GN3 and IF3 of the Local Plan require that any development upon 
the land should not result in unacceptable flood risk or drainage problems and 
should achieve a surface water run-off rate to that equivalent of the greenfield 
run-off rate.  A Flood Risk Assessment has been submitted by the applicant 
which confirms the site has a low probability of flooding from fluvial, pluvial, 
ground water and sewer sources. 

 
7.29 In terms of foul drainage, United Utilities has confirmed that they have no 

objection to the development, provided the site is drained on a separate system. 
In terms of surface water drainage, the FRA confirms that no surface water will 
be discharged into the public sewerage system but will infiltrate to ground where 
practical and/or to the proposed fishing and balancing pond.    

 
7.30 The Lead Local Flood Authority, UU and Environmental Agency have raised no 

objections to the proposal, subject to conditions.  I am satisfied that the proposed 
development demonstrates compliance in principle with the NPPF and Local Plan 

Page 705



138 
 

Policy regarding drainage and flood risk. 
 
 Ecology 
 
7.31 The development of this site will inevitably affect its existing biodiversity value, 

particularly given its current greenfield status and use for agricultural purposes. 
Any development on the land must be carried out in such a way that respects this 
biodiversity value.  Policy EN2 in the Local Plan requires that development 
proposals must seek to avoid impacts on significant ecological assets and protect 
and improve the biodiversity value of sites. If significant impacts on biodiversity 
are unavoidable, then mitigation or as a last resort, compensation, is required to 
fully offset impacts.  

 
7.32 The ecological impact of the proposed development has been informed by an 

ecological assessment.  The application site is located in an area (known as an 
Impact Risk Zone) which could have the potential to support qualifying features 
within or in close proximity to the designated European protected sites of the 
Martin Mere SPA, Ramsar and SSSI site. European sites are afforded protection 
under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) 
(the „Habitat Regulations‟).  

 
7.32 The Council is a competent authority for the purposes of the Habitat Regulations 

and in considering the European site interest, regard must be had for any impacts 
that the proposed development may have. Regulations 61 and 62 of the Habitat 
Regulations set out a series of steps and tests that should be followed in 
assessing whether development could potentially affect a European Site. These 
steps are commonly referred to as the „Habitats Regulations Assessment‟ 
process.  

 
7.33  Natural England and Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service (MEAS) have 

been consulted.  A Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) report has been 
undertaken by MEAS, on behalf of the Council, that shows how the Council has 
engaged with the requirements of the Habitats Directive.  This concludes that 
there is no pathway that could give rise to likely significant effects on the 
European site and it does not warrant a detailed Habitats Regulations 
Assessment report for the following reasons: 

 
The site is unvegetated, therefore it does not provide suitable feeding habitat for 
passage and wintering birds; 
The Atlas of Breeding & Wintering Birds of Lancashire as no records of the 
species listed on the Martin Mere SPA citation for the grid reference; and 
The site is surrounded by arable fields that offer more suitable habitat. 

 
At the time of writing comments are awaited from Natural England to confirm the 
view of MEAS. 

 

Page 706



139 
 

7.34 The site provides habitat for bats, water voles and breeding birds. Plans have 
been amended to ensure no work takes place within 5m of the top of the bank of 
the existing ditch to the south of the site (in between the existing nursery and the 
site) and details for methods of protection to this zone should be submitted for 
approval.  As only one small tree is to be removed to facilitate the proposed 
access, MEAS have confirmed that no bat roost potential report is necessary. The 
ecological report states that no evidence of great crested newt use or presence 
was found. The Council does not need to consider the proposals against the three 
tests (Habitats Regulations). Furthermore, no tree felling, scrub clearance, 
hedgerow removal, vegetation management, ground clearance and/or building 
works is to take place during the period 1 March to 31 August inclusive. If it is 
necessary to undertake works during the bird breeding season then all trees, 
scrub and hedgerows are to be checked first by an appropriately experienced 
ecologist to ensure no breeding birds are present. If present, details of how they 
will be protected would be required. This can be ensured through the imposition of 
a condition. 

 
7.35 Having regard to the above and comments from MEAS, I am satisfied that the 

proposed development complies with Policy EN2 of the Local Plan as well as the 
Habitat Regulations. 

 
 Trees and Landscaping 
 
7.36 The site contains a number of trees and hedges along the western and southern 

boundaries. It is proposed that all existing trees would be retained, except for one 
semi-mature hawthorn tree. Additional hedge planting would take place along the 
eastern boundary, along with a landscaped buffer to the north in order to 
supplement landscaping already present and screen the development from the 
wider Green Belt. Furthermore, the application includes the provision of large 
areas of wildflower and sensory garden planting, thereby increasing landscaping 
across the site. 

 
7.37 I am satisfied with the landscape proposals and I consider that they are 

appropriate for the proposed development given the existing characteristics of the 
site. Further details of the additional planting would be required and this matter 
can be dealt with by way of a planning condition. The proposed development is 
considered to be compliant with Policy EN2 of the Local Plan in respect of 
trees/landscaping.  
 
Mineral Safeguarding Area 

 
7.38 The Lancashire County Council Minerals and Waste Site Allocation and 

Development Management Policies DPD was adopted in September 2013. This 
plan provides policies for minerals and waste planning in Lancashire.  Policy M2 
of this document identifies the site as falling within a Minerals Safeguarding Area.  
Within these areas, planning permission will generally not be granted for any form 

Page 707



140 
 

of development that is incompatible by reason of scale, proximity and 
permanence with working the minerals found on the land, unless the applicant 
can demonstrate that the mineral concerned is no longer of any value or has been 
fully extracted, or there is an overarching need for the incompatible development 
that outweighs the need to avoid the sterilisation of the mineral resource. 

 
7.40 On the basis of sterilisation of the land due to its close proximity to existing 

housing development to the east, the potential environmental impact to the 
groundwater and surface water regime along with the likely environmental 
impacts it is considered that pre-extraction of the mineral would not be 
sustainable. As such the exemption requirements of Policy M2 of the Lancashire 
Minerals and Waste Local Plan have been engaged so it is not necessary to 
undertake prior extraction in advance of the proposed development.  

  
Impact on Neighbouring Land Uses  

 
7.41 Policy GN3 of the Local Plan states that development should retain or create 

reasonable levels of privacy and amenity for occupiers of neighbouring 
properties.  The nearest residential properties to the application site are a 
significant distance along Tabby‟s Nook and Tears Lane as well as those off the 
access track further along from the existing Apple Cast nursery and Newburgh 
Grange.  The proposed development would be sufficient distance from these 
neighbours to ensure that the development would not cause any significant harm 
to their residential amenity through loss of privacy in accordance with Policy GN3.  

 
7.42 At such a distance and considering the existing activities at the nursery, I do not 

consider that the additional fishing lakes will have a detrimental impact upon the 
residential amenity of these neighbouring properties. In my view, the greatest 
impact on neighbouring amenity would be from noise generated by users and 
visitors to the site. However, as the site is located a considerable distance from 
those properties mentioned above and the likely noise would be from voices, and 
vehicles using the car park, I am satisfied that this would cause no undue harm to 
residential amenity. Furthermore, many of the activities at the site will be 
restricted by daylight hours and hours of operation can be controlled through the 
use of conditions.  

 
Very Special Circumstances 

 
7.43 Parts of the development have been found to constitute inappropriate 

development in the Green Belt. The NPPF states at paragraphs 87 and 88 that 
inappropriate development is by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should 
not be approved except in very special circumstances and that substantial weight 
should be given to any harm to the Green Belt.  Very Special circumstances will 
not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of 
inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other 

Page 708



141 
 

considerations.  The onus rests with the applicant to justify why permission 
should be granted for development that is considered inappropriate by definition.  

 
7.44 The applicant acknowledges that elements of the proposal constitute 

inappropriate development and advances the case that there are very special 
circumstances which exist to justify the inappropriate development. In essence, 
the applicant claims that a number of considerable benefits would result from the 
proposals. There are no defined criteria for assessing what constitutes very 
special circumstances and each case must be judged on its own merits.  

 
7.45 The special circumstances advanced by the applicant include the following: 
 CAST NW was founded in 2006 and gained registered charity status in 2008. On 

1st December 2016 CAST merged with the red Apple Trust to become Apple Cast 
NW. The centre was originally based around using angling as a tool to develop 
respect and self-esteem for young people; 
The existing centre is a thriving and well-respected facility that engages young 
people who are marginalised and works with local schools in the Lancashire and 
Wigan area, as well as Myerscough College; 

 The respite lodges will offer a facility that will build on the work already 
undertaken at the nursery, which is working with people with disabilities and 
behavioural problems and the lodges will offer crisis prevention provision from 
young people in looked after care. The young people will be absorbed into the 
nursery‟s educational programmes which involves angling, fish keeping and 
horticulture.  This will ensure that the referrals continue to complete education 
whilst participating in short term respite. It will also have a big impact on the 
breaking down of foster care and residential care in the area; 

 The setting is tranquil, far removed from their mostly chaotic home environments 
and allows for therapeutic engagement with their surroundings. The activities and 
staff would promote a safe and enjoyable environment where young people, 
particularly those who have additional needs, can grow their skills and 
confidence; 

 The proposed development will meet the needs of “Aiming High for Young 
People” (HM Treasury 2010) that sets out the government's vision for young 
people in England; 

 £7mill has been earmarked to fund new respite care facilities across Lancashire 
and evidence shows there is a social and economic value to short respite care; 
Apple Cast has secured £15,000 towards the proposed development to be used 
before August 2017 and development of the site is critical to the sustainability 
and employment of the existing 15 staff;  

Page 709



142 
 

Letters of support have been provided from Lancashire County Council Start Well 
Services and Wigan Council‟s Director of Children‟s services. Both these 
organisations currently use the facility at Apple Cast and have confirmed their 
long-standing relationship with the enterprise in providing support to young 
people through direct commissions with schools and services in Wigan and 
Lancashire.  The addition of the respite lodges for both organisations, are 
consider to an  important feature in the strategic priorities to provide increased 
capacity to support children in care and on the edge of care and require the 
ability to access short-term respite placements supported by social care staff 
alongside the wider enriching facilities at Apple Cast.  Ultimately the proposed 
respite lodges will support the safe and sustainable reduction in the number of 
children that need to be cared for by the local authority; 

 The adult social care services in Wigan also have a positive relationship with 
Apple Cast as part of the community support and opportunities available to adults 
with physical and learning disabilities.  The additional capacity of short respite 
lodges to support carer respite is a significant need for adult services; 

 LCC advise that there is more demand for short carer breaks than they have 
capacity to meet and there are particular gaps in relation to overnight short 
breaks/support that can be offered for older people with challenging behaviour; 
Current facilities on site are stunting the growth of the enterprise and through the 
proposed development, improved facilities could be provided to further assist the 
young people helped by the charitable work and provide an important link 
between schooling, training and future college, apprentice and work prospects for 
disadvantaged members of society. It is also noted that the growth of the 
business is not the only reason for the proposed development, this relates to the 
need to provide improved and additional facilities along with alternative arms of 
the charitable work i.e. the community angling and sensory/animal husbandry 
gardens. 

 
7.46 In terms of the impact on the Green Belt of the “inappropriate” development, I 

consider the proposal to result in limited harm.  This is due to the location of the 
proposed development being close to the built up settlement boundary of 
Newburgh and in addition, a large part of the site would remain in an appropriate 
use. The function of this land currently acts as a rural “lead” into Newburgh and 
because the main built elements of the proposal and hardsurfaced areas are 
close to the southern edge of the site and therefore closer to the existing built 
development at Apple Cast nursery, the overall impact of the proposal will be 
reduced and will not be seen as a harsh urbanised entrance into the village. The 
harm caused to openness and visual amenity is therefore limited. 

 
7.47 It is necessary to weigh the total harm to the Green Belt (including 

inappropriateness, loss of openness and encroachment) against the 
considerations put forward in support of the scheme. Given Apple Cast's 
operations require the charity to be based in a rural area and the demonstrable 
need expressed by both LCC and Wigan for improved facilities, including respite 
care in the area, together with the fact that the design and layout seeks to limit 

Page 710



143 
 

the impact on the character of the area, I consider that in this case, the total harm 
to the Green Belt is outweighed. In my view in this particular case the very 
special circumstances outlined above are compelling and the inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt can be justified. 

  
Summary 

 
7.48 The site is located within the Green Belt and whilst much of the proposed 

development is appropriate to the Green Belt, parts constitute inappropriate 
development.  However, very special circumstances have been demonstrated to 
outweigh the total harm to the Green Belt, the design and appearance of the 
development is considered acceptable, as is the impact on neighbouring 
residential amenity, highways, ecology and drainage. I am therefore satisfied that 
the proposal complies with relevant NPPF and Local Plan policies. 

 

 

 
8.0 DEPARTURE 
 
8.1 As the relevant parts of the proposed development that are considered to 

constitute inappropriate development in the Green Belt amount to less than 1 
hectare in site area (areas of hardstanding, indoor complex needs angling 
building and two respite lodges), the proposal does not need to be referred to the 
Secretary of State for determination under the Town and Country Planning 
(Consultation)(England) Direction 2009. 

 
9.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
9.1 That the decision to grant planning permission be delegated to the Director of 

Development and Regeneration in consultation with the Chairman or Vice 
Chairman of the Planning Committee subject to the receipt of no objections from 
Natural England and subject to the following conditions: 

 
Conditions 
 1. The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years 

beginning with the date of this permission. 
 2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with details 

shown on the following plans:- 
 Plan reference 3421-16-20 C (Proposed site plan) received by the Local Planning 

Authority on 26th June 2017; 
 Plan reference 3421-16-13 (Proposed new access) received by the Local 

Planning Authority on 29th March 2017; 
 Plan reference 3421-17-22 (Proposed polytunnel) received by the Local Planning 

Authority on 29th March 2017; 

Page 711



144 
 

 Plan reference 3421-17-23 (Respite care lodges) received by the Local Planning 
Authority on 29th March 2017; 

 Plan reference 3421-17-21 (Angling clubhouse) received by the Local Planning 
Authority on 29th March 2017; 

 Plan reference 3421-17-24 (Storage buildings) received by the Local Planning 
Authority on 7th April 2017. 

 3. No construction of any building shall take place until full details of the external 
cladding and roofing materials have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details. 

 4. The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until all the 
highway works within the adopted highway have been constructed in accordance 
with a scheme for the construction of the site access and the off-site works of 
highway improvement (which shall include details for a new footway along the 
northern side of Cobbs Brow Lane from the site access toTabbys Nook). The 
scheme shall be submitted to, and approved by, the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with the Highway Authority as part of a section 278 agreement, 
under the Highways Act 1980. 

 5. The new site access road for the development shall be constructed in 
accordance with the Lancashire County Council Specification for Construction of 
Estate Roads to at least base course level up to the entrance of the site 
compound (car park) before any development takes place within the site. 

 6. For the full period of construction, facilities shall be available on site for the 
cleaning of the wheels of vehicles leaving the site and such equipment shall be 
used as necessary to prevent mud and stones being carried onto the highway. 
The roads adjacent to the site shall be mechanically swept as required during the 
full construction period. 

 7. No part of the development shall be commenced until the visibility splays 
measuring 2.4 metres by 100 metres in both directions, are provided, measured 
along the centre line of the proposed new road from the continuation of the 
nearer edge of the existing carriageway of Cobbs Brow Lane, to the satisfaction 
of the Local Planning Authority. The land within these splays shall be maintained 
thereafter, free from obstructions such as walls, fences, trees, hedges, shrubs, 
ground growth or other structures within the splays in excess of 1.0 metre in 
height above the height at the centre line of the adjacent carriageway. 

 8. Any gateposts erected at the access shall be positioned 10m behind the nearside 
edge of the carriageway.  The gates shall open away from the highway. 

 9. The car parking shall be surfaced and marked out, and cycle parking scheme 
provided in accordance with the approved plan before the facilities hereby 
approved are brought into use and shall be permanently maintained thereafter. 

10. The use hereby permitted shall only take place between the hours of 08.00 and 
20.00. 

11. No construction works shall take place on the footpath/cyclepath within the site 
until full details of the external surfacing materials for the footpath/cyclepath have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

Page 712



145 
 

12. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the AIA and Method 
Statement for tree protection specified in the Godwin's Arboricultural Limited AIA 
received by the Local Planning Authority on 30th May 2017 and the Tree 
Protection Plan Drawing Ref: TPP.12571.01 received by the Local Planning 
Authority on 7th April 2017. 

13. No development shall take place until a landscaping scheme has been submitted 
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The landscaping scheme shall 
show the location, branch spread, and species of all existing trees and hedges; 
the location, species and number of all proposed trees, shrubs and hedges; and 
the location of all existing and proposed grassed and hard surfaced areas. Trees 
and shrubs planted shall comply with BS. 3936 (Specification of Nursery Stock) 
and shall be planted in accordance with BS. 4428 (General Landscape 
Operations). Within a period of 9 months from the date when any part of the 
development is brought into use the approved landscaping scheme shall be 
carried out. All planting shall be maintained and dead or dying material shall be 
replaced for a period of seven years from the agreed date of planting. 

14. Tree felling, vegetation clearance works, demolition, site preparation and 
development works that may affect nesting birds shall not be carried out between 
March and August (inclusive), unless the absence of nesting birds has been 
confirmed by further surveys or inspections and details of these have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

15. A 5m buffer from the top of the bank of the existing watercourse between the site 
and the existing Apple Cast nursery shall be maintained and protected and shall 
be adhered to at all time during and after construction of the development hereby 
approved. Details of the method of protection shall be submitted to and 
appproved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

16. This site must be drained using a total separate drainage system in full 
accordance with the FRA submitted. For the avoidance of doubt, no surface 
water flows generated from the site will be allowed to connect with the public 
sewerage system via direct and or indirect means. 

17. No development shall commence until details of the design, based on sustainable 
drainage principles, and implementation of an appropriate surface water 
sustainable drainage scheme have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. 

 Those details shall include, as a minimum: 
 a) Information about the lifetime of the development, design storm period and 

intensity (1 in 30 & 1 in 100 year + allowance for climate change see EA advice 
Flood risk assessments: climate change allowances'), discharge rates and 
volumes (both pre and post development), temporary storage facilities, the 
methods employed to delay and control surface water discharged from the site, 
and the measures taken to prevent flooding and pollution of the receiving 
groundwater and/or surface waters, including watercourses, and details of floor 
levels in AOD; 

 b) The drainage strategy should demonstrate that the surface water run-off must 
not exceed the pre-development greenfield runoff rate. The scheme shall 

Page 713



146 
 

subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved details before the 
development is completed. 

 c) Flood water exceedance routes, both on and off site; 
 d) A timetable for implementation, including phasing as applicable; 
 e) Evidence of an assessment of the site conditions to include site investigation 

and test results to confirm infiltrations rates; 
 f) Details of water quality controls, where applicable. 
 The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior 

to the proposed development being brought into use. 
18.  Details of an appropriate management and maintenance plan for the sustainable 

drainage system shall be submitted to and approved in writing and as a 
minimum, shall include: 

  
 a) the arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory 

undertaker, management and maintenance by a Management Company 
 b) arrangements concerning appropriate funding mechanisms for its on-going 

maintenance of all elements of the sustainable drainage system (including 
mechanical components) and will include elements such as: 

 i. on-going inspections relating to performance and asset condition assessments 
 ii. operation costs for regular maintenance, remedial works and irregular 

maintenance caused by less sustainable limited life assets or any other 
arrangements to secure the operation of the surface water drainage scheme 
throughout its lifetime; 

 c) Means of access for maintenance and easements where applicable. 
  
 The plan shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to 

the proposed development being brought into use. Thereafter the sustainable 
drainage system shall be managed and maintained in accordance with the 
approved details. 

19. The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until full details of the 
proposed animal shelters and boundary treatment have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details. 

20. The respite lodges shall be used for the provision of short term respite care only 
and for no other purpose (including any other purpose in Class C of the Schedule 
to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, or in any provision 
equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that 
Order).  The lodges shall be removed from the site once they cease being used 
for the provision of respite care. 

 
Reasons 
 1. Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990. 
 2. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the provisions of 

Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development 
Plan Document. 

Page 714



147 
 

  
 3. To ensure that the external appearance of the building(s) is satisfactory and that 

the development therefore complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the 
adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 4. In order to satisfy the Local Planning Authority and Highway Authority that the 
final details of the highway scheme/works are acceptable before work 
commences on site and to enable all construction traffic to enter and leave the 
premises in a safe manner without causing a hazard to other road users and so 
to ensure that the development complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the 
adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 5. To ensure that satisfactory access is provided to the site before the development 
hereby permitted becomes operative and so to ensure that the development 
complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local 
Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 6. To prevent stones and mud being carried onto the public highway to the 
detriment of road safety and so to ensure that the development complies with the 
provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document. 

 7. To ensure adequate visibility for the drivers of vehicles entering and leaving the 
site and to ensure that the development complies with the provisions of Policy 
GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan 
Document. 

 8. To permit vehicles to pull clear of the carriageway when entering the site and to 
assist visibility and to ensure that the development complies with the provisions 
of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document. 

 9. To allow for the effective use of parking areas and to ensure that the 
development complies with the provisions of Policies GN3 & IF2 in the adopted 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

10. To safeguard the amenity of adjacent properties and the area generally and so 
comply with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local 
Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

11. To ensure that the external appearance of the building(s) is satisfactory and that 
the development therefore complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the 
adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

12. To protect the trees and shrubs and thereby retain the character of the site and 
the area and to ensure that the development complies with the provisions of 
Policies GN3 & EN2 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document. 

13. To assimilate the proposed development into its surroundings and to ensure that 
the development complies with the provisions of Policy EN2 in the adopted West 
Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

14. To safeguard a protected species and so ensure that the development complies 
with the provisions of Policy EN2 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 
2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

Page 715



148 
 

15. To safeguard a protected species and so ensure that the development complies 
with the provisions of Policy EN2 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 
2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

16. To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future occupants 
in accordance with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the West Lancashire Local 
Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

17. To ensure that the proposed development can be adequately drained, to ensure 
that there is no floodrisk on or off the site resulting from the proposed 
development and to ensure that water quality is not detrimentally impacted by the 
development proposal in accordance with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

18. To ensure that appropriate and sufficient funding and maintenance mechanisms 
are put in place for the lifetime of the development, to reduce the flood risk to the 
development as a result of inadequate maintenance and to identify the 
responsible organisation/body/company/undertaker for the sustainable drainage 
system in accordance with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the West Lancashire 
Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

19. To ensure that the external appearance of the building(s) is satisfactory and that 
the development therefore complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the 
adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

20. The character and location of the property are such that the Local Planning 
Authority wishes to exercise maximum control over future development to protect 
the openness of the Green Belt in order to comply with the provisions of Policy 
GN1(b) in the West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan 
Document and the NPPF. 

 
Notes 
 1. The alterations to the existing highway as part of the new works may require   

changes to the existing street lighting at the expense of the client/developer. 
 2. This consent does not give approval to a connection being made to the County 

Council's highway drainage system. 
 3. The applicant is advised that the new site access, will need to be constructed 

under a section 278 agreement of the 1980 Highways Act. The Highway Authority 
hereby reserves the right to provide the highway works within the highway 
associated with this proposal. Provision of the highway works includes design, 
procurement of the work by contract and supervision of the works. The applicant 
is advised to contact the Environment Directorate before works begin on site. 
Further information and advice can be found at www.lancashire.gov.uk and 
search for "278 agreement". 

 4. Government guidance contained within the National Planning Practice Guidance 
(Water supply, wastewater and water quality - considerations for planning 
applications, paragraph 020) sets out a hierarchy of drainage options that must 
be considered and discounted in the following order: 

 1.    Connection to the public sewer 
 2.    Package sewage treatment plant (adopted in due course by the sewerage 

company or owned and operated under a new appointment or variation) 

Page 716



149 
 

 3.    Septic Tank 
 Foul drainage should be connected to the main sewer. Where this is not possible, 

under the Environmental Permitting Regulations 2010 any discharge of sewage 
or trade effluent made to either surface water or groundwater will need to be 
registered as an exempt discharge activity or hold a permit issued by the 
Environment Agency, addition to planning permission. This applies to any 
discharge to inland freshwaters, coastal waters or relevant territorial waters.  

 Please note that the granting of planning permission does not guarantee the 
granting of an Environmental Permit. Upon receipt of a correctly filled in 
application form we will carry out an assessment. It can take up to 4 months 
before we are in a position to decide whether to grant a permit or not.  

 Domestic effluent discharged from a treatment plant/septic tank at 2 cubic metres 
or less to ground or 5 cubic metres or less to surface water in any 24 hour period 
must comply with General Binding Rules provided that no public foul sewer is 
available to serve the development and that the site is not within a Groundwater 
Source Protection Zone. 

 A soakaway used to serve a non-mains drainage system  must be sited no less 
than 10 metres from the nearest watercourse, not less than 10 metres from any 
other foul soakaway and not less than 50 metres from the nearest potable water 
supply,  spring or borehole. 

 Where the proposed development involves the connection of foul drainage to an 
existing non-mains drainage system, the applicant should ensure that it is in a 
good state of repair, regularly de-sludged and of sufficient capacity to deal with 
any potential increase in flow and loading which may occur as a result of the 
development. 

 Where the existing non-mains drainage system is covered by a permit to 
discharge then an application to vary the permit will need to be made to reflect 
the increase in volume being discharged.  It can take up to 13 weeks before we 
decide whether to vary a permit. 

 5. Please note the requirements of CADENT submitted in response to the planning 
application and found on the Council's website.  The Shevington to Ormskirk 
Major Accident Hazard Pipeline lies in the vicinity of the site and advice should be 
sought from CADENT regarding this. 

 6. The applicant is advised to undertake a pre-commencement check on site prior to 
commencement of development in order to assess the presence or absence of 
invasive species.  It is an offence to allow invasive species to spread. 

 
Reason for Approval 
 1. The Local Planning Authority has considered the proposed development in the 

context of the Development Plan including, in particular, the following 
Policy/Policies in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document: 

 SP1 - A Sustainable Development Framework for West Lancashire 
 GN1 - Settlement Boundaries  
 GN3 - Design of Development 
 IF2 - Enhancing Sustainable Transport Choice 

Page 717



150 
 

 IF3 - Service Accessibility and Infrastructure for Growth 
 EC2 - The Rural Economy 
 EN1 - Low Carbon Development and Energy Infrastructure 
 EN2 - Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire's Natural Environment 
 EN3 - Provision of Green Infrastructure and Open Recreation Space 
 EN4 - Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire's Built Environment 
 together with Supplementary Planning Guidance and all relevant material 

considerations.  The Local Planning Authority considers that the proposal 
complies with the relevant Policy criteria and is acceptable in the context of all 
relevant material considerations as set out in the Officer's Report. This report can 
be viewed or a copy provided on request to the Local Planning Authority. 

  

Page 718



151 
 

 
No.11 APPLICATION 

NO. 
2017/0358/FUL 

 LOCATION Winrows Farm Barrison Green Scarisbrick Ormskirk 
Lancashire L40 8HX 
 

 PROPOSAL Erection of agricultural building (alteration to approved 
scheme 2016/0031/FUL) and demolition of existing 
agricultural shed. 

 APPLICANT Mr M Halsall 
 WARD Scarisbrick 
 PARISH Scarisbrick 
 TARGET DATE 26th July 2017 
 

 
1.0 REFERRAL 
 
1.1 The application was to be determined under delegated powers, however, Cllr Mrs 

Marshall has requested it be considered at Planning Committee to consider the 
impact of development with regard to its increased size and proximity to site 
boundaries and compliance with Local Plan policy. 

 
2.0 PREVIOUS RELEVANT DECISIONS 

 
2.1 2016/0031/FUL - GRANTED (01.06.2016) Erection of agricultural building. 
 

Adjacent site:  
 
2.2 2017/0409/FUL – PENDING Variation of Condition Nos. 2, 6 and 8 imposed on 

planning permission 2015/0322/COU to vary the approved plans; to allow 
additional windows and to allow the use of oak coloured upvc windows and 
doors. 

 
2.3 2015/0322/COU – GRANTED (19.05.2015) - Change of use of rural buildings to 

residential use. 
 
2.4 2010/0085/FUL – GRANTED (30.04.2010) - Retention of stable block comprising 

2 no. stables and hay room 
 
3.0 CONSULTEE RESPONSES 
  
3.1 Scarisbrick Parish Council (04.07.17) – objects. The building is overbearing in 

nature, affecting residents, and inconsistent with the design guide supplementary 
planning document. 

 
3.2 Environmental Health (19.05.17) – No objections/observations  

Page 719



152 
 

  
4.0 OTHER REPRESENTATIONS 
 
4.1 One letter of objection from a neighbouring resident stating the following 

concerns: 
 
 Proximity to three residential properties 
 Overbearing impact and loss of residential amenity 
 Development not completed in accordance with the approved plans 

Loss of view 
Loss of afternoon/evening sunlight/solar gain 

  
5.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
5.1 A supporting planning statement is submitted by the applicant. 
 
6.0 LOCAL PLAN ALLOCATION 
 
6.1 The site is within the Green Belt as designated in the West Lancashire Local 

Plan.  
 

6.2 National Planning Policy Framework  (NPPF) 
 Requiring good design 
 Protecting the green belt 
 
6.3 West Lancashire Local Plan (2012-2027) 
 Policy GN1 – Settlement Boundaries 
 Policy GN3 – Criteria for Sustainable Development 

Policy EN2 – Preserving and enhancing West Lancashire‟s natural environment  
 
6.4 Supplementary Planning Document, Design Guide (Jan 2008) 
 
6.5 Supplementary Planning Document, Development in the Green Belt (October 

2015)  
 
7.0 SUMMARY OF ISSUES 
 
 The Site 

 
7.1 The site relates to a farmyard located to the rear of Winrows Farm situated to the 

north of Pippin Street. The site features a recently erected modern agricultural 
store building to the eastern side of a farmyard area. To the north of the open 
yard are a building used in association with an equine business and storage; to 
the south are residential properties in separate ownership fronting Barrison 
Green. To the east of the new agricultural shed is a series of buildings currently 

Page 720



153 
 

under conversion to residential units. The site is accessed via a farm track on to 
Barrison Green some 140 m to the east. 

 

 
 The Proposal 

 
7.2 Planning permission is sought for the erection of an agricultural building with 

maximum dimensions of about 18.48 x 30.85 m with an asymmetrical pitched 
roof having a ridge height of approx. 6.97 m with eaves at 4.81 m to the east and 
2.7 m to the west. About 10 metres width of the southern gable of the building 
projects some 6 metres further south than the remainder of that elevation. The 
building is shown extending to the applicant's land ownership on its southern and 
western boundaries. The building is a typical steel-framed shed with concrete 
panels to the lower elevations (about 1.6 m high externally) with profile sheet 
cladding to the upper elevations and roof. Part of an existing worn corrugated 
agricultural shed to the south-eastern corner of the yard is to be removed.  

 
7.3 The scheme has been amended since first submission and constitutes a part 

retrospective amendment to permission 2016/0031/FUL. The building differs from 
the approved scheme in that it is taller, wider and includes an extension to the 
southern elevation. 

 
7.4 For clarity, the building approved under application 2016/0031/FUL had 

dimensions of 24.18 x 12.36 m with an eaves height of 4.3 m and ridge of 5.18 m. 
The straight southern elevation was about 4.0 metres further north.  

 
8.0 OBSERVATIONS DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 
8.1 The main considerations for the determination of this application are: 

Principle of development;  
Design / appearance;  
Impact upon neighbouring properties. 

 
Principle of Development  

 
8.2 Policy GN1 in the West Lancashire Local Plan (WLLP) states that development in 

the Green Belt will be assessed against national policy and any relevant Local 
Plan policies. The NPPF advises that planning permission will not be given 
except in very special circumstances for the erection of new buildings in the 
Green Belt other than for a limited range of purposes. One such purpose is the 
erection of a building for agricultural purposes. As a proposal for a building for 
use in conjunction with the applicant's established agricultural business the 
principle of development is considered acceptable under the terms of the NPPF 
and Policy GN1 in the WLLP. 

  
 Siting, Scale and Design 

Page 721



154 
 

  
8.3 The design and scale of the proposed building is typical of modern agricultural 

buildings and appropriate for the proposed use for agricultural storage. However, 
its siting and interaction with surrounding development in third party ownership is 
less typical. The existing building has been built about 1.8 m taller at the ridge 
than the approved building and about 0.5 metres taller at the eaves. In addition, it 
has been sited eastwards by about 2.7 - 3.1 m and, in part, southwards by about 
4.2 m. The applicant explains that the additional height is necessary to facilitate 
the use of tipping trailers within the building – therefore the increased eaves and 
ridge height are necessary; and, that the siting of the building off the site 
boundary would effectively sterilise potential operational land – the proposed 
siting makes best use of the land and minimises any requirement for additional 
buildings in more open locations about the yard. Both are considered legitimate 
material considerations. However, whilst the proposed appearance and siting 
within a group of development are acceptable from a landscape/Green Belt visual 
amenity point of view further consideration needs to be given to the matters of 
scale and proximity to neighbouring land uses.  

 
 Impact on Adjacent Land Uses 
 
8.4 It is necessary to consider whether the increased scale and amended siting 

results in any undue harm to the surrounding land uses – i.e. the residential use 
of the existing and under construction properties to the south and east.  

 
8.5 The properties most likely to be affected are those at 'Winrows Farm' (not to be 

confused with the separately owned Winrows Farm holding) to the south and the 
two single storey conversion units approved under application 2015/0322/COU to 
the east (being developed by the owner of Winrows Farm dwelling). The 
properties at 53, 51 and 'Loyola' are at sufficient distance not to be materially 
affected by the proposed development – whilst it will be visible it could not be 
considered overbearing or result in poor outlook in its agricultural setting. The 
loss of a view across third party land is not a material planning consideration. 

 
8.6 With respect to 'Winrows Farm' dwelling the erected building lies about 13 metres 

from the main element of the rear elevation. Here the development is 
substantially screened by an existing former agricultural building immediately 
behind the dwelling, albeit there are no rear openings in this part of the house. 
The western side of the rear elevation is stepped further back by about 3 m, so 
closer to the development at about 9.8 m at its nearest point. The outlook here is 
offset from the main part of the proposed shed and currently looks out from a 
utility area on to the remaining element of the worn shed at a distance of about 12 
metres (beyond a lower intervening garage building in third party ownership). In 
comparison with the previous scheme, that element of development facing the 
rear opening of the dwelling and rear boundary of the garden area would have a 
lesser visual impact than the previous scheme. This is because the western 
element of the proposal would be set further away than the previously approved 

Page 722



155 
 

scheme – about 15.8 metres, compared to the previously approved 12.4 metres. 
The eastern element of the building, however, would encroach closer to the 
dwelling by about 4 metres. This part of the building will give rise to a greater 
impact than the approved scheme but is set in the context of the occupier‟s own 
large shed building. On balance, the benefits and disbenefits of this aspect of the 
building substantially cancel each other out and, given the farmstead setting, I do 
not consider there is sufficient injury to residential amenity to warrant refusal on 
that basis in relation to Winrows Farm (dwelling).  

 
8.7 As the retention of the worn shed would have a greater combined impact 

compared to the proposed extension, I consider it necessary to seek removal of 
the existing worn shed by planning condition should the application be approved.  

 
8.8 Plot 2 of the substantially complete conversions to the east is located to the front 

of the adjacent site closest to Barrison Green. The unit is orientated with its 
primary elevation facing west towards 'Winrows Farm' dwelling and the gable end 
of the large shed within that residential site. This will be offset from the proposed 
building and therefore outlook from both the western or northern elevations is 
unlikely to be significantly impacted despite the closer proximity and increased 
eaves height of the application building.  

 
8.9 The impact on Plot 1, lying immediately east of the agricultural building will be 

greater than that of the approved 2016 scheme. The separation distance from its 
western elevation containing windows serving a kitchen/dining area and a 
bedroom is now approx. 8.65 metres rather than as previously approved at 12.0 
metres. Additionally, the eaves of the building are some 0.5 metres higher which, 
in combination, has a greater impact on the amenity value of the new residential 
unit. The single storey unit has two windows on its western elevation facing the 
new shed, one serves a bedroom, the other a kitchen area which also has 
outlook to an amenity area on the southern side of that building. It is notable that 
the view from both of these windows would have been dominated by the shed in 
its previously approved form. The closer proximity and increased height will result 
in less visible sky from the outlook of the western facing windows; however, this 
situation is not dissimilar to that of Plot 2 which faces the residential developer‟s 
own large shed at a similar overall height to the new building‟s eaves and at 
similar distance. (The ridge of the application building would not be seen over the 
eaves level from single storey accommodation). Being mindful that in the context 
of a farmstead setting, close proximity to operational buildings is not an 
uncommon scenario and that the comparable impact to plot 2 arises as a 
consequence of that developer‟s own shed building, I do not consider that the 
additional impact in terms of outlook would be so significant to warrant refusal of 
the application on the basis of outlook or overbearing development. 

 
8.10 Concerns also exist in terms of loss of sunlight/daylight and direct solar gain. This 

would only impact Plot 1 of the adjacent development. Due to the amended siting 
and increased height there will inevitably be a greater impact in terms of blocking 

Page 723



156 
 

direct sunlight and solar gain in late afternoon/early evening hours, however, 
again, this would not be considered so significant as to warrant refusal of the 
application on that basis. The difference between the impact of the approved 
scheme and the as-built position is not so great as to result in a significant and 
material difference in residential amenity within that unit. 

 
8.11 The closer siting of the building and relocation of the main access on the northern 

elevation have potential to increase noise to the adjacent buildings. As under the 
previous application it is to be used for agricultural storage, no mechanical 
equipment for drying cooling or grading is proposed and this will be restricted by 
condition in any case. Noting that the site is peppered with existing agricultural 
buildings, the proposed use of the building as storage and agricultural homestead 
setting, I do not consider that it would result in any significant nuisance by noise 
associated with the agricultural unit.  

 
 Summary 
 
8.12 Given the context of the site and relatively minor increases in impacts on 

surrounding land uses I consider the proposed development complies with 
Policies GN1 and GN3 in the West Lancashire Local Plan and therefore planning 
permission should be granted subject to conditions to require removal of the 
existing worn agricultural store and restrict the use of plant within the building. 

 
9.0 RECOMMENDATION 

 
9.1 That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the following conditions:  

 
Conditions 
 1. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with details 

shown on the following plans:- 
 Plan references Location Plan C529-4 and Site Plan C529-4 received by the 

Local Planning Authority on 23 May 2017, and Elevations 529-4 received 31 May 
2017. 

 2. The building shall only be used for storage of agricultural equipment and 
machinery and for the storage of agricultural produce and for no other purpose 
including the operation of any plant and machinery other than that required to 
move the stored products in and out of the building. 

 3. The remainder of building A as identified on approved Location Plan C529-4, 
received by the local Planning Authority on 23 May 2017, shall be demolished 
and removed from the site within 6 months from the date of this permission. 

 
Reasons 
 1. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the provisions of 

Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development 
Plan Document. 

  

Page 724



157 
 

 2. To safeguard the amenity of adjacent properties and the area generally and so 
comply with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local 
Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

  
  
 3. The retention of Building A shown on the approved plans in addition to the 

increased scale of the part implemented development hereby approved would 
result in an unacceptable impact on residential amenity on occupiers of 
neighbouring residents and thereby conflict with Policy GN3 of the West 
Lancashire Local Plan (2012-2027). 

 
Reason for Approval 
 1. The Local Planning Authority has considered the proposed development in the 

context of the Development Plan including, in particular, the following 
Policy/Policies in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document: 

  
 Policy GN1 - Settlement Boundaries 
 Policy GN3 - Criteria for Sustainable Development 
  
 together with Supplementary Planning Guidance and all relevant material 

considerations.  The Local Planning Authority considers that the proposal 
complies with the relevant Policy criteria and is acceptable in the context of all 
relevant material considerations as set out in the Officer's Report. This report can 
be viewed or a copy provided on request to the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 
 
  

Page 725



158 
 

 
No.12 APPLICATION 

NO. 
2017/0395/FUL 

 LOCATION Land To The North Of Asmall Lane Scarisbrick Lancashire   
 

 PROPOSAL Variation of Condition No's. 5, 6, 7, 14 and 17 imposed on 
planning permission 2015/0477/FUL in accordance with 
the details provided in the supporting statement received 
on the 11th April 2017. 

 APPLICANT Molyneux Kale Company 
 WARD Scarisbrick 
 PARISH Scarisbrick 
 TARGET DATE 7th June 2017 
 

 
1.0 PREVIOUS RELEVANT DECISIONS 

 
1.1 2014/0855/PNP – Application for Determination as to Whether Prior Approval is 

Required for Details – Erection of agricultural machinery and produce store.  Prior 
Approval NOT required 01.09.14. 

 
1.2 2015/0477/FUL - Erection of agricultural building including mezzanine floor above 

cooler store to provide farm office, staff 'brew room' and storage area. External 
staff toilets and septic tank. Agricultural access track and yard area 
(retrospective).  Approved 01.08.2016. 

 
1.3 2016/0956/CON - Approval of details reserved by Condition Nos. 2, 4, 13, 15, 16, 

17, 18, 19 and 20 of planning permission 2015/0477/FUL relating to visibility 
splays from the access; turning area details; external lighting details; acoustic 
barrier details; a scheme for the overall management of the site; access barrier 
details; outside storage details; landscaping scheme and a scheme for the means 
of disposal of surface water.  Pending consideration. 
 

2.0 OBSERVATIONS OF CONSULTEES 
 
2.1 Environmental Health (12.06.17) – Object to the application on the grounds that 

the development would impact on the amenities of nearby residents. 
 
2.2 Highway Authority (19.07.17) – The conditions subject to this application are not 

conditions requested by the Highway Authority therefore there are no objections.   
 
3.0 OTHER REPRESENTATIONS 

 
3.1 Scarisbrick Parish Council (06.06.17) – object.   

 

Page 726



159 
 

3.2 Three representations have been received from local residents, the main grounds 
of objection are: 
 
The number of deliveries to the site are currently in excess of what is being 
requested as part of this planning application.  The conditions accepted by the 
applicant on the previous consent (2015/0477/FUL) were unrealistic.   
Most conditions imposed on the activities at the site have been breached since 
permission was granted.  
Evidence obtained by living close to the site shows that Molyneux Kale company 
(MKC) operations mean that the conditions applied for as part of this consent 
would still be too restrictive.  Therefore the business would continue to operate in 
breach of planning conditions.  
If this application was granted MKC would have an extra 520 hours per annum 
over that which was originally requested in application 2015/0477/FUL. 
The application asks for a 50% uplift in the number of HGV collections than that 
which they are currently permitted, this equates to an extra 35 collections per 
week. 
There is cold storage on the site which means that kale which is picked and 
packaged on the last working day before a public or bank holiday can be kept in 
cold storage and will be available on the next working day after the public and 
bank holiday.   
MKC could use their daily vehicle capacity to transport direct to wholesalers, 
however, they chose to sell direct to buyers which requires excessive numbers of 
vehicles visiting the site. 
The noise from the site affects residential amenities of neighbours through 
excessive noise that can be heard in gardens (loading/unloading, pallet trucks, 
fork lift trucks, reversing alarms, radios, engines running, etc.) and also within 
houses; an increase in hours and vehicle movements (50% increase) would 
significantly increase this impact. 
The increase in operating hours and HGV volumes has a wider implication to 
residents on Cottage Lane and Blindmans Lane. 
There is the potential for accidents on the sharp bend on Asmall Lane. 
MKC should relocate to a purpose built industrial site with the infrastructure to 
accommodate the high volume HGV tonnage. 

 
4.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION  
  
4.1 The applicant has submitted a statement in support of the application which is 

available for viewing on the Council‟s web site.   
 

5.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES 
 
5.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the West Lancashire Local 

Plan 2012-2027 DPD provide the policy framework against which the 
development proposals will be assessed.  

 

Page 727



160 
 

5.2 The site is located within the Green Belt as designated in the West Lancashire 
Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD and therefore the following policies are relevant:  

 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
Supporting a prosperous rural economy 
Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD (WLLP) 
 
GN3 - Criteria for Sustainable Development 
EC2 – The Rural Economy 
 

6.0 OBSERVATIONS OF DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 

Background 
 

6.1 The applicant operates an agricultural business comprising primarily of the 
growing of Kale and Spring Greens.  The business trades as Molyneux Kale 
Company (MKC).  MKC was formed in 2013, prior to which the applicant worked 
for the family farming business located at Asmall House Farm, which is directly 
opposite the application site.  As a consequence of business circumstances the 
operations at Asmall House Farm ceased and by November 2014 the farm was 
sold and rental agreements terminated.  Following construction of the agricultural 
building the business operation moved from Asmall House Farm across the road 
to the new building.   

 
6.2 The agricultural building which this application relates to was erected in 2015 

following an approval of a similar agricultural building under permitted 
development, application reference 2014/0855/PNP.  Following erection of the 
building it was found that the development was not in accordance with the details 
included in application 2014/0855/PNP.  Whilst the size and location of the 
building was substantially as per the approved plans, the building had an 
additional mezzanine floor, there were changes to the position of the openings 
and the building had an associated access track and hardstanding.  As such the 
applicant was advised to submit a retrospective planning application.  This 
application (2015/0477/FUL) was approved subject to conditions in August 2016. 
 
The Site 
 

6.3 The application site is located on the north side of Asmall Lane.  To the north and 
west there are open agricultural fields; to the east are Blackthorn Barn and 
Brough Farm which are residential properties, and; to the south Asmall House 
Farm which is another residential property.  There is an agricultural barn to the 
south east of the site. 

 

Page 728



161 
 

The Proposal 
 

6.4 Planning permission is sought to vary several conditions that were attached to 
planning approval 2015/0477/FUL.  The conditions are as follows: 

 
Condition 5 
 
2015/0477/FUL condition 
There shall be no loading, unloading or packaging activities on site and no plant 
shall be operated on the external yard area or access track outside the hours of 
08:00 to 18:00 Monday - Friday and 8:00 to 13:00 on Saturdays.  On Sundays 
there shall be no packing activities at any time and vehicle collection, deliveries, 
loading and unloading shall be restricted to between the hours of 08.30 to 10.30.  
There shall be no loading, unloading, packing activities, vehicle collection or 
deliveries on Bank and Public Holidays. 
 
Proposed condition 
There shall be no loading, unloading or packaging activities in the external yard 
area or access track and no plant shall be operated on the external yard area or 
access track outside the hours of 08:00 to 18:00 Monday - Friday and 8:00 to 
13:00 on Saturdays.  On Sundays there shall be no packing activities at any time 
and vehicle collection, deliveries, loading and unloading shall be restricted to 
between the hours of 09.00 to 13.00.  On Bank Holidays or Public Holidays there 
shall be no loading unloading or packing activities in the external yard area or 
access track and no plant shall be operated on the external yard area or access 
track outside the hours of 08.00 – 13.00. On Christmas Eve, Christmas Day, 
Boxing Day, New Year‟s Day and Easter Day there shall be no loading, unloading 
or packing activities and no plant shall be operated on the external yard area or 
access track. 

 
Condition 6 
 
2015/0477/FUL condition  
Other than agricultural vehicles and equestrian vehicles there shall be no delivery 
and collection vehicles entering or leaving the site outside the hours of 08:00 to 
18:00 Mondays to Friday and 08:00 to 13:00 Saturdays, and 08.30 to 10.30 on 
Sundays, and none at all on Bank and Public Holidays. 
 
Proposed condition 
Other than agricultural vehicles and equestrian vehicles there shall be no delivery 
and collection vehicles entering or leaving the site outside the hours of 08:00 to 
18:00 Monday to Friday and 08:00 to 13:00 Saturday, and 08.30 to 13.00 on 
Sundays and Bank or Public Holidays.  Other than agricultural vehicles and 
equestrian vehicles there shall be no delivery and collection vehicles entering or 
leaving site on Christmas Eve, Christmas Day, Boxing Day, New Year‟s Day and 
Easter Day. 

Page 729



162 
 

 
Condition 7 
 
2015/0477/FUL condition  
The number of large goods vehicles Class C or C+E (as categorized by the 
LGV/HGV Driving Licence Categories) visiting the site shall not exceed 4 in any 
one day with a maximum number of 10 visits of vehicles Class C, C1  or C+E (as 
categorized by the LGV/HGV Driving Licence Categories) in any one day. A 
record of all large good vehicles visiting the site shall be kept up to date and be 
made available for inspection at any time by the Local Planning Authority.  For 
the avoidance of doubt this shall exclude agricultural vehicles and animal 
transporters. 
 
Proposed condition 
The number of large goods vehicles Class C + E (as categorized by the 
LGV/HGV Driving Licence Categories) visiting the site shall not exceed 6 in any 
one day with a maximum number of 15 visits of vehicles Class C, C1 or C+E (as 
categorized by the LGV/HGV Driving Licence Categories) in any one day.  A 
record of all large goods vehicles visiting the site shall be kept up to date and be 
made available for inspection at any time by the Local Planning Authority.  For 
the avoidance of doubt this shall exclude agricultural vehicles and animal 
transporters.  

 
Condition 14 
 
2015/0477/FUL condition 
The lighting hereby approved shall only be illuminated during the hours of 07.30 
to 18.30 Monday to Friday, 07.30-13.30 on Saturdays, 08.00 to 11.00 on 
Sundays, and at no point on Bank and Public Holidays. 
 
Proposed condition 
The lighting hereby approved shall only be illuminated during the hours of 07.30 
to 18.30 Monday to Friday, 07.30-13.30 on Saturdays, 09.00 to 13.00 on 
Sundays and Bank or Public Holidays expect Christmas Eve, Christmas Day, 
Boxing Day, New Year‟s Day and Easter Day where the lighting thereby 
approved shall not operate at all. 
 
Condition 17 
 
2015/0477/FUL condition 
Within one month from the date of approval of details, the access barrier shown 
on plan ref. 'Option 4 - Agricultural Building' shall be erected along the width of 
the access track. The barrier shall be kept closed and locked at all times outside 
the hours of 07.30 and 18.30 Monday to Fridays and 07.30 and 13.30 Saturdays, 
Bank or Public Holidays, and 08.30 and 12.30 on Sundays, other than for access 
by agricultural vehicles and for access to the adjoining stables.  Within one month 

Page 730



163 
 

of the date of this permission a scheme detailing the barrier shall be submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  The barrier shall be retained and 
maintained in good condition whilst the permitted use remains.  For the 
avoidance of doubt the gate should open away from the highway. 
 
Proposed condition 
Within one month from the date of approval of details, the access barrier shown 
on plan ref. 'Option 4 - Agricultural Building' shall be erected along the width of 
the access track.  The barrier shall be kept closed and locked at all times outside 
the hours of 07.30-18.30 Monday to Fridays and 07.30-13.30 Saturdays, Bank or 
Public Holidays, and 09:00-13:30 on Sundays, other than for access by 
agricultural vehicles and for access to the adjoining stables.  Within one month of 
the date of this permission a scheme detailing the barrier shall be submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  The barrier shall be retained and 
maintained in good condition whilst the permitted use remains.  For the 
avoidance of doubt the gate should open away from the highway.  
  
Assessment 

 
6.5 The main issue to consider in respect of this application is the potential impact on 

residential amenity which may arise as a result of varying the above planning 
conditions.  Given the nature of the use, the main issue to consider with regards 
to residential amenity is the harm associated with noise and disturbance.   

 
6.6 The applicant has advised that they need to vary conditions 5, 6 and 7 attached 

to permission 2015/0477/FUL.  In varying these conditions it will also be 
necessary to vary conditions 14 and 17 attached to the permission by 
association.  The applicants Supporting Statement advises that their produce 
must be delivered to the farm markets and supermarkets whilst still fresh.  During 
the week customers are able to collect produce from the site daily between 0800 
-1800 hours and between 0800 – 1300 hours on a Saturday for sale the following 
day.  However, there are restrictions imposed on opening hours during Sundays 
and Bank Holidays which mean that there is not a sufficient time period for 
customers to collect produce and deliver to the farm market or supermarket for 
the opening of trading on Monday morning, which means that Sunday collections 
during the period of 0900 - 1300 hours are necessary.  Their statement goes on 
to say that when a Bank or Public Holiday falls on a Monday the customers need 
to collect produce on the Monday instead of the Sunday ready for trading on 
Tuesday morning.  Therefore, Bank or Public Holidays, save for Christmas Eve, 
Christmas Day, Boxing Day, New Year‟s Day and Easter Day must have the 
same permitted operations and hours as Sundays. 

 
6.7 The applicant has advised that the condition limiting the number of vehicular 

movements in any one day is also too restrictive for the business to operate 
effectively.  The customers to the site collect produce from other suppliers and 
the type of collection vehicle is often dictated by the collections undertaken by 

Page 731



164 
 

customers throughout the day.  According to the supporting statement the 
customers need to operate an efficient and viable collection service and the 
restrictions imposed on the applicant cannot be accommodated by their 
customers. 

 
6.8 Within the NPPF Local Planning Authorities are encouraged to support economic 

growth in rural areas by taking a positive approach to new development.  In order 
to maintain prosperous rural economies, the NPPF advises that the sustainable 
growth of rural businesses should be supported and the development of 
agricultural business should be promoted.  The National Planning Policy 
Framework also seeks to protect residential amenity from undue noise and 
disturbance and this is mirrored in Policy GN3 of the Local Plan.  

 
6.9 The nearest residential properties are Blackthorn Barn, Brough Farm and the 

dwelling at Asmall House Farm.  Concern has been raised from local residents 
about the noise arising from the activities at the site and the impact that this is 
having on residential amenity as a result of noise and disturbance.  A number of 
complaints have also been received by the Council‟s Environmental Health 
Department since March 2015.  

 
6.10 The Council‟s Environmental Health Department  has been consulted on the 

application and has advised that with regard to the original application, following 
officer visits and an independent noise assessment they were of the opinion that 
noise from the site was audible at nearby residential properties, and that they 
considered that this noise fell into the „Lowest Observed Adverse Effect Level‟ 
where noise starts to have an adverse effect and that consideration needed to be 
given to mitigating and reducing those effects.  Such mitigation was provided by 
use of the planning conditions imposed on 2015/0477FUL  which restricted 
operations on site with a view to providing nearby residents some respite from 
noisy activities, which prior to this business being developed in this location did 
not exist.  Without these conditions the Environmental Health Department would 
have objected to the original application.   

 
6.11 Some further mitigation measures were imposed as part of the original planning 

consent including a site management plan for controlling noise and the 
installation of an acoustic fence.  However, engine noise from HGVs arriving and 
manoeuvring and loading/unloading practices using fork-lift trucks are noisy 
activities which are difficult to control at source.  In light of this current application 
an Environmental Health Officer has made recent visits to neighbouring 
properties and has confirmed as part of their consultation response that the site 
remains clearly audible and so considers that a restriction on operating hours and 
capacity continues to be the most appropriate measure to offer some protection 
to local residents.   

 
6.12 I consider that whilst it can be accepted that residents living near to a rural 

business can reasonably expect noisier living and working conditions than would 

Page 732



165 
 

be reasonable in a wholly residential area, the representations demonstrate that 
their amenities have been unduly harmed by noise and disturbance.  They 
describe noise that causes a material change in their day to day behaviour such 
as closing windows and effect on the use of gardens. For this reason I am of the 
opinion that any increase in hours and HGV movements to the site would further 
exacerbate the issues surrounding noise and disturbance that is experienced by 
neighbours to an unacceptable degree.   

6.13 Local and national planning policy is supportive of economic development and I 
am mindful of the need to support the growth of rural businesses and have 
considered the business argument for extending operational hours and allowing a 
greater number of HGV vehicles to enter the site. However, I have also taken into 
account the concerns of local residents and the harm to amenity that they are 
currently experiencing, and on balance, I consider that the extended operating 
hours and increased vehicular movements would increase the harm experienced 
by local residents to an unacceptable degree by reducing the amount of respite 
time from the operational activities at the site that local residents benefit from, 
and for this reason the application should be refused.   

 
Summary 

6.14 In summary, conditions imposed on planning approval 2015/0477/FUL were 
considered necessary to protect the amenities of local residents and provide 
some respite from the activities associated with the business use at the 
application site.  I consider that the variations to these conditions that have been 
requested as part of this planning application would further exacerbate the impact 
on living conditions currently experienced by local residents and would be 
contrary to Policy GN3 of the Local Plan which seeks to retain reasonable levels 
of amenity for local residents and paragraph 123 of the NPPF.  

7.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
7.1 That planning permission be REFUSED for the following reason: 
 
Reasons for Refusal 
 1. The proposed variation of the operating hours and numbers of delivery vehicles 

accessing the site would result in a loss of amenity to the occupants of 
neighbouring properties on Asmall Lane through increased noise and disturbance 
which would be contrary to the NPPF and Policy GN3 of the West Lancashire 
Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD. 

 
  

Page 733



166 
 

 
No.13 APPLICATION 

NO. 
2017/0491/FUL 

 LOCATION 104 Moorfield Lane Scarisbrick Ormskirk Lancashire L40 
8JE  
 

 PROPOSAL Proposed ancillary accommodation. 
 APPLICANT Mr & Mrs Hilton 
 WARD Scarisbrick 
 PARISH Scarisbrick 
 TARGET DATE 17th July 2017 
 

 
1.0 REFERRAL 
 
1.1 This application was to be determined under the Council's delegation scheme 

however Councillor Marshall has requested it be referred to Committee to assess 
the impact of the proposal upon the Green Belt. 

 
2.0 PREVIOUS RELEVANT DECISIONS 
 
2.1 2017/0267/NMA - Non material amendment to planning permission 

2016/0069/FUL - Re-positioning ancillary accommodation. The addition of 
covered access and egress points fire place and chimney stack. REFUSED 
24.04.17 

 
2.2 2016/0069/FUL - Proposed ancillary accommodation. GRANTED 10/05/16 
 
2.3 2015/1180/FUL - Proposed ancillary accommodation. REFUSED 22.12.2015 
 
2.4 2015/0943/FUL - Proposed ancillary accommodation. REFUSED 28.10.15. 
 
2.5 2015/0606/LDP - Certificate of Lawfulness - Proposed construction of new timber 

clad outbuilding, connecting to existing drainage system and extending existing 
drive. Not Permitted 23.07.2015 

 
2.6 2015/0346/LDC Certificate of Lawfulness - Use of agricultural land as domestic 

garden. Certificate of Lawfulness (EXISTING) GRANTED 27.05.15. 
 
2.7 2002/0952 - Conservatory at rear. GRANTED 07.10.02. 
 
2.8 1994/1210 - Two dwellings. GRANTED 16.03.95. 
 
2.9 1993/0985 - Outline - partial rebuilding of residential properties GRANTED 

02.12.93. 
 

Page 734



167 
 

 
3.0 OBSERVATION OF CONSULTEES 
 
3.1 Scarisbrick Parish Council (06.06.2017) - No objections. 
 
4.0 OTHER REPRESENTATIONS 
 
4.1 None received 
 
5.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
4.1 None 
 
5.0 RELEVANT LOCAL PLAN POLICIES 
 
5.1 The site is located within the Green Belt in the West Lancashire Local Plan. 
 
5.2  National Planning Policy Framework 
 

Requiring good design 
Protecting Green Belt Land 

 
5.3 West Lancashire Local Plan (2012-2027) DPD 
 

Policy SP1 – A sustainable development framework for West Lancashire 
Policy GN1 – Settlement Boundaries 
Policy GN3 – Criteria for Sustainable Development 
EN2 – Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire‟s Natural Environment 

 
5.4  Supplementary Planning Document, Design Guide (Jan 2008) 
 
5.5 Supplementary Planning Document, Development in the Green Belt (October 

2015) 
 
6.0 OBSERVATIONS OF DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 

The Site 
 
6.1 The application site relates to an extended semi-detached dwelling located to the 

south side of Moorfield Lane. The site is located within the Green Belt. 
 

The Proposal 
 
6.2 Planning permission is sought for a detached building for use as ancillary 

accommodation. The building would measure approx. 5.40m in width (excluding 

Page 735



168 
 

porch) by 8.70m in length and would have a ridge height of 4.90m. The building 
would be finished in brickwork/render and have a slate roof. 

 
 The main differences between this planning application and that previously 

approved under planning 2016/0069/FUL are as follows: 
 

The proposed ancillary accommodation is taller, wider, and longer; 
The proposed ancillary accommodation includes a porch, chimney, and 
overhanging roof; 
The extant permission has a slate roof, timber elevations and wooden windows. 
The current application proposes brick/render elevations, slate roof and 
timber/UPVC/aluminium windows; 
The extant permission shows the ancillary accommodation 2m from the main 
dwelling house. The current application proposes the ancillary accommodation 
6m from the main house.  
 
Assessment 

 
6.3 The main considerations for the determination of this application are; 

 
Principle of Development 
Separate unit 
Impact upon highways/ parking 
Impact upon neighbouring properties 

 
Principle of Development 

 
6.4 The NPPF advises that in relation to Green Belts planning permission will not be 

given except in very special circumstances for the erection of new buildings other 
than for a limited range of purposes. One such purpose is the extension or 
alteration of a dwelling – but only where, amongst other things, the extensions do 
not result in disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original 
dwelling. The Council SPG Design Guide in Policy GB4 suggests that once the 
volume of all extensions exceed about 40% of the volume of the original building, 
then it is more likely that the development would have an adverse impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt. The SPD also states the design of development 
should be in keeping with the original form and appearance of the building and 
not materially harm the openness of the green belt through excessive bulk or 
scale or by virtue of its location.  

 
6.5 The SPD provides further guidance on the interpretation of SPD Policy GB4 

which indicates that extensions of less than 40% due to their form and projection 
from the original building, may be judged to be inappropriate as the prominent 
and easily visible expansion of a building will detract more from the openness of 
the green belt than a more concealed or compact extension.  

 

Page 736



169 
 

6.6 Volume calculations have been submitted with the planning application which 
show the proposed development would result in an increase in volume above that 
of the original dwelling by approximately 39.12% I have checked this calculation 
and assessed the original dwelling as including the property‟s rear outrigger. I 
have viewed historic photographs and the rear outrigger is present on these 
photographs and as such I consider that this element of the building can be 
classed as original. A conservatory extension has been added to the building and 
is not considered to form part of the original dwelling.  

 
6.7 In strict volume terms the proposal would not exceed the 40% volume guideline. 

However the development must be assessed to see whether by virtue of its siting 
and design, the proposed ancillary building would appear as a disproportionate 
addition above and beyond the size of the original dwelling.  

 
6.8 In my view the proposal would have a substantial impact upon the openness of 

the Green Belt as it would extend the built development of a permanent nature on 
the site outwards rather than keeping it in a more compact form as was the case 
in the extant planning permission ref 2016/0069/FUL (2m wide separation gap). 
The ancillary accommodation; driveway/parking area between main house and 
proposed ancillary accommodation; parking area to the west of the ancillary 
accommodation;  wall measuring 2m high x 6m long between the main house 
and ancillary accommodation all encroach into the Green Belt to a significant 
degree.  Whilst I acknowledge the presence of a timber summerhouse in a not 
dissimilar location on the site, which it is indicated would be demolished as part of 
the current scheme; I can find no record of planning permission having been 
granted for its erection.   

 
6.9 The Government attaches great importance to Green Belts. The fundamental aim 

of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently 
open; the essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their 
permanence. Paragraph 80 in the NPPF states: Green Belts serve five purposes, 
which include checking unrestricted sprawl and safeguarding the countryside 
from encroachment. 

 
6.10 I consider that the additional hard surface for car parking and 6m wide gap 

between buildings is excessive and would spread the development outwards into 
undeveloped land, beyond the scheme previously approved, resulting in 
significant encroachment to the detriment of the openness and visual amenity of 
the Green Belt. I am concerned that the building would appear as an additional 
dwelling separate from the host property and as such, I consider that the 
proposed development represents a disproportionate extension to the original 
building contrary to the NPPF, Policy GN1 of the West Lancashire Local Plan 
(2012-2027) DPD and adopted Supplementary Planning Document relating to 
development in the Green Belt. No very special circumstances have been 
identified that outweigh this harm. 

 

Page 737



170 
 

Separate unit 
 
6.11  The ancillary accommodation approved under planning permission 

2016/0069/FUL had the appearance of a detached garage, owing to its design 
and proximity to the house.  

 
6.12 The currently proposed ancillary accommodation would be sited further from the 

main house. The design includes a roof overhang, side porch, chimney, and 
brick/render elevations with slate roof.  Given the design and proposed location 
away from the house, I am concerned that the ancillary accommodation would be 
perceived as an independent bungalow. Nevertheless, I am satisfied that a 
condition to restrict its use to ancillary accommodation only would be sufficient to 
avoid the inappropriate formation of a new independent residential unit in this 
location. 

 
 Highway Safety and Car Parking 
 
6.13  As the proposed ancillary accommodation will add an additional bedroom to the 

property, Policy IF2 of the WLLP states that for dwellings with 4 or more 
bedrooms, 3 on-site parking spaces should be provided. I consider that there is 
sufficient space on the site to accommodate a minimum of 3 vehicles on site. 

 
Neighbouring Amenity 

 
6.14 Policy GN3 of the West Lancashire Local Plan states that development should 

“retain or create reasonable levels of privacy, amenity and sufficient garden / 
outdoor spaces for occupiers of the neighbouring and proposed properties”. 

 
6.15  Given the siting of the development away from the adjoining neighbour and its 

single storey height, I do not foresee that the development would result in any 
significant impact upon neighbouring properties. 

 
Summary 

 
6.16 Given the above I consider that the proposal fails to accord with the requirements 

of the NPPF and Policies GN1 and GN3 of the West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-
2027 DPD along with the Council‟s SPD relating to domestic extensions in the 
Green Belt and should be recommended for refusal. 

 
7.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
7.1 That planning permission be REFUSED for the following reasons: 
 

 

 

Page 738



171 
 

Reasons for Refusal 
 1. The proposed ancillary accommodation is contrary to the National Planning 

Policy Framework, Policies GN1 and GN3 of the West Lancashire Local Plan 
(2012-2027) and Supplementary Planning Document - Development in the Green 
Belt in that by reason of its siting 6m away from the main house and excessive 
hard standing it results in inappropriate development and harm to the openness 
and visual amenity of the Green Belt. There are no very special circumstances 
identified that outweigh this harm. 

 
 
  

Page 739



172 
 

 
No.14 APPLICATION 

NO. 
2017/0018/FUL 

 LOCATION Len Wrights Salads Ltd Hazeldene Taylors Meanygate 
Tarleton Preston Lancashire 
PR4 6XB 

 PROPOSAL Construction of a portal frame pack house/processing 
facility, additional car parking on existing hard-standing, 
hard-standing for HGV movements and sustainable 
drainage system, for use in conjunction with existing 
mixed use of agriculture and processing and packaging of 
agricultural produce. Additional external works forming 
part of the development include an irrigation pond, 
detention basin and reed bed along with water pumps and 
septic tank. 

 APPLICANT Len Wright Salads 
 WARD Tarleton 
 PARISH Tarleton 
 TARGET DATE 9th May 2017 
 

 
1.0 PREVIOUS RELEVANT DECISIONS 
  
1.1 2015/0204/FUL – Construction of a building to house a new vacuum cooler.  

GRANTED 21.04.15. 
  
1.2 2014/0999/FUL - Proposed 2 no loading bays. GRANTED 12.01.2015 
  
1.3 2014/1175/FUL - Condition No.3 of planning permission 2012/1283/FUL to be 

varied by splitting it into two Conditions (3A & 3B) as follows: 
  

3A. Heavy Goods Vehicles shall not leave the site except between the hours of 
0700 and 2100 Mondays to Saturdays and 0800 and 2100 on Sundays and 
Bank Holidays. 
3B. No more than 4No. Heavy Goods Vehicles shall enter the site between the 
hours of 2100 and 0700 Mondays to Saturdays and 2100 and 0800 on 
Sundays and Bank Holidays. GRANTED 30.01.2015 

  
1.4 2013/0609/CON - Approval of Details Reserved by Condition Nos. 7, 11, and 12 

of planning permission 2012/1283/FUL relating to landscaping scheme; details of 
electric hook up points; and details of the proposed porous materials to be used 
for the surfacing of the access and HGV holding area. DETAILS APPROVED 
26.07.2013 

  
1.5 2012/1283/FUL - Construction of new vehicular access and creation of a new 

HGV holding area. GRANTED 20.05.2013 

Page 740



173 
 

  
1.6 2012/1006/CON - Approval of Details Reserved by Condition No. 4 of planning 

permission 2012/0074/FUL relating to a landscaping scheme. DETAILS 
APPROVED 11.10.2012 

  
1.7 2012/0074/FUL - Erection of extension for use as pallet storage. GRANTED 

18.06.2012 
  
1.8 2008/0261/FUL - Provision of sunken loading bay and ramp to existing loading 

bay. GRANTED 12.05.2008 
  
1.9 2006/0057 - Retention of existing buildings, structures and hardstanding.  

Creation of new vehicular access.  Change of use to a mixed use of agriculture 
and processing and packaging of vegetables and salads. GRANTED 01.08.2006 

  
1.10 2003/0223 - Erection of a temporary building for a mixed use of agriculture and 

processing of vegetables and salads. REFUSED 07.05.2003 
  
2.0 CONSULTEE RESPONSES 
 
2.1 Lancashire Fire and Rescue Service (17.02.17) – The scheme should meet all of 

the requirements of Building Regulations Approved Document B, Part B5 „Access 
and Facilities for the Fire Service‟.    

  
2.2 Highway Authority (25.05.17) – The Transport Statement submitted with the 

application is acceptable.  The current highway infrastructure has adequate 
provision to cater for this size of development.  The development should have a 
negligible impact on highway capacity and highway safety within the immediate 
vicinity of the site provided a condition is attached to any formal planning decision 
to restrict the use of the packing and processing facility to those detailed in the 
Transport Statement.  The plans indicate a total number of 90 formal marked out 
parking spaces, this may lead to issues with parking as the site is in an 
unsustainable location.  Further information regarding existing staff modal choice 
would assist in deciding how big an issue parking would be.  There are no details 
of facilities for secure cycle or motorcycle parking.   

  
2.3 Lancashire Constabulary (24.02.17) – No comments to make on the application. 
  
2.4 Lead Local Flood Authority (06.03.17) – No objection subject to the inclusion of 

conditions relating to surface water drainage. 
  
2.5 United Utilities (09.03.07) – No objection provided that conditions in respect of 

foul and surface water drainage are attached to any approval given.   
  
2.6 Ministry of Defence (22.03.17) – No safeguarding objections to this proposal. 
  

Page 741



174 
 

2.7 BAE Systems – Military Air and Information (13.03.17) – No objections. 
  
2.8 Environmental Health (17.05.17) – No objection in principle. Request conditions 

in connection with HGV vehicle movements and noise. 
  
3.0 OTHER REPRESENTATIONS 
  
3.1 Two letters of support have been received from Wright Farm Produce Limited 

and Alan Baybutt & Sons Ltd.  The grounds of support can be summarised as: 
  

Len Wrights Salad make a significant contribution to the local economy, not only in 
terms of directly employed people but ancillary and supplier businesses and to the 
community as a whole; 
Within West Lancashire horticulture and field vegetable production is the major 
contributor to the overall agriculture production of the district, as such it enables 
the district to compete on a local, regional, national and international stage; 
As the salad industry is extremely competitive the processing facility that has been 
proposed will enable the area to compete with other businesses throughout the 
country retaining orders for the growers and preventing a significant loss of 
revenue to the area as a whole; 
Without a successful horticultural industry and the ability to secure orders within 
the area there will be a significant detrimental effect from both an economic and an 
environmental perspective.  Without a successful industry the amount spent on 
positive environmental management will be reduced; 
The development would enable security of orders with existing customers and the 
potential for expansion into added value markets for our produce, something that is 
being encouraged by grant schemes, industry and the government.  Having more 
secure orders gives more confidence for re-investment and expansion into new 
growing/harvesting techniques; 
The development would allow for security for the 80 directly employed staff on the 
holding and many more in the wider grower group, including contractors, suppliers 
and other ancillary businesses; 
A thriving agricultural industry in this area has a knock on effect to a thriving local 
economy; 
In the current climate of uncertainty following the vote to leave the European Union 
food security is becoming increasingly important as is job creation and retention 
and local economic stability and growth; 
A proposal of this nature although appearing to be to the benefit of one 
organisation does in fact benefit a number of business and individuals; 
Alan Baybutt & Sons Ltd currently employ 160 staff and farm some 1,600 acres of 
salad crops all within close proximity to the Len Wrights Salad site, all of which is 
vacuum cooled and distributed by the applicant.  The local agricultural economy 
needs to remain competitive or there will be a loss of these jobs, and knock on 
effect to the local economy; 
The salad industry is competitive and is causing loss of revenue to the growers in 
the West Lancashire area and the applicant needs to compete with other 

Page 742



175 
 

businesses in the UK.  The proposed processing facilities will allow them to „add 
value‟ to their product and thus retain customer orders. 
 

4.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
   
4.1 Transport Statement, February 2017 
 Socio-Economic Impact Study, February 2017 
 Phase I Geo-Environmental Study, September 2016 
 Noise Impact Assessment, September 2016 
 Landscape Appraisal, December 2016 
 Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy, December 2016 
 Extended Phase 1 Survey and Evaluation, May 2016 

Design and Access Statement Including Supporting Statement, December 2016 
    
5.0 LOCAL PLAN ALLOCATION 
   
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), National Planning Practice 

Guidance (NPPG) and the West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 provide the 
policy framework against which the development proposals will be assessed. 

   
5.2 The site lies within the Green Belt as designated in the WLLP.  The following 

policies are therefore relevant: 
   
 National Planning Policy Framework 2012 (NPPF) 
 Building a strong competitive economy 
 Supporting a prosperous rural economy 
 Promoting sustainable transport    
 Requiring good design 
 Protecting Green Belt land 
 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
 Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
  
 West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD 
 SP1 – A Sustainable Development Framework for West Lancashire 
 GN1 – Settlement Boundaries 
 GN3 – Criteria for Sustainable Development 
 IF2 – Enhancing Sustainable Transport Choice 
 IF3 – Service Accessibility and Infrastructure for Growth 
 EC2 – The Rural Economy 
 EN2 – Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire‟s Natural Environment 
   
 Supplementary Planning Document – Design Guide SPD (January 2008) 
 

 

 

Page 743



176 
 

6.0 ASSESSMENT 
   

The Site 
   
6.1 The site is occupied by Len Wrights Salads Ltd (LWS) and is located on the east 

side of Taylors‟ Meanygate to the rear of detached residential properties (Red 
Moss and Hazeldene), and is an established agricultural processing/packing 
plant.  The site extends to approximately 1.39ha and comprises an open 
hardstanding used for the loading and unloading of HGV and tractor vehicles, 
customer and staff car park and a range of agricultural type buildings and 
structures.  These buildings are principally used for the collection, storage, 
processing and dispatch of produce grown by the applicant and other local 
producers.  

 
6.2 There are two vehicular accesses to the site, both of which are located off Taylors 

Meanygate.  The northern access is used for collection/delivery vehicles and 
leads to the rear of the development.  The other access is the main vehicular 
access to the site and leads to an informal car park which provides 50 spaces.   

  
6.3 The nearest residential dwellings are on the opposite side of Taylors Meanygate, 

approximately 40m away. 
 
 The Proposal 
 
6.4 Planning permission is sought for the construction of a portal frame pack 

house/processing facility, additional car parking on the existing hardstanding, 
additional hardstanding for HGV movements and a sustainable drainage system, 
for use in connection with the existing mixed use of agriculture and processing 
and packaging of agricultural produce.   

 
6.5 Len Wrights Salad (LWS) is seeking to consolidate their current practices by 

providing a purpose built pack house/processing facility, whereby produce 
washing and drying facilities, together with produce packing lines and office 
accommodation will be provided.  The proposed facility is to be used in 
conjunction with the existing operations on the site, with the proposed and 
existing buildings being linked via a connecting corridor.  The applicant advises 
that LWS is one of three main salad companies in the UK.  The company wishes 
to remain competitive.  Current facilities on site allow wholehead crops to be 
harvested and retail packed in the field then brought to the site for cooling, while 
others are brought from the field for cooling and processing before distribution to 
retail stores.  LWS provides cooling, cutting and packing on-site.  LWS currently 
has no facility for washing and bagging of salad.  Bulk product is currently sent 
outside West Lancashire for processing.  The development would enable the 
company to expand into washed and mixed product on-site.   

 

Page 744



177 
 

6.6 The building would be approximately 4260sqm, measuring approximately 25m by 
130m and be constructed from High Thermal Resistance Kingspan type 
composite walling.  There would be roller shutter doors on the eastern elevation 
of the extension which would allow HGVs to dock for loading and unloading to 
take place.   

 
6.7 The existing car parking area to the north of the buildings (to the rear of 

Hazeldene and Redmoss) would be formally laid out to provide 66no. car parking 
spaces; an additional 24 car parking spaces would also be provided in front of the 
existing building on the site.  Access to both car parking areas would be from the 
existing vehicular access for the development.  Larger vehicles would continue to 
use the northern access which leads to the rear of the site.  Formalised turning 
circles would be provided internally to allow larger vehicles to enter and exit in a 
forward gear.  HGVs would be able to reverse into the proposed building to make 
collections via a ramped access in the north-western corner of the building.   

 
6.8 The reed bed and irrigation pond would be approximately 901sqm and 769 sqm 

respectively, and be located to the northeast of the site. 
 

Principle of Development 
 
6.9 Policy GN1 in the WLLP confirms that development proposals within the Green 

Belt will be assessed against national policy and any relevant Local Plan policies. 
Paragraph 89 of the NPPF advises that the construction of new buildings in the 
Green Belt should be treated as inappropriate development. There are a number 
of exceptions to this including new buildings for agriculture and forestry.  

 
6.10 Whilst the current use of the site does involve the processing of agricultural 

produce, this does extend to the processing of an element of third party produce. 
Following the grant of planning permission in 2006 (08/2006/0057), the site has 
been established as having a mixed use comprising of agriculture and the 
processing and packaging of vegetables and salads (agriculture/industrial).  
Therefore the proposed building is not strictly one which could be described as an 
agricultural building; it would be a mixed use building in line with the current 
operations at the site, and therefore could not be considered compliant with the 
first exception listed under paragraph 89 of the NPPF.   

 
6.11 In summary I find that the proposed development does not comply with 

paragraph 89 of the NPPF and is therefore considered to be inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt 

 
Impact on Green Belt 

 
6.12 Paragraph 79 of the NPPF advises that the fundamental aim of the Green Belt is 

to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open, with an essential 
characteristic being openness.  Openness is not defined in the NPPF but has 

Page 745



178 
 

been clarified in Inspector‟s decisions as freedom from development and is an 
absolute test that does not depend on whether the development can be seen.  
Paragraph 80 of the NPPF sets out the purposes of the Green Belt, one of which 
is to safeguard the countryside from encroachment.   

 
6.13 The proposed building, by virtue of its size, would have a significant impact on the 

openness of the Green Belt.  This would be exacerbated by the significant 
increase in the amount of hardstanding on the site resulting from the extended 
service area for use by HGVs.  

 
6.14 In addition to this impact on openness there would also be a significant visual 

impact resulting from the development.  The landscape in this area is relatively 
flat and open and given the size of the building it would appear prominent in the 
landscape 

 
6.15 A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment has been submitted with the 

application which concludes that the LWS buildings are an existing element in 
local views and that the proposed development adds to the facilities but retains 
the tight cluster, and would thus be only marginally more visible in the landscape.  
I do not concur with this view and consider that the development would result in 
an eastwards outward spread of development from the position of the existing 
building, on land which is free from development and would significantly increase 
the footprint, scale and mass of the built form on site, representing prominent 
additions to the building.   

 
6.16 The development as a whole would represent encroachment into the Green Belt 

with harm to both openness and visual amenity.  As such the proposed 
development would conflict with one of the purposes of the Green Belt. Therefore 
the development cannot be found acceptable unless very special circumstances 
are demonstrated to outweigh the substantial harm caused by reason of 
inappropriateness and harm to openness and visual amenity.   

 
 Design and Appearance 
 
6.17 Policy GN3 of the Local Plan requires proposals for development to have regard 

to visual amenity and complement or enhance any attractive attributes and / or 
local distinctiveness within its surroundings through sensitive design.   

 
6.18 The building itself would be constructed from the same materials as the existing 

building on site and would be no higher than the existing buildings.  In terms of 
design and appearance the applicant advises that the dimensions of the building 
are necessary to accommodate the production line and equipment necessary to 
wash and bag the salad crops in the most efficient manner. The applicant 
confirms that whilst the building is of a significant scale the dimensions are 
necessary for the firm‟s business operations and the yard area has been 
designed to take account of the site‟s green belt location but is the minimum area 

Page 746



179 
 

necessary to ensure all vehicles can safely park, manoeuvre, load and unload 
within the curtilage of the site. 

 
6.19 Whilst I appreciate the building is of typical agricultural design, and would be 

seen against the backdrop of the existing LWS holding its substantial size would 
make it difficult to assimilate into this flat rural landscape. Furthermore the 
proposed development as a whole is extensive and in my view the development 
will inevitably result in harm to the visual appearance of the area. This harm is 
substantial and must be given significant weight in the planning balance. 

 
 Impact on Residential Amenity 
 
6.20 Policy GN3 of the Local Plan states that development should „retain or create 

reasonable levels of privacy and amenity for occupiers of neighbouring and 
proposed properties. 

 
6.21 Whilst the development would be visible from nearby residential properties the 

proposed building would be sufficient distance from the nearest residential 
neighbours (on the opposite side of Taylors Meanygate) to ensure that the 
development would not cause any undue harm to neighbouring residents through 
overshadowing or creation of poor outlook.   

 
6.22  A Noise Impact Assessment has been submitted with the application and has 

been assessed by the Council‟s Environmental Health Officer.  The assessment 
states that the development will not result in any more HGV vehicle movements 
than those which currently occur and this can be secured by a suitably worded 
condition. Therefore noise disturbance from vehicular movements should not 
unduly impact on nearby residents. 

 
6.23  A Noise Assessment has also been made regarding the impact from internal 

activities and plant/machinery.  It concludes that during the daytime the noise 
breakout from the new building would be 4dB below the representative daytime 
background noise level, which is satisfactory.  The report suggests that this 
activity would be limited to daytime only and as such this could be controlled by 
planning condition.  A condition will also be imposed in respect of fixed plant 
noise to ensure that the amenities of nearby residents are protected. 

 
6.24 I am satisfied that subject to the imposition of suitably worded planning conditions 

the development would not have any significant impact on neighbouring residents 
in accordance with Policy GN3 of the Local Plan.   

 
Highways 

 
6.25 A Transport Assessment has been submitted with the application, the 

methodology of which is considered acceptable by Lancashire County Council 
Highway Engineers. 

Page 747



180 
 

    
6.26  The site has two existing access points off Taylors Meanygate, one for access to 

car parking and one dedicated to large vehicles/HGVs.  Larger vehicles which 
currently access the site include HGVs and Farm Vehicles.  The applicant does 
not anticipate that the existing HGV movements will increase as a result of the 
proposals.  This is due to produce being processed and packaged at the site, 
rather than being transported to the processing factories which currently occurs.  
The applicant indicates that development will not affect the amount of produce 
entering the site, however the HGVs which leave the site on a daily basis will be 
fully stocked and therefore the produce will be consolidated onto existing part 
filled vehicles.   

 
6.27 The development would lead to an increased workforce employed by LWS.  The 

TA shows that during the winter season this increase would equate to an 
increase in two-way vehicular movements from 126 to 244 (118 extra 
movements), and during the summer season an increase in two-way vehicular 
movements from 254 to 394 (140 extra movements).  Spread over a 10 hour 
working day, the above figures represent an increase of 12 and 14 two-way 
vehicular movements per hour respectively.  Lancashire County Council is of the 
opinion that this increase would have a negligible impact on highway capacity 
and highway safety within the immediate vicinity of the site. 

 
6.28 The development includes the formalising of the existing car park areas to 

provide 90 marked out spaces.  Following the development it is expected that 
staff numbers during the winter season will increase from 69 to 184, and during 
the summer season from 81 to 221.  As a result of shift patterns these figures 
represent the expected total amount of staff on the books rather than staff 
numbers on the site at any one time.  Due to these shift patterns, the peak time 
within the day when there would be the largest amount of staff on site would be 
11am for both seasons.  During the winter season at the peak time of 11am there 
would be 135 of the 184 total staff on site (an increase of 73 from the existing 
numbers on site at 11am.  During the summer season at the peak time of 11am, 
there would be 164 of the 221 total staff on site (an increase of 83 from the 
existing numbers at 11am).  This would be the busiest period.   

 
6.29 Based on a transport survey of travel patterns of existing staff at LWS, at this 

period of highest demand 82no. car parking spaces would be required.  
Therefore the proposed car parking provision of 90no. spaces would be sufficient 
to cater for vehicles visiting the site at the anticipated peak time in the day on the 
busiest day of the year.   

 
6.30  I am satisfied that the development would have a negligible impact on highway 

capacity and highway safety within the immediate vicinity of the site, and that 
there would be sufficient car parking to cater for an increase in staff numbers on 
the site.  In the interests of sustainability a condition will be imposed requiring 
details of motorcycle and secure cycle parking. 

Page 748



181 
 

 
Ecology/Trees and Landscaping 

    
6.31 An Extended Phase 1 Survey and Evaluation was submitted with the application.  

The survey includes the following elements: 
 

Extended phase 1 Habitat Survey; 
Water Vole Survey; 
Evaluation of the potential effects on Great Crested Newt (GCN); 
Evaluation of the ecological significance of the survey and 
recommendations/precautions where appropriate. 

  
6.32  The survey concluded that in terms of GCN, Bats, Birds and Badgers there would 

be no/a negligible effect from the development and no further mitigation was 
necessary.  Signs of water vole occupation were found during the survey which 
indicate that the species is resident on part of the ditch nearest to the proposed 
development.   The proposal site will stand off from the ditch by a „safe‟ distance, 
however, a minimum buffer zone of 5m from the ditch bank must be applied to 
prevent impacting on water voles.  This can be secured via planning condition.   

 
6.33 In respect of trees and landscaping, Policy EN2 of the Local Plan advises that 

development involving the loss of, or damage to, woodlands or trees of significant 
amenity, screening, wildlife or historical value will only be permitted where the 
development is required to meet a need that could not be met elsewhere, and 
where the benefits of the development clearly outweigh the loss or damage.   

 
6.34 The existing building is softened along the southern boundary by a hawthorn 

hedgerow that has a mixed belt of native trees spread within.  This planting is 
relatively recent and was designed to screen the gable end of the building as part 
of a planning condition approved in 2012 (in connection with 2012/0074/FUL).  
The proposal also includes the removal of a relatively young group of ash trees to 
facilitate the new development. Whilst it is always disappointing to lose a 
successful landscaping scheme, the trees and hedging are recently established 
and can be replaced.  

6.35 Subject to the imposition of a planning condition which requires the 
implementation of a landscaping scheme to secure that there would be a „no net 
loss‟ of vegetation across the site and the provision of buffer planting to screen 
the building.  I consider that the proposals in terms of trees and landscaping are 
acceptable.   

 
Drainage 

  
6.36 The proposed development will increase the amount of impermeable area on the 

site and therefore, will increase the rate of surface water run-off.  Flood risk 
management measures are to be put in place to ensure that the risk of flooding to 
areas downstream of the site is not increased as a result of the development.  

Page 749



182 
 

This will include a surface water drainage strategy incorporating SuDS features 
that will mimic Greenfield performance for a range of storm events in accordance 
with Environment Agency requirements and Policy GN3 of the Local Plan. 

 
6.37 Surface water run-off from proposed roof areas and new areas of hardstanding is 

to be discharged at a restricted rate to the drainage ditch to the north-west of the 
site via a new connection to the existing outfall.  On-site attenuation will be 
provided upstream of this new connection to accommodate flows up to and 
including the 1 in 100 year storm event, including an appropriate allowance for 
climate change.  The Lead Local Flood Authority has reviewed the proposals in 
respect of drainage and have no objections to the drainage strategy subject to the 
imposition of planning conditions. 

 
6.38 Foul water will be treated on site with a package treatment plant in the south of 

the site and treated water will be discharged to the adjacent drainage ditch.   
 
6.39 I am satisfied that the Drainage Strategy submitted with the application is 

acceptable and that in terms of drainage the proposals comply with Policy GN3 of 
the Local Plan. 

  
Very Special Circumstances 

 
6.40  The proposed development has been found to constitute inappropriate 

development in the Green Belt. In accordance with paragraph 87 of the NPPF 
inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should 
not be approved except in very special circumstances. Paragraph 88 confirms 
that when considering any planning application, local planning authorities should 
ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt. „Very 
special circumstances‟ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt 
by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by 
other considerations.  

  
6.41 Through the above assessment, it has been identified that the proposed 

development is harmful to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness.  In 
addition to this, harm is also found to be caused by the visual impact of the 
development, loss of openness and encroachment into the countryside.  In 
accordance with the NPPF, very special circumstances are required to outweigh 
the totality of the identified harm.   

  
6.42 The onus rests on the applicant to justify why permission should be granted for a 

development that is considered inappropriate by definition.  The applicant has 
submitted a case for very special circumstances by way of a Socio-Economic 
Impact Study (ESA) which centres on the following points: 

   

Page 750



183 
 

There are 400 agricultural holdings in West Lancashire employing 2,300 people.  
LWS purchase approximately Ј13 million of produce from farmers within 4 miles 
of the site, therefore a proportion of these jobs are dependent on LWS; 
In terms of food processing there are 2,250 jobs in food production in West 
Lancashire (a third of the manufacturing jobs in the district and 4.7% of total 
jobs).  West Lancashire has seen significant growth in this employment sector, 
and together agriculture and food production account for 10% of jobs in West 
Lancashire compared to fewer than 3% nationally.  Both of these sectors are 
therefore a priority growth sector and important to the local economy.  The 
proposed development would lead to substantial growth in the number of jobs, 
which will increase the local opportunities available to local residents and support 
further local economic growth; 
The ESA estimates that spending within the LWS supply chain throughout the 
economy supports 39 full time equivalent (FTE) jobs in the UK and that local 
supplier and supply chain spending will increase to Ј4.6m.  This level of spending 
will support an additional 29 FTE jobs; 
LWS typically spends Ј300k per year on capital improvements on site, and has a 
commitment to source from local companies where possible.  Since 2011 Ј2.3m 
has been spent on capital items; 
In the latest year, LWS spent Ј13.1m on salad supplies from local farmers, nearly 
all of which spend is within a 4 mile radius of the site.  It is estimated that the 
impact of this spending supports 190 FTE jobs in the local agricultural sector.  In 
addition, a further 68 jobs will be supported in the supply chain of these farms, of 
which an estimated 17 will be located within the local economy; 
A total of Ј15m is likely to be spent on construction and machinery costs, which 
represents a substantial investment; 
The development is vital to safeguard the jobs currently dependant in supplying 
salad to LWS. 

   
6.43 The ESA goes on to assess the likely impact if planning permission is not 

granted.  Critically, LWS will be unable to expand on the existing site where it has 
invested heavily over the years.  The site is at the centre of the salad growing 
area around Tarleton, being less than 4 miles from 97.4% of LWS salad 
suppliers.  Being close to suppliers is seen as important for several reasons 
including minimum travel distances which maximises freshness and helps to keep 
fuel costs low; time is critical as the salad crops cannot be cooled down until they 
reach the processing plant where the high capacity vacuum cooler rapidly 
reduces temperature and moisture levels; haulage costs would  increase as all 
the crop would be transported in unprocessed form rather than final packaged 
form, and; travelling further would necessitate consolidation of loads and double 
handling from tractor to truck with associated wastage and time.   

  
6.44 Notwithstanding the above factors, LWS considered the potential of relocation 

and rejected it for a variety of reasons including the fact that there has been 
significant investment in the site over previous years, much of which would be 
lost as a result of relocation; being located in the countryside is a key attribute of 

Page 751



184 
 

LWS‟s freshness and important for customer perceptions; a site search of the 
local area and beyond has failed to identify any suitable site that could be viably 
purchased and adapted with the funds available.   

  
6.45 The ESA concludes that expansion on the existing site is the only viable option 

for LWS to pursue, and if LWS is not permitted to expand it risks being squeezed 
out of the market by the remaining players who already undertake the processes 
on site that LWS aspire to, and who may take over the company but are unlikely 
to retain a substantial local operation given their own large facilities elsewhere.  
This will have a significant impact on local employment within the borough and in 
turn a detrimental impact on the local economy.   

  
6.46 The applicant concludes that the company has achieved a level of growth and 

success leading to it becoming the third largest salad provider in the UK.  
However, despite this growth there is a marked difference between the turnover 
experienced by the two largest providers and that experienced by LWS.  In terms 
of turnover LWS is less than half the size of its next competitor and less than a 
twentieth of the size of the market leader, and whilst LWS is a profitable 
business, its profitability is just over a tenth of its largest competitor and a third of 
its next competitor.  The applicant indicates that if LWS does not invest for 
expansion there is a risk of the company being taken over by one of the larger 
players, and its contracts fulfilled from elsewhere.  The impacts from this would 
be significant and include the potential for local growers to be left without a 
market and the loss of direct and indirect employment.  There would also be 
indirect impacts on the local economy.  The development of the existing LWS site 
would accommodate the growth of the business and at the same time mean that 
the existing employer would stay within the Borough and the local area, and 
retain and increase its workforce. 

 
6.47  I acknowledge the case put forward by the applicant and that employment 

opportunities in rural areas of the Borough are limited and therefore consider it 
important to protect existing employment uses, and where possible allow for 
growth in employment.  Given the localised nature of the producers that LWS 
depend upon for their business the employment benefits associated with the site 
are significant to the Borough and local economy.   

 
6.48 Given the above, whilst this is a finely balanced case and the harm to the Green 

Belt and visual impact of the development must be given considerable weight, I 
consider the case put forward by the applicant on this occasion does amount to 
very special circumstances sufficient to outweigh the identified harm. The benefits 
of the development to the agricultural industry in the Borough have been clearly 
identified and I consider the arguments in favour of the development are 
compelling. I have taken into consideration all material considerations and 
conclude that harm to the green belt is outweighed by the economic benefits of 
the scheme. 

  

Page 752



185 
 

Summary 
 
6.49 The development would allow a local employer to remain in the area and 

expansion of the business would bring benefits to the local economy.  The design 
of the building is appropriate and there would be no undue impact on highway 
safety, residential amenity or biodiversity.  On balance whilst the development 
would have an impact on the openness and visual appearance of the Green Belt 
it is considered that the very special circumstances put forward by the applicant 
outweighs that harm.   

 
7.0 RECOMMENDATION 
   
7.1 That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the following conditions:        
 
Conditions 
 1. The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years 

beginning with the date of this permission. 
 2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with details 

shown on the following plans:- 
 Plan reference „Ordnance Survey Extract‟ received by the Local Planning 

Authority on 07.02.17. 
Plan reference ‟02 Development Proposal‟ received by the Local Planning 
Authority on 07.02.17. 

 Plan reference „MSP-EL401-AH1 – Proposed Elevations‟ received by the Local 
Planning Authority on 30.05.17. 

3. The building hereby approved shall be constructed using the materials outlined 
on the submitted application form received by the local planning authority on 7th 
February 2017. 

 4. No construction works shall take place until a landscaping scheme has been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The landscaping 
scheme shall show the location, branch spread, and species of all existing trees 
and hedges; the location, species and number of all proposed trees, shrubs and 
hedges; and the location of all existing and proposed grassed and hard surfaced 
areas. Trees and shrubs planted shall comply with BS. 3936 (Specification of 
Nursery Stock) and shall be planted in accordance with BS. 4428 (General 
Landscape Operations). Within a period of 9 months from the date when any part 
of the development is brought into use the approved landscaping scheme shall 
be carried out. All planting shall be maintained and dead or dying material shall 
be replaced for a period of seven years from the agreed date of planting. 

 5. The development shall incorporate the ecological recommendations which are 
included in the Extended Phase 1 Survey and Evaluation received by the Local 
Planning Authority 07.02.16. 

 6. Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems. 
 7. No development shall commence until details of the design, based on sustainable 

drainage principles, and implementation of an appropriate surface water 

Page 753



186 
 

sustainable drainage scheme have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. 

 Those details shall include, as a minimum: 
 a) Information about the lifetime of the development, design storm period and 

intensity (1 in 30 & 1 in 100 year + allowance for climate change see EA advice 
Flood risk assessments: climate change allowances'), discharge rates and 
volumes (both pre and post development), temporary storage facilities, the 
methods employed to delay and control surface water discharged from the site, 
and the measures taken to prevent flooding and pollution of the receiving 
groundwater and/or surface waters, including watercourses, and details of floor 
levels in AOD; 

 b) The drainage strategy should demonstrate that the surface water run-off must 
not exceed the pre-development greenfield runoff rate which has been calculated 
at 5 litres per second. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details before the development is completed. 

 c) Any works required off-site to ensure adequate discharge of surface water 
without causing flooding or pollution (which should include refurbishment of 
existing culverts and headwalls or removal of unused culverts where relevant); 

 d) Flood water exceedance routes, both on and off site; 
 e) A timetable for implementation, including phasing as applicable; 
 f) Evidence of an assessment of the site conditions to include site investigation 

and test results to confirm infiltrations rates; 
 The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior 

to first occupation of any of the approved dwellings, or completion of the 
development, whichever is the sooner. 

 8. No development shall commence until details of an appropriate management and 
maintenance plan for the sustainable drainage system for the lifetime of the 
development have been submitted which, as a minimum, shall include: 

 a) The arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory 
undertaker, management and maintenance by a Residents' Management 
Company 

 b) Arrangements concerning appropriate funding mechanisms for its on-going 
maintenance of all elements of the sustainable drainage system (including 
mechanical components) and will include elements such as: 

 i. on-going inspections relating to performance and asset condition assessments 
 ii. operation costs for regular maintenance, remedial works and irregular 

maintenance caused by less sustainable limited life assets or any other 
arrangements to secure the operation of the surface water drainage scheme 
throughout its lifetime; 

 c) Means of access for maintenance and easements where applicable. 
 The plan shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to 

first occupation of any of the approved dwellings, or completion of the 
development, whichever is the sooner. Thereafter the sustainable drainage 
system shall be managed and maintained in accordance with the approved 
details. 

Page 754



187 
 

 9. The vehicle parking and manoeuvring areas shall be available for use before the 
development is brought into use and shall be kept clear for the parking and 
turning of vehicles.   

10. Cycle parking facilities shall be provided in accordance with a scheme to be 
approved by the Local Planning Authority and the cycling facilities shall be 
provided in accordance with the approved plan, before the use of the premises 
hereby permitted becomes operative and shall be permanently maintained 
thereafter. 

11. Motorbike parking facilities shall be provided in accordance with a scheme to be 
approved by the Local Planning Authority and the motorbike facilities shall be 
provided in accordance with the approved plan, before the use of the premises 
hereby permitted becomes operative and shall be permanently maintained 
thereafter. 

12. Prior to commencement of the use of any fixed externally mounted plant, a 
scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority to demonstrate that the rating level of noise from fixed plant shall not 
exceed 36dB(A) at the boundary of the nearest residential premises between the 
hours of 0700 and 2300 and 30dB(A) between the hours of 2300 and 0700 on 
any day. All measurements and assessments shall be done in accordance with 
BS4142:2014 Methods for rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound. 

13. The rating level of noise from fixed externally mounted plant shall not exceed 
36dB(A) at the boundary of the nearest residential premises between the hours of 
0700 and 2300 and 30dB(A) between the hours of 2300 and 0700 on any day.  
All measurements and assessments shall be done in accordance with 
BS4142:2014 Methods for rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound. 

14. The rating level of noise from internal activities and plant/machinery shall not 
exceed 40dB(A) the boundary of the nearest residential premises between the 
hours of 0700 and 2300 and 30dB(A) between the hours of 2300 and 0700 on 
any day.  All measurements and assessments shall be done in accordance with 
BS4142:2014 Methods for rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound. 

15. Heavy Goods Vehicles shall not leave the site except between the hours of 0700 
and 2100 Mondays to Saturdays and 0800 and 2100 on Sundays and Bank 
Holidays. No more than 4 no Heavy Goods Vehicles shall enter the site between 
the hours of 2100 and 0700 Monday to Saturdays and 2100 and 0800 on 
Sundays and Bank Holidays 

16. There shall be no vehicle/trailer mounted refrigeration or freezer units operated 
on vehicles on the site for more than 10 minutes per vehicle per visit with the 
exception of vehicles which are loading/unloading within the existing bays. 
Vehicle/trailer mounted chiller units running for more than 10 minutes which are 
not in the process of loading/unloading within the loading bays, must be 
connected to an electrical supply to power the refrigeration or freezer unit 

17. Any sound produced by reversing alarms or indicators on vehicles on the site 
(other than delivery vehicles) shall not be clearly distinguishable above 
background noise at the boundary of any nearby residential premises. 

18. The operators of the site shall maintain an up-to-date register of the number of 
HGVs which enter the site during the hours of 2100 and 0700 Monday to 

Page 755



188 
 

Saturdays and 2100 and 0800 Sundays and Bank Holidays and the details of 
each vehicle. This information shall be made available at all reasonable times to 
the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reasons 
 1. Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990. 
 2. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the provisions of 

Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development 
Plan Document. 

  
 3. To ensure that the external appearance of the building(s) is satisfactory and that 

the development therefore complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the 
adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 4. To assimilate the proposed development into its surroundings and to ensure that 
the development complies with the provisions of Policy EN2 in the adopted West 
Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 5. To safeguard a protected species and so ensure that the development complies 
with the provisions of Policy EN2 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 
2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 6. To secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding and pollution. 
 7. To ensure that the proposed development can be adequately drained and to 

ensure that there is no flood risk on or off the site resulting from the proposed 
development. 

 8. To ensure that appropriate and sufficient funding and maintenance mechanisms 
are put in place for the lifetime of the development.  To reduce the flood risk to 
the development as a result of inadequate maintenance. To identify the 
responsible organisation/body/company/undertaker for the sustainable drainage 
system. 

 9. Vehicles reversing to and from the highway are a hazard to other road users. 
10. To allow for the effective use of the parking areas the promotion of sustainable 

forms of transport and aid social inclusion. 
11. To allow for the effective use of the parking areas. 
12. To safeguard the amenity of adjacent properties and the area generally and so 

comply with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local 
Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

13. To safeguard the amenity of adjacent properties and the area generally and so 
comply with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local 
Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

14. To safeguard the amenity of adjacent properties and the area generally and so 
comply with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local 
Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

15. To safeguard the amenity of adjacent properties and the area generally and so 
comply with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local 
Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

Page 756



189 
 

16. To safeguard the amenity of adjacent properties and the area generally and so 
comply with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local 
Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

17. To safeguard the amenity of adjacent properties and the area generally and so 
comply with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local 
Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document.  

18. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the provisions of 
Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development 
Plan Document. 

 
Notes 
 1. For the avoidance of doubt, this planning permission does not grant the applicant 

permission to connect to the ordinary watercourse(s) and, once planning 
permission has been obtained, it does not mean that land drainage consent will 
be given. The applicant should obtain Land Drainage Consent from Lancashire 
County Council before starting any works on site. Information on the application 
process and relevant forms can be found here: 

 http://new.lancashire.gov.uk/roads-parking-and-travel/roads/flooding/alterations-
to-awatercourse. 

 aspx 
 
Reason for Approval 
 1. The Local Planning Authority has considered the proposed development in the 

context of the Development Plan including, in particular, the following 
Policy/Policies in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document: 

  
            SP1 - A Sustainable Development Framework for West Lancashire 
  GN1 - Settlement Boundaries 
  GN3 - Criteria for Sustainable Development 
  IF2 - Enhancing Sustainable Transport Choice 
  IF3 - Service Accessibility and Infrastructure for Growth 
  EC2 - The Rural Economy 
  EN2 - Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire's Natural Environment 
  
 together with Supplementary Planning Guidance and all relevant material 

considerations.  The Local Planning Authority considers that the proposal 
complies with the relevant Policy criteria and is acceptable in the context of all 
relevant material considerations as set out in the Officer's Report. This report can 
be viewed or a copy provided on request to the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 

Page 757





 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
 

27
th

 July 2017 
 
 
 

(Agenda Item 7) 
 
 

PLANNING APPLICATION ITEMS 
 
 

LOCATION PLANS 
 

Page 759



61.0m

Pond

Woodley

Woodville

West View

Beacon View

Brentmead

Newlands

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2017.

´

1:1,400

Report 1 : 2017/0161/FUL
Beacon View, Firswood Road, Lathom, Skelmersdale
WM8 8UT

Site

Text
Firswood Road

Slate Lane

Page 760



Depot

Delph

Mews
1

6

2

ESS

WAY
ORCHID

10

16.5m

16.7m

17.3m

CC

ED & Ward Bdy

Moorings

El Sub Sta

Drain

A 5209

OAK DRIVE

IVY CLO
SE

THE WOODLANDS

The Cottage

12

15

7

4

3

5

28

3

2

1

1

2

2

1

10

4

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2017.

´

1:1,250

Report 2 : 2017/0416/FUL
5 Briars Lane, Burscough, Ormskirk L40 5TQ

Site

Text

Briars Lane

The Woodlands

Ivy Close

Page 761



Court

5

1

8Millstone

Mansion House

3734

62

20

7512

65

72

66

27

15

68

14

22

17

19

18

El
Su

b
Sta

FLOUR MILL CLOSE

AIN
SC

OUGH DRIVE

STAVELEY AVE

HAZELWOOD
AVENUE

GLE
NROYD DRIVE

29a

TH
E G

RE
EN

 LA
NE

Chegworth

Magdalene

Dakota

1 to 4

11

72

38

13

46

36

24
13

8

16

13
2

21

12
11

17

2

1

12

1

20
19

1

8

11

13

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2017.

´

1:1,250

Report 3 : 2017/0475/FUL
2 Millstone Court, Burscough, Ormskirk L40 5ST

Site

Text

Glenroyd Drive

Flour Mill Close

Ainscough Drive

Page 762



© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2017.

´

1:2,500

Report 4 : 2016/0516/FUL
Land To The North Of Meadowbrook, Burscough, L40 7XA

Site

Text

Springfield Close

Liverpool Road South

Square Lane

Page 763



5

2

Car Park

1115

23

12

94

Bath Springs

Scarisbrick House
Norfield

Derby House

Court

The Derby Centre

AB
BO

TS
FO

RD

3

1
31

1 to 10

42

9

47

20

78

64

51

82 84

14
13

22

29

57

58

80

32

61

41

52

45.4m
45.1m

12

2

Car Park

11
1 to 10

51

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2017.

´

1:1,250

Report 5 : 2017/0403/WL3
10 Bath Springs Court, Ormskirk L39 2YG

Site

Derby Street

Bath Springs

Page 764



© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2017.

´

1:5,000

Report 6 : 2017/0457/COU
Brookfields, Charity Lane, Westhead, Ormskirk
L40 6LG

Site

Text

School Lane

Whiteleys Lane

Page 765



FB

Fine Jane's
Farm

Drain

Hoppers

TCB
4.9m

Hopper

Track

El Sub Sta

DA
ISY

 W
AY

Brookside
Moss View

11

56

1

6

15

36
a

36

34
a

2

38

32a

Hoppers

FB

Hoppers

Hoppers

Dr
ain

Hopper

Hopper

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2017.

´

1:1,400

Report 7 : 2016/0126/FUL
Fine Janes Farm, Moss Road, Halsall, Southport
PR8 4JG

Site

Moss Road
Daisy Way

Page 766



156

98a

156a

Blithe House

REDGATE

COTTAGE MEWS

11

118

114

60

77
92

146

104

39

165

177

132

153

56

189

96
a

139

85

96

94
46

1

5

4
2

60

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2017.

´

1:1,250

Report 8 : 2017/0493/FUL
132 Redgate, Ormskirk L39 3NY

Site

Text

Redgate

Beechwood Drive

Page 767



SM

Ca
stl

eh
ey

CLAY BROW ROAD

113
119

24

20

12

13

142

1

140

97

121

3353
10

9

10
8

171

164

94
80

87

85 71

95

55

1715

69

16
2

15
4

152

147

122

68

66

60
58

124132

48

46

43 35

34

134

31

78

145

21

137
139

2
14

22

El 
Su

b S
ta

Castlehey

17

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2017.

´

1:1,400

Report 9 : 2016/1023/FUL
Former Sutches Farm, Castlehey, Skelmersdale WN8 9DU

Site

Text

Castlehey

Clay Brow Road

Page 768



© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2017.

´

1:5,000

Report 10 : 2017/0350/FUL
Red Apple Nursery, Cobbs Brow Lane, Newburgh, Wigan
WN8 7SF

Site

Text

Cobbs Brow Lane

Tears Lane

Page 769



CR

Tra
ck

29.3m

Und

Barrison Green Cottage

51 53

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2017.

´

1:1,400

Report 11 : 2017/0358/FUL
Winrows Farm, Barrison Green, Scarisbrick, Ormskirk
L40 8HX

Site

Text

Barrison Green Pippin Street

Page 770



Asmall House Farm

27.4m
Drain

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2017.

´

1:1,400

Report 12 : 2017/0395/FUL
Land to the North of Asmall Lane, Scarisbrick, L40 8JL

Site

Text

Asmall Lane

Page 771



© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2017.

´

1:5,000

Report 13 : 2017/0491/FUL
104 Moorfield Lane, Scarisbrick, Ormskirk L40 8JE

Site

Text

Moorfield Lane

Moorfield Lane

Page 772



© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2017.

´

1:5,000

Report 14 : 2017/0018/FUL
Len Wrights Salads Ltd, Hazeldene, Taylors Meanygate, Tarleton
PR4 6XB

Site

Text

Taylors Meanygate

Middle Meanygate

Boundary Meanygate

Page 773





1 

 

 
 
 

 

AGENDA ITEM: 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE: 
27th JULY 2017 

 

 
Report of:  Director of Development and Regeneration 
 
Contact: Mrs. C. Thomas (Extn.5134) 
Email: catherine.thomas@westlancs.gov.uk 
 

 
SUBJECT: LATE INFORMATION 
 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 

The information below has been received since compilation of your Agenda.  The 
following also includes suggested adjustments to the recommendations further to 
the receipt of late plans and/or information. 

 
2.0 ITEM 7 – PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

 
 
REPORT NO. 2 – 5 BRIARS LANE, BURSCOUGH 
 
There is an error in Condition no.18 on the agenda report which refers to 
Firswood Road rather than Briars Lane. The condition is amended to read as 
follows: 
 
No part of the development shall be commenced until the visibility splays 
measuring 2.4 metres by 43 metres are provided, measured along the centre line 
of the proposed new road from the continuation of the nearer edge of the existing 
carriageway of Briars Lane, to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. 
The land within these splays shall be maintained thereafter, free from 
obstructions such as walls, fences, trees, hedges, shrubs, ground growth or other 
structures within the splays in excess of 1.0 metre in height above the height at 
the centre line of the adjacent carriageway. 
 
The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer has considered a remediation strategy 
for the land and confirmed that it is acceptable.  To reflect this, condition 10 
should be amended to read: 
 
The submitted remediation scheme (Remediation & Enabling Works Strategy, 
EP3 Report: 11-123- R1) received by the Local Planning Authority 29.06.17, shall 
be implemented as part of the development of the site and shall be followed by a 

Page 775



2 

 

completion report containing appropriate validation certification, also to be 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Additional letters of representation have been received from Lathom Motorcraft, 
Engine Repair Services and a local resident.  The main grounds of objection are: 
 
Initial consultation letters were not received; 
An upgrade of the existing substation may effect business and access; 
Removal of trees may affect structural stability of buildings; 
Adding further traffic to Briars Lane could pose a risk to pedestrians; 
Local schools may not have enough spaces; 
There is not much provision made for affordable housing;  
The Transport Statement lists The Junction Public House and Co-op Shop as a 
local amenity; these have not been in use for some time. Buses no longer 
operate hourly along Briars Lane; 
The water main runs alongside the access to the business premises;   
There may be an increase in flooding; 
The integral garage belonging to the Eynsham house type would not provide the 
3 parking spaces required due to the garage being too small. 
 
OBSERVATIONS OF DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 
Consultation letters were sent to both Lathom Motorcraft and Engine Repair 
Services.   
 
Many of the issues raised have been covered in the Planning Committee report, 
including those relating to drainage/flood risk and affordable housing.   
 
All matters relating to potential highway implications have been fully discussed in 
the Planning Committee report and I am of the opinion that the use of the site for 
residential purposes would not lead to an undue impact on highway safety or the 
safety of pedestrians.  I am also of the opinion that following construction, use of 
the site for residential purposes, rather than an employment use would lead to a 
reduction in the number of HGVs using Briars Lane.  The Transport Statement 
appears to include some inaccuracies in respect of local amenities, however, 
regardless of this I still consider that the site is located within a sustainable 
location within the settlement area.   
 
In relation to garage sizes, I can confirm that the Downham house type will no 
longer be provided in this development and has been replaced by the Evesham 
and the integral garage belonging to this house type meets the recommended 
standards.  There are to be 8no. Eynsham dwellings on the estate and it is 
acknowledged that the integral garages belonging to these are not of the required 
standard, measuring approx. 5.0 x 2.5 m. For this reason each of these dwellings 
would benefit from a shed in the rear garden to provide additional domestic 
storage. I am satisfied that car parking provision on the site is adequate and will 
not lead to conditions that would be detrimental to highway safety of the free flow 
of traffic in the vicinity of the site.  
 

Page 776



3 

 

REPORT NO. 4 – LAND TO THE NORTH OF MEADOWBROOK, 
BURSCOUGH 
 
Following the receipt of revised plans and information subsequent to the 
compilation of the agenda report, it is proposed to reword/amend some of the 
conditions as follows:  
 
Amend Condition 2: 
 
Replace the last Plan reference: NW002-WD-4000 with Plan reference G02-HOG 
(double garage/sales office) received by the Local Planning Authority on 18th 
July 2017 
 
Amend Condition 3 to read: 
 
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved material 
details specified on Plan Reference NW026-SL-007B received by the Local 
Planning Authority on 5th July 2017 unless otherwise approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
Amend Condition 4 to read: 
 
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved fencing details 
specified on Plan Reference NW026-SL-004B received by the Local Planning 
Authority on 18th July 2017 and the information submitted for "Green Screens" 
received by the Local Planning Authority on 9th August 2016 unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Amend Condition 17 to read: 
 
Prior to construction of any dwelling a scheme for the provision of electric vehicle 
charging points throughout the development and timetable for implementation 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The development shall proceed in accordance with the agreed details.  
 
Amend Condition 20 to read: 
 
This site must be drained using a total separate drainage system. For the 
avoidance of doubt, no surface water flows generated from the site will be 
allowed to connect with the public sewerage system via direct and or indirect 
means.  
 
 
REPORT NO. 8 – 132 REDGATE, ORMSKIRK 
 
The Council has received two additional letters of objection.  The information in 
the letters is covered by the report except for the following: 
 
Work converting the property to a HMO has started; 
Date of committee meeting during holiday period is inconvenient. Request 
deferral until September. 
 

Page 777



4 

 

The applicant has submitted further supporting information which is available to 
view on the Council’s web site. The applicant advises that works currently being 
undertaken at the property are refurbishment works not requiring planning 
permission. Additional information can be summarised as follows: 
 
Redgate is below the thresholds for HMO conversions in Policy RS3 and the 
development will not impact negatively on the character of the area; 
Evidence shows no cases of student antisocial behaviour in the last 5 years from 
Redgate’s established HMO. There is no evidence that this development would 
result in anti-social behaviour; 
Demand for HMO's will increase due to demographics and provide 
accommodation to people other than students; 
The proposed development will not impact negatively on highway conditions in 
the area; 
This application should be judged on its own merits and should not be directly 
compared to other HMO applications as no two sets of circumstances are the 
same.  
 
 
REPORT NO. 10 – RED APPLE NURSERY, COBBS BROW LANE 
 
Consultation Responses  
 
Natural England (24.07.17) – No Objection 
 
 
REPORT NO. 12 – LAND TO NORTH OF ASMALL LANE, SCARISBRICK 
 
I have received a further letter submitted by the agent for the application which is 
summarised as follows: 
 
The agent considers that the officer’s recommendation to Committee does not 
allow Committee Members to reach a sound decision. 
 
The grounds for refusal are based on amenity issues for local residents following 
advice from Environmental Health. EH have not provided evidence that the 
proposed variations would result in an unacceptable impact on the amenity of 
local residents. There have been no recent noise assessments carried out to 
confirm or dismiss the concerns of local residents or Environmental Health 
officers.  
 
The agent considers that in order to advise Planning Committee, the concerns 
raised by Environmental Health must be supported by factual evidence.   
 
The agent requests that the application be withdrawn from this agenda and the 
Council carry out noise monitoring assessments. The agent indicates that the 
applicant cannot instruct noise monitoring to be carried out as they do not have 
permission to access the objectors’ properties. 
 
The agent expresses the opinion that the Committee report does not mention the 
relevant tests for planning conditions and has therefore failed to advise Members 
of the Committee effectively.  
 

Page 778



5 

 

The agent indicates that the agricultural activity on the site is unrestricted and 
would have more noise issues to sensitive receptors than activities covered by 
the relevant conditions. There are other conditions that seek to limit noise, for 
example requiring delivery and collection vehicles to be switched off when 
stationary and restricting the noise emitted from fork lift trucks. Therefore the 
agent argues that there will be little noise resulting from the varied conditions 
which is not controlled by existing conditions.  
 
The agent indicates that the agenda report is unbalanced because the neighbour 
concerns are summarised but the supporting information submitted by the 
applicant has not been treated in the same way. 
 
Environmental Health (24/07.17) 
 
Further observations from the Council’s Environmental Health Officer have been 
received and are summarised as follows: 
 
In respect of the original application for the site a large number of EHO visits 
were made and an independent noise assessment was carried out. The noise 
from the site was considered to cause concern and therefore mitigation was 
required in the form of conditions.  
 
The most important mitigation for the site noise were the conditions which 
restricted the site’s operating activities in terms of hours of opening, hours that 
HGVs can arrive to site, hours that loading / unloading can take place and 
numbers of HGVs arriving at site. These particular conditions formed an essential 
part of the mitigation measures because engine noise from HGVs arriving and 
manoeuvring and loading / unloading practices are activities where the noise is 
difficult to control or prevent at source.  
 
The original conditions restricting operating hours and numbers of HGVs to site 
were necessary to make an otherwise unacceptable development acceptable and 
to provide the nearby residents with some respite from the noisy activities on the 
site. As previously stated without these conditions this department would have 
raised an objection to the original application. 
 
Recent visits confirmed that noise from the site remains audible and this included 
HGV engine noise, bangs and crashes and fork lift truck noise. It is clear that any 
increase in capacity in terms of HGVs coming to site is likely to increase this 
noise and any extension to operating days and hours will do the same. 
 
It is not the norm for this department to carry out noise assessments for planning 
applications and nor do we believe that further noise assessments would be of 
benefit or alter our comments. EHO comments are based on professional 
experience and officers are satisfied that there is sufficient factual information 
available to make a sound judgement.  
 
An objection to the application is therefore maintained. 
 

Page 779



6 

 

OBSERVATIONS OF DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 
The EHO is of the opinion that there is sufficient information available on which to 
base an objection to this application. Whilst the agent’s views are noted I 
consider that the agenda is clear and seeks to balance the business case put 
forward by the applicant (summarised in paragraph 6.6- 6.7 of the report) against 
the impact of the proposal on the amenities of nearby residents. On balance I 
maintain the view that proposal would result in a loss of amenity to neighbouring 
properties to an extent that would warrant a refusal of planning permission.  
 
 
REPORT NO. 13 – 104 MOORFIELD LANE, SCARISBRICK 
 
Consultee Responses 
 
Parish Council (06/06/17) - No objection 
 
OBSERVATIONS OF DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 
Following the Planning Committee site visit, the Council has now received 
revised drawings showing the outbuilding placed 4 metres from the existing 
dwelling and reducing the level of hardstanding. Re- notifications have been 
carried out in relation to the revised plans. On the basis of the revisions 
Councillor Marshall has withdrawn his call- in and is satisfied that a delegated 
decision can be made on the application.  
 
Therefore the application has been withdrawn from this agenda. 

Page 780



1 

 

 
 
 

 

AGENDA ITEM: 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE: 
27th JULY 2017 

 

 
Report of:  Director of Development and Regeneration 
 
Contact: Mrs. C. Thomas (Extn.5134) 
Email: catherine.thomas@westlancs.gov.uk 
 

 
SUBJECT: ADDITIONAL LATE INFORMATION  
 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 

The information below has been received since compilation of your Agenda.  The 
following also includes suggested adjustments to the recommendations further to 
the receipt of late plans and/or information. 

 
2.0 ITEM 7 – PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

 
 
REPORT NO. 4 – LAND TO THE NORTH OF MEADOWBROOK, 
BURSCOUGH 
 
I am aware that Members have received correspondence direct from NRE 
Surveyors on behalf of Crompton Property Developments Ltd who own adjoining 
land at Yew Tree Farm. The concerns raised in their original objection have been 
included within the Committee Report.  However, their latest correspondence 
raises concerns about the proposed planning obligation that will secure the 
release of land to carry out junction improvements at Square Lane. 
 
For clarification on this point, I would advise that the land required to widen the 
Square Lane junction (and in the ownership of the applicant) would be required to 
be transferred to the Council (along with the payment of the £50,000) prior to 
occupation of the first dwelling on the Meadowbrook site.  This would be secured 
via the S106 Agreement and would mean that the Council will hold the land and 
funds to enable the junction improvement works to be implemented when 
required by the highway authority. 

Page 781



2 

 

 
REPORT NO. 12 – LAND TO NORTH OF ASMALL LANE, SCARISBRICK 
 
Further correspondence has been received from the Planning Agent expressing 
concern about the evidence base that the Council’s Environmental Health Officer 
has used to assess the application.   
 
The Agent has also raised the following points: 
 
The only additional noise will be when vehicles leave the public highway and 
travel up the road and park up ready to be loaded or unloaded.  This will take 2 
minutes (approx.).  Once packed up, vehicles engines are switched off (condition 
9) and the any refrigeration units on stationary vehicles are plugged in to the 
mains (condition 8).  The noise of the forklift loading or unloading the silent and 
stationary vehicle is limited by condition 10 as recommended by EHO.  Once 
loaded or unloaded the vehicles exit the site onto the public highway.  The 
amount of time the vehicle takes to enter and leave the site when sound is 
produced is approx. 4-5 mins; 
 
We are seeking an increase in daily vehicle numbers from 5 to 15.  Therefore, on 
average the additional noise from sources not already controlled by an existing 
condition will be 20-25 minutes; 
 
Agricultural activities are unrestricted on site so regardless of the conditions 
limiting delivery, collection and packaging activities the site will never be silent but 
the applicant tries to limit the agricultural activity to reduce the effect on sensitive 
receptors; 
 
There is still respite for the sensitive receptors.  No activities (save for agriculture) 
can take place beyond 1pm on Saturday, Sunday or any bank holidays.  During 
Monday-Friday, the site cannot operate after 6pm (save agricultural activities). 
 
 

Page 782


	Agenda
	4 Declarations of Interest
	6 Minutes
	7 Planning Applications
	Cttee Report Plans 27-07-2017
	Cover Sheet
	01-2017_0161_FUL
	02-2017_0416_FUL
	03-2017_0475_FUL
	04-2016_0516_FUL
	05-2017_0403_WL3
	06-2017_0457_COU
	07-2016_0126_FUL
	08-2017_0493_FUL
	09-2016_1023_FUL
	10-2017_0350_FUL
	11-2017_0358_FUL
	12-2017_0395_FUL
	13-2017_0491_FUL
	14-2017_0018_FUL

	LATEINFORMATIONJULY2017
	ADDITIONALLATEINFORMATIONJULY2017


